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I ntroduction

National security cases often pose unusual and challenging case-management is-
sues for the courts. Evidence or arguments may be classified; witnesses or the jury
may require special security measures; attorneys’ contacts with their clients may
be diminished; other challenges may present themselves.

The purpose of this Federal Judicial Center resource is to assemble methods
federal judges have employed to meet these challenges so that judges facing the
challenges can learn from their colleagues’ experiences.

These case studies include background factual information about a selection
of national security cases as well as descriptions of the judges’ challenges and so-
lutions. The information presented is based on a review of case files and news
media accounts and on interviews with the judges.

Classified Information Security Officers. Crucial in courts’ handling of classi-
fied information are classified information security officers, who are detailed to
the courts by the Department of Justice’s Litigation Security Group. Until January
15, 2011, they were known as “court security officers,” which was confusing be-
cause that term is used for persons who provide courthouses with physical securi-
ty.

Hyperlinks. An Acrobat copy of this document posted within the judiciary at
FJC Online includes hyperlinks among the footnotes. Embedded in citations to
published opinions are hyperlinks to their Westlaw postings. Citations to unpub-
lished orders and opinions often include hyperlinks to copies of the documents
available at FJC Online. Embedded in citations to other court documents are
hyperlinks to the relevant court’s PACER site.

Other Publications. The lessons learned from these case studies are summa-
rized in National Security Case Management: An Annotated Guide, also available
from the Federal Judicial Center.
This publication supersedes the following:
« TerrorismRelated Cases. Special Case-Management Challenges: Case
Sudies (September 20, 2007)

« TerrorismRelated Cases. Special Case-Management Challenges. Case
Sudies (March 26, 2008)

« National Security Case Studies. Special Case-Management Challenges
(February 22, 2010)

National Security Case Management Sudies (11/14/2011) 1



First World Trade Center Bombing

United Sates v. Salameh (Kevin Thomas
Duffy, SD.N.Y.) and United States v. Abdel
Rahman (Michael B. Mukasey, SD.N.Y.)

On Friday, February 26, 1993, a bomb exploded in the parking garage of the
World Trade Center in Manhattan, killing six people and injuring more than one
thousand.

The Bombing of the World Trade Center

On April 24, 1992, Ahmad Mohammad Aja moved from Houston, Texas, to Pa-
kistan, where he attended a terrorist training camp called “Camp Khaldan” on the
border between Afghanistan and Pakistan.? He learned how to make bombs, and
he met Ramzi Ahmed Y ousef.®> On September 1, 1992, Ajaj and Yousef entered
the United States using false identities.* Ajaj’s passport was discovered to be a
forgery.” He was indicted in the Eastern District of New York, where John F.
Kennedy International Airport is located, and imprisoned for six months on a
guilty plea® Yousef was stopped for traveling on an Iragi passport without a visa
but released on his own recognizance because the detention center was full.’

In the United States, Yousef assembled a conspiracy of terrorists.® With the
assistance of Mahmoud Abouhalima, Y ousef and Mohammad A. Salameh rented
in Jersey City, New Jersey, an apartment and a storage unit, where they made and

1. The 9/11 Commission Report 280 (2004); id. at 71 (“The ensuing explosion opened a hole
seven stories up.”); United States v. Yousef, 327 F.3d 56, 79 (2d Cir. 2003); United Statesv. Sa-
lameh, 152 F.3d 88, 107-08 (2d Cir. 1998); United States v. Salameh, 54 F. Supp. 2d 236, 245
(S.D.N.Y. 1999); United States v. El-Gabrowny, 876 F. Supp. 495, 496 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); United
States v. Salameh, 856 F. Supp. 781, 782 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); United States v. El-Gabrowny, 825 F.
Supp. 38, 39-40 (S.D.N.Y. 1993); see Ralph Blumenthal, Accounts Reconstruct Planning of Trade
Center Explosion, N.Y. Times, May 26, 1993, at B1; Robert D. McFadden, Blast Hits Trade Cen-
ter, Bomb Suspected, N.Y. Times, Feb. 27, 1993, at 11; Christopher S. Wren, U.S. Jury Convicts 3
in a Conspiracy to Bomb Airliners, N.Y. Times, Sept. 6, 1996, at 1.

2. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 78; Salameh, 152 F.3d at 107; Salameh, 54 F. Supp. 2d at 246, 290.

3. The 9/11 Commission Report 73 (2004); Yousef, 327 F.3d at 78; Salameh, 152 F.3d at 107.

4. The 9/11 Commission Report 72 (2004); Yousef, 327 F.3d at 78, 135; Salameh, 152 F.3d at
107; Salameh, 54 F. Supp. 2d at 246, 291; see Blumenthal, supra note 1; Mary B.W. Tabor, Man
Held in Bombing but Is Not Charged, Lawyer Says, N.Y. Times, May 6, 1993, at B3; Wren, supra
note 1.

5. Salameh, 152 F.3d at 107; Salameh, 54 F. Supp. 2d at 246, 294; see Blumenthal, supra
note 1.

6. Salameh, 152 F.3d at 107, 109, 118-20 (noting an Oct. 6, 1992, guilty plea); Salameh, 54 F.
Supp. 2d at 246, 294; Docket Sheet, United States v. Ajaj, No. 1:92-cr-993 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 14,
1992) (noting judgment on Jan. 13, 1993); see Blumenthal, supra note 1; Tabor, supra note 4.

7. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 78 n.2; Salameh, 152 F.3d at 107; see Richard Bernstein, Inspector Tes-
tifies She Urged No Asylum for Blast Suspect, N.Y. Times, Nov. 16, 1993, at B3; Blumenthal,
supra note 1.

8. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 78; Salameh, 152 F.3d at 107; Salameh, 54 F. Supp. 2d at 246.
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stored explosive materials.” Nidal Ayyad, a chemical engineer, acquired the ex-
plosives.®®

On February 23, 1993, Salameh rented a Ryder van, which the conspirators
loaded with explosive materials.** Three days later, Yousef and Eyad Ismoil
drove the van to the World Trade Center, where they exploded the bomb by timer
at 12:18 p.m.*2

Ayyad anonymously contacted the New York Daily News by telephone and
the New York Times by mail to take responsibility for the bomb as retaliation for
the United States’ support of Israel.™® His DNA was found on the New York
Ti rlrjl&s envelope, and a draft of the letter to the Times was found on his comput-
er.

Investigators discovered the van’s vehicle identification number in the bomb’s
debris.®> Salameh was arrested when he returned to the Ryder rental office on
March 4 to recover a $400 rental deposit on the destroyed van, which he had re-
ported stolen.*®

9. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 78; Salameh, 152 F.3d at 107-08; Salameh, 54 F. Supp. 2d at 246-47;
see Richard Bernstein, 4 Are Convicted in Bombing at the World Trade Center That Killed 6,
Sunned U.S, N.Y. Times, Mar. 5, 1994, at 11; Blumenthal, supra note 1; Robert D. McFadden,
Agents Sep Up Search for Bombing Suspect s Links, N.Y. Times, Mar. 6, 1993, at 11; Alison Mit-
chell, Chemical Engineer Is Held in the Trade Center Blast, N.Y. Times, Mar. 11, 1993, at A1
[hereinafter Engineer Held]; Alison Mitchell, U.S. Widens Charges in Trade Center Bombing,
N.Y. Times, May 27, 1993, at B4 [hereinafter U.S. Widens Charges].

10. The 9/11 Commission Report 72 (2004); Salameh, 152 F.3d at 107-08; Salameh, 54 F.
Supp. 2d at 247; see Bernstein, supra note 9; Mitchell, Engineer Held, supra note 9.

11. Salameh, 152 F.3d at 108; Salameh, 54 F. Supp. 2d at 246-47; United States v. El-
Gabrowny, 876 F. Supp. 495, 497 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); United States v. El-Gabrowny, 825 F. Supp.
38, 40 (S.D.N.Y. 1993); see Blumenthal, supra note 1; Ralph Blumenthal, Insistence on Refund
for a Truck Resultsin an Arrest in Explosion, N.Y. Times, Mar. 5, 1993, at A1 [hereinafter Insis-
tence on Refund]; Robert D. McFadden, Jersey City Man Is Charged in Bombing of Trade Center
After Rented Van Is Traced, N.Y. Times, Mar. 5, 1993, at Al.

12. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 79, 135; Salameh, 152 F.3d at 108; see Bernstein, supra note 9; Blu-
menthal, supra note 1; Wren, supra note 1; see also Benjamin Weiser, Man Accused of Delivering
a Bomb Said He Believed It Was Soap, N.Y. Times, Oct. 16, 1997, at B3 (reporting testimony that
Ismoil thought the van carried soap).

13. Salameh, 152 F.3d at 108; Salameh, 54 F. Supp. 2d at 247; see Bernstein, supra note 9; Ri-
chard Bernstein, Telephone Threat After Blast Is Played at World Trade Center Bombing Trial,
N.Y. Times, Dec. 10, 1993, at B3; Blumenthal, supra note 1; Alison Mitchell, Letter Explained
Motive in Bombing, Officials Now Say, N.Y. Times, Mar. 28, 1993, at 11.

14. Salameh, 152 F.3d at 129; Salameh, 54 F. Supp. 2d at 247; see Blumenthal, supra note 1,
Mary B.W. Tabor, Questions Linger in Explosion Case, N.Y. Times, Sept. 14, 1993, at B1.

15. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 79, 135; El-Gabrowny, 876 F. Supp. at 497; El-Gabrowny, 825 F.
Supp. at 40; see Blumenthal, supra note 1; Blumenthal, Insistence on Refund, supra note 11;
M cFadden, supra note 11.

16. The 9/11 Commission Report 72 (2004); Yousef, 327 F.3d at 79, 135; Salameh, 152 F.3d at
108; Salameh, 54 F. Supp. 2d at 247; see Bernstein, supra note 9; Blumenthal, supra note 1; Blu-
menthal, Insistence on Refund, supra note 11; McFadden, supra note 9; McFadden, supra note 11.

It was reported that Salameh had also returned to the rental office the day after the rental to re-
place a missing rearview mirror, creating a “mystery of why someone who intended to use a
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Abouhalima fled to Egypt after the explosion, and he was arrested by Egyp-
tianlgauthorities on March 13.*" He was returned to the United States on March
25.

Y ousef and Abdul Rahman Y asin, another conspirator, also fled the country.™®
It was not until February 7, 1995, that Y ousef was captured in Pakistan.”® Ismoil
was apprehended in Jordan on July 30, 1995.% Yasin, who was questioned but
released by the FBI after the bombing, remains a fugitive.?

Ajaj was released from his six-month sentence on March 1, 1993.2 On March
9, he was rearrested on an immigration detainer.*

Salameh and Ayyad were indicted in the Southern District of New York on
March 17, 1993.% The district court assigned the case to Judge Kevin Thomas
Duffy.?® On March 31, a superseding indictment added Abouhalima and Y ousef

rented van for a bombing would let himself be seen repeatedly by witnesses.” McFadden, supra
note 9.

17. Salameh, 54 F. Supp. 2d at 247, 269-70; see Alison Mitchell, Bombing Suspect Flown to
U.S After 10 Daysin Egypt’s Custody, N.Y. Times, Mar. 25, 1993, at A1

18. See Mitchell, supra note 17.

19. The 9/11 Commission Report 72 (2004); Salameh, 152 F.3d at 108, 135; see Tabor, supra
note 14 (reporting the government’s offering $2 million rewards each for Yousef and Yasin);
Wren, supra note 1.

20. Salameh, 152 F.3d at 108 n.2, 135; United States v. Yousef, 925 F. Supp. 1063, 1065
(S.D.N.Y. 1996); see David Johnston, Fugitive in Trade Center Blast Is Caught and Returned to
U.S, N.Y. Times, Feb. 9, 1995, at 1; James C. McKinley, Jr., Suspected Bombing Leader Indicted
on Broader Charges, N.Y. Times, Apr. 14, 1995, at 3; Wren, supra note 1 (reporting that, “Until
his arrest in Pakistan in 1995, the United States considered him the most wanted fugitive alive,
with a$2 million reward for his capture.”).

21. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 79, 135; United States v. Y ousef, No. 1:93-cr-180, 1999 WL 714103,
at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 13, 1999); see Docket Sheet, United States v. Salameh, No. 1:93-cr-180
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 17, 1993) [hereinafter S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet] (noting the filing on Aug.
3, 1995, of a seventh superseding indictment against Yousef, Yasin, and Ismoil); see also James
C. McKinley, Jr., Suspect Is Said to Be Longtime Friend of Bombing Mastermind, N.Y. Times,
Aug. 4, 1995, at 1.

22. Salameh, 152 F.3d at 108 n.2; Salameh, 54 F. Supp. 2d at 254; see Alison Mitchell, U.S.
Informer Is New Suspect in Bomb Plot, N.Y. Times, Aug. 5, 1993, at B1; Robert F. Worth, Second
Attack on Iraq Prisonin 48 Hours Wounds 5 Iraqis, N.Y. Times, Apr. 5, 2005, at A9.

Although a fugitive with a $25 million reward offered for his capture, he was interviewed by
Ledey Stahl for CBS News’ 60 Minutes on May 23, 2002. See Tina Kelley, Suspect in 1993
Bombing Says Trade Center Wasn't First Target, N.Y. Times, June 1, 2002, at A10 (reporting that
Yasin originaly wanted to blow up Jewish neighborhoods in Brooklyn, but Yousef thought de-
stroying the World Trade Center would be more effective).

23. Salameh, 152 F.3d at 108; see Tabor, supra note 4.

24, Salameh, 152 F.3d at 108; see Tabor, supra note 4.

25. SD.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21; see Ralph Blumenthal, Suspect in Blast
Believed to Be in Pakistan, N.Y. Times, Mar. 18, 1993, at B4; see also Mitchell, Engineer Held,
supra note 9 (reporting on Ayyad’s Mar. 10, 1993, arrest).

26. S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21; see Mary B.W. Tabor, As Trial Is St in
Explosion, Hunt Widens, N.Y. Times, Apr. 2, 1993, at B1.

Tim Reagan interviewed Meghan Silhan, Judge Duffy’s law clerk, by telephone on July 23,
2007.
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as defendants.?” The next day, the court ordered the parties and their attorneys not
to discuss publicly anything related to the case.?® The court of appeals vacated this
gag order as overbroad on April 30.%°

Bilal Alkaisi turned himself in on March 24, 1993,* and a second superseding
indictment added him as a defendant on April 7.3! Because evidence against him
was weaker than evidence against the others, his prosecution was severed.® On
May 9, 1994, he pleaded guilty to an immigration violation and agreed to be de-
ported.* Judge Duffy sentenced him on July 13 to one year and eight months in
prison, which was four months more than the time already served.®

A third superseding indictment added Ajaj as a defendant on May 26, 1993.%
A fourth superseding indictment added the fugitive Yasin as a defendant on Au-
gust 4. Salameh, Ayyad, Abouhalima, Ajaj, Yousef, and Yasin were named as
defendants in a fifth superseding indictment filed on September 1.%’

Jury selection in the trial against Salameh, Ayyad, Abouhalima, and Ajg be-
gan on September 14.% The court issued 5,000 extra jury summonses to assemble

The Southern District of New York’s 2006 Milton Pollack Fellow, Philip J. Gross, also pre-
pared a report on challenges to the district’s judges in terrorism cases. Philip J. Gross, Guide to
High Security & Terrorism Cases (2006).

27. United Statesv. Y ousef, 327 F.3d 56, 135 (2d Cir. 2003); S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Shest,
supra note 21; see Ralph Blumenthal, Missing Suspect Charged in Trade Center Bombing, N.Y.
Times, Apr. 1, 1993, at B3.

28. United States v. Salameh, 992 F. 2d 445, 446 (2d Cir. 1993); see Tabor, supra note 26.

29. Salameh, 992 F. 2d 445; see United States v. Salameh, No. 1:93-cr-180, 1993 WL 364486,
at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 15, 1993); see David Margolick, Ban on Press Statements in Trade Center
Bombing Case Is Overturned, N.Y. Times, May 1, 1993, at 127.

30. See Blumenthal, supra note 1; Mitchell, supra note 17.

31. SD.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21.

32. See Bernstein, supra note 9; Mitchell, supra note 22; Tabor, supra note 14; Mary B.W.
Tabor, Trade Center Defendant Agrees to a Plea Bargain, N.Y. Times, May 10, 1994, at B3
[hereinafter Plea Bargain].

A sixth superseding information against Alkaisi was filed on May 9, 1994. S.D.N.Y. Salameh
Docket Sheet, supra note 21.

33. SD.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21; see Tabor, Plea Bargain, supra note 32.

34. SD.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21; see Ronald Sullivan, Bombing Figure
Gets 20 Months for an Immigration Violation, N.Y. Times, July 14, 1994.

054).

35. S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21; see Mitchell, U.S. Widens Charges, supra
note 9.

36. S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21; see Mitchell, supra note 22.

37. United States v. Salameh, 152 F.3d 88, 108 (2d Cir. 1998); S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket
Sheset, supra note 21.

38. SD.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21; see Ralph Blumenthal, Jury Selection
Sartsin World Trade Center Case, N.Y. Times, Sept. 15, 1993, at B1; Tabor, supra note 14.

Judge Duffy does not use jury questionnaires. United States v. Salameh, No. 1:93-cr-180, 1993
WL 364486, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 15, 1993) (“There has been . . . absolutely no showing that jury
guestionnaires are of any particular help in the selection of ajury in highly publicized cases where
asearching voir dire is conducted.”); see Gross, supra note 26, at 23-24.
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ajury pool for the case.* Opening arguments began on October 5.*° The jury be-
gan its deliberations on February 23, 1994, and convicted the defendants on
March 4.**

Between conviction and sentencing, the defendants dismissed their attor-
neys.*? Salameh, Abouhalima, and Ajaj sought to hire as sentencing attorneys the
law firm representing other defendants in a related trial, which is described be-
low.* Judge Duffy ruled that this would present an unacceptable conflict,** so the
four defendants appeared at sentencing pro se.®®

On May 24, 1994, the court sentenced each of the four defendants to 240
years in prison.”® Judge Duffy arrived at 240 years by computing the remaining
life expectancies of the six killed victims, which summed to 180 years, and add-
ing 60 years, which is the mandatory sentence for two counts of assault on a fed-
eral officer.’

On August 4, 1998, the court of appeals affirmed the convictions, but re-
manded for resentencing, holding that the defendants did not effectively waive
their rights to counsel at sentencing.*® Judge Duffy resentenced the defendants in
October 1999 to prison terms ranging from 108 years and four months to 117
years and one month.*® The terms varied according to the defendants’ ages, be-
cause for some of the counts, Judge Duffy used a sentencing method recently ap-
proved by the court of appeals of imposing a sentence of one month less than a
defendant’s life expectancy if the sentencing guidelines suggested a life term, but
at the time of the crime the guidelines specified that life terms would be decided

39. See Blumenthal, supra note 38; Mary B.W. Tabor, Jury Pool to Be Expanded by 5,000 for
Trade Center Trial, N.Y. Times, Sept. 3, 1993, at B1.

40. See Richard Bernstein, Hints of Confrontation in Opening Statements, N.Y. Times, Oct. 5,
1993, at B4.

41. Salameh, 152 F.3d at 108, 135; United States v. Salameh, 856 F. Supp. 781, 782 (S.D.N.Y.
1994); S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21; see Bernstein, supra note 9; Richard
Bernstein, Jurors Begin Deliberations in Blast Case, N.Y. Times, Feb. 24, 1994, at B1; Wren,
supra note 1.

42. Salameh, 152 F.3d at 161; Salameh, 856 F. Supp. at 782; see Richard Bernstein, 4 Defen-
dants Ask Lawyers Be Changed, N.Y. Times, Apr. 27, 1994, at B2.

43. Salameh, 856 F. Supp. at 782 (noting a desire to hire William Kunstler and Ronald Kuby,
who were counsel for Siddig Ibrahim Siddig Ali and Ibrahim el-Gabrowny in arelated prosecution
before Judge Mukasey); see United States v. Rahman, 861 F. Supp. 266, 272 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); see
also Bernstein, supra note 42; Gross, supra note 26, at 10.

44, Salameh, 856 F. Supp. 781; see Gross, supra note 26, at 10. The court of appeals denied
the defendants’ petition for a writ of mandamus. Docket Shest, In re Abouhalima, No. 94-3038
(2d Cir. Apr. 21, 1994) (noting denial of the writ on May 3, 1994); see Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at
272.

45, Salameh, 152 F.3d at 161.

46. 1d. at 108; Salameh, 856 F. Supp. at 782; S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21;
see Richard Bernstein, Trade Center Bombers Get Prison Terms of 240 Years, N.Y. Times, May
25,1994, at A1, Gross, supra note 26, at 10-11; Wren, supra note 1.

47. See Bernstein, supra note 46; Gross, supra note 26, at 11.

48. Salameh, 152 F.3d at 161; see Convictions Are Upheld in Trade Center Case, N.Y. Times,
Aug. 5, 1998, at B6; Gross, supra note 26, at 11.

49, United Statesv. Salameh, 261 F.3d 271, 275 (2d Cir. 2001).
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by the jury, which had made no such determination in this case.®® On August 6,
2001, the court of appeals affirmed.>

On September 22, 2011, New Y ork’s court of appeals determined that the Port
Authority of New York and New Jersey had governmental immunity from civil
liability for the bombing.*

Plotsto Bomb New York Landmarks

When Salameh rented the van used to bomb the World Trade Center, he used as
identification a New York driver’s license with an address belonging to Ibrahim
el-Gabrowny.> On March 4, 1993, federal agents searched el-Gabrowny’s home,
where they found stun guns and taped messages from el-Gabrowny’s cousin, El
Sayyid Nosair, urging aggressive reactions to Jewish immigration to Israel.>
Agents found el-Gabrowny near his home, and he was belligerent when frisked.>
He was discovered to have fraudulent Nicaraguan passports for Nosair and No-
sair’s family.”®

El-Gabrowny was indicted for assault in the Southern District of New Y ork on
March 17.%" The court assigned the case to Judge Michael B. Mukasey,”® who
tried to conduct this case as much like other criminal trials as possible.”®

50. Id. (noting sentences of 1,403 months for Salameh, 1,300 months for Abouhalima, 1,405
months for Ayyad, and 1,378 months for Ajgj); S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21
(same); see United States v. Tocco, 135 F.3d 116, 131-32 (2d Cir. 1998) (approving a sentencing
scheme by Judge Jack B. Weinstein of the Eastern District of New Y ork).

51. Salameh, 261 F.3d 271; see Benjamin Weiser, Trade Center Bombing Terms, N.Y. Times,
Aug. 7, 2001, at B4.

52. InreWorld Trade Ctr. Bombing Litig.,,  N.Y. ,  N.E2d__ , 2011 WL 4387517
(2011); seeid.at _ ,  N.E2dat ___ (p.23 of filed opinion) (“We ... hold that the Port Au-
thority acted within its governmental capacity because its security operations at the WTC consti-
tuted police protection.”); see also Benjamin Weiser, Port Authority Not Liable in "93 Bombing,
Court Says, N.Y. Times, Sept. 23, 2011, at A25.

53. United States v. Rahman, 189 F.3d 88, 108 (2d Cir. 1999); United States v. El-Gabrowny,
876 F. Supp. 495, 497 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); United States v. El-Gabrowny, 825 F. Supp. 38, 40
(S.D.N.Y. 1993); see Blumenthal, supra note 1.

It was reported that Salameh failed four attempts to get a New Jersey driver’s license using his
own address. Blumenthal, supra note 1.

54. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 105, 106, 108; United States v. El-Gabrowny, 35 F.3d 63, 64 (2d Cir.
1994); El-Gabrowny, 876 F. Supp. at 496-97; United States v. Rahman, 861 F. Supp. 266, 270
(S.D.N.Y. 1994); El-Gabrowny, 825 F. Supp. at 39-40.

55. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 108; El-Gabrowny, 35 F.3d at 64; El-Gabrowny, 876 F. Supp. at
496-98; Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 270; El-Gabrowny, 825 F. Supp. at 39-41; see McFadden, su-
pra note 11; Alison Mitchell, Suspect in Bombing Is Linked to Sect with a Violent Voice, N.Y.
Times, Mar. 5, 1993, at Al.

56. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 108; El-Gabrowny, 35 F.3d at 64; El-Gabrowny, 876 F. Supp. a
496-97; Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 270; United States v. Rahman, 837 F. Supp. 64, 65 (S.D.N.Y.
1993); El-Gabrowny, 825 F. Supp. at 39, 41; see Blumenthal, supra note 1; McFadden, supra note
9.

57. ElI-Gabrowny, 35 F.3d at 64; Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 270; Rahman, 837 F. Supp. at 65;
El-Gabrowny, 825 F. Supp. at 39; Docket Sheet, United States v. Abdel Rahman, No. 1:93-cr-181
(SD.N.Y. Mar. 17, 1993) [hereinafter S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet] (also noting the
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Nosair was in prison on a sentence of 7' to 22 years for a state conviction on
assault and weapons charges stemming from the killing of a“militant Zionist” and
former member of the Israeli parliament, Rabbi Meir Kahane, at a November 5,
1990, speech Kahane made in New York City.®® There was evidence that projec-
tiles found in the room where Kahane and others were shot came from Nosair’s
gun, but he was acquitted of the murder.®*

In 1991, during Nosair’s state trial, an FBI informant, Emad Eldin Aly Abdou
Salem, began to befriend followers of Sheik Omar Abdel Rahman, ablind Islamic
cleric.6238alem met el-Gabrowny at the trial of Nosair, who was el-Gabrowny’s
cousin.

filing of a superseding indictment against EI-Gabrowny on May 19, 1993); see Blumenthal, supra
note 25.

58. SD.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57.

Judge Mukasey retired from the bench in 2006 and returned to the practice of law until Presi-
dent George W. Bush named him as his third Attorney General. Federal Judicial Center Biograph-

witz & Dan Eggen, Ex-Judge I's Said to Be Pick at Justice, Wash. Post, Sept. 17, 2007, at A1; Dan
Eggen, Senate Confirms Mukasey by 53-40, N.Y. Times, Nov. 9, 2007, at A1; Joseph Goldstein,
As Judge Leaves for Law Firm, His Legacy Is Remembered, N.Y. Sun, July 26, 2006, at 1; Carl
Hulse, Mukasey Wins Vote in Senate, Despite Doubts, N.Y. Times, Nov. 9, 2007, at Al; Sheryl
Gay Stolberg & Philip Shenon, Bush to Appoint Ex-Judge as Head of Justice Dept., N.Y. Times,
Sept. 17, 2007, at AL

Tim Reagan interviewed Judge Mukasey for this report at his law offices in Manhattan on June
25, 2007.

59. Interview with Michael B. Mukasey, June 25, 2007.

60. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 105 & n.3; Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 270; Rahman, 837 F. Supp. at
65; see United States v. Nosair, 854 F. Supp. 251, 251 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); see also Blumenthal, su-
pra note 1; McFadden, supra note 9; John T. McQuiston, Kahane Is Killed After Giving Talk in
New York Hotel, N.Y. Times, Nov. 6, 1990, at Al; Mitchell, supra note 55; Ronald Sullivan,
Judge Gives Maximum Termin Kahane Case, N.Y. Times, Jan. 30, 1992, at A1.

61. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 105 & n.3; Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 270; see Blumenthal, supra note
1; M.A. Farber, Gun That Was Found on Defendant Is Linked to Kahane Shooting, N.Y. Times,
Dec. 5, 1991, at B3; McFadden, supra note 9; McFadden, supra note 11; Mitchell, supra note 55;
Selwyn Raab, Jury Acquits Defendant in Kahane Trial, N.Y. Times, Dec. 22, 1991, at 136; Tabor,
supra note 14.

Nosair shot and was shot by a postal police officer at the scene, Carlos Acosta. Rahman, 189
F.3d at 105. Although Nosair was convicted of assault with a deadly weapon on Acosta, Nosair
sued Acosta and the postal service for his own injury. Nosair v. Acosta, No. 1:92-cv-8274, 1993
WL 336996 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 1, 1993). His suit was dismissed as precluded by his conviction, id.,
and his appeal was dismissed as frivolous, Docket Sheet, Nosair v. Acosta, No. 93-2661 (2d Cir.
Oct. 7, 1993).

62. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 104, 106; see Richard Bernstein, Biggest U.S. Terrorist Trial Begins
as Arguments Clash, N.Y. Times, Jan. 31, 1995, at 1 (reporting that Salem was paid more than $1
million by the United States government for his assistance); Alison Mitchell, Bomb Informer Ac-
tive in 1991, Authorities Say, N.Y. Times, July 15, 1993, at A1 [hereinafter Bomb Informer]; Ali-
son Mitchell, Egyptian Was Informer, Officials Say, N.Y. Times, June 26, 1993, at 123 [hereinaf-
ter Egyptian Informer]; Alison Mitchell, Official Recalls Delay in Using Informer, N.Y. Times,
July 16, 1993, at B2 (reporting that Salem had entered the federal witness protection program);
Mitchell, supra note 55 (describing Abdel Rahman as “blind, with one eye without a pupil, the
other an empty socket”); see also Mary B.W. Tabor, Informer 's Ex-Wife Said He Warned of Ter-
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Abdel Rahman was tried, but acquitted, in Egypt as an accomplice in the Oc-
tober 6, 1981, murder of President Anwar el-Sadat.** He illegally entered the
United States in 1990 and faced a deportation order at the time of the World
Trade Center bombing.%® His followers plotted to assassinate Egypt’s president,
Hosni Mubarak, during a March 1993 visit to the United Nations in New York
City.®® Siddig Ibrahim Siddig Ali obtained Mubarak’s itinerary from a source in
the Sudanese government.®” But the plot was foiled when a confidant of Abdel
Rahman’s, Abdo Mohammed Haggag, informed the Egyptian government of the
assassination plan and Mubarak’s New Y ork trip was canceled.®®

Siddig Ali and Clement Rodney Hampton-El led paramilitary training on
weekends between October 1992 and February 1993.%° Participantsincluded Amir
and Fadil Abdelgani and Tarig Elhassan, as well as the Egyptian spy Haggag.”
The training was for jihad, perhaps in Bosnia.”* Hampton-El was observed by the
FBI in July 1989 shooting weapons at a public rifle range on Long Island with
World Trade Center bombers Abouhalima, Salameh, and Ayyad.”

In May 2003, the informant Salem persuaded Siddig Ali to establish a bomb-
making safehouse where the FBI had installed surveillance equipment.”

rorism, N.Y. Times, Sept. 28, 1993, at B2 (reporting that Salem “said that the day after the explo-
sion [he] was upset and told [his ex-wife] the bombing could have been averted if the F.B.I. had
heeded his warnings”).

63. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 106; see James C. McKinley, Jr., Many Faces of Witness in Terror
Trial, N.Y. Times, Mar. 6, 1995, at 3.

64. See William E. Farrell, 5in Sadat Trial Sentenced to Die, N.Y. Times, Mar. 7, 1982, at 11;
William E. Farrell, Egypt Reports Plot to Kill Aides at Sadat’s Funeral, N.Y. Times, Oct. 31,
1981, at 13; McFadden, supra note 9; McFadden, supra note 11; Mitchell, supra note 55; Tabor,
supra note 14; see also The 9/11 Commission Report 56 (2004) (Abdel Rahman’s “preaching had
inspired the assassination of Sadat”); Ali H. Soufan, The Black Banners 47 (2011) (“he was ac-
quitted but expelled from Egypt”).

Abdel Rahmen was subsequently tried for and acquitted of participating in a plot to overthrow
the Egytian government after el-Sadat’s death. See Egyptian Court Sentences 107 Moslem Mili-
tantsin a 1981 Revolt, N.Y. Times, Oct. 1, 1984, at A6. He was later included in an arrest of 1,500
Muslim extremists, but he was freed several months later. See Alan Cowell, Cairo Frees Funda-
mentalist Cleric Pending Hearing on Role in Strife, N.Y. Times, Aug. 11, 1989, at A3; Alan Co-
well, Egypt Seizes 1,500 in Crackdown on Fundamentalists, N.Y. Times, Apr. 27, 1989, at A3.

65. See James C. McKinley, Jr., Isamic Leader on U.S. Terrorist List Is in Brooklyn, N.Y.
Times, Dec. 16, 1990, at 144; McFadden, supra note 11; Mitchell, supra note 55; see also Soufan,
supra note 64, at 47 (“The visawas given to himin Sudan by a CIA officia.”).

According to the 9/11 Commission, “After it was discovered that Abdel Rahman, the Blind
Sheikh, had come and gone amost at will, State initiated significant reforms to its watchlist and
visa-processing policies.” The 9/11 Commission Report 95 (2004).

66. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 108; see also United States v. Rahman, 854 F. Supp. 254, 258
(S.D.N.Y. 1994).

67. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 108.

68. Id.

69. Id. at 107.

70. Id.

71. 1d.

72.1d. at 105.

73. 1d. at 109; see Mitchell, Egyptian Informer, supra note 62.
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The conspirators considered bombing various New York City locations, in-
cluding the United Nations, the federal building, the FBI headquarters, the di-
amond district, the Lincoln Tunnel, and the Holland Tunnel.”*

On June 13, 1993, Fares Khallafalla and the informant Salem purchased time-
rs for bombs.” On June 19 and 21, Amir Abdelgani, Victor Alvarez, and Salem
unsuccessfully tried to steal cars to use as both bomb-delivery and getaway ve-
hicles.”® On June 22 and 23, Mohammed Saleh, who owned two gas stations in
Y onkers, provided nearly $300 worth of diesel fuel to Siddig Ali and the Abdel-
ganis to use for making bombs.”’

A couple of hours after midnight on June 24, 1993, the FBI raided the safe-
house and arrested Siddig Ali, Amir and Fadil Abdelgani, Elhassan, and Alvarez
while they were mixing explosive chemicals.”® Hampton-El, Saleh, and Khallafal-
Ia\Y/gere arrested at their homes in Flatbush, Y onkers, and Jersey City, respective-
ly.

It was reported that the government allowed Abdel Rahman to remain free
pending his deportation appeal because he was not considered aflight risk and the
conspiracy evidence against him was weak.* But after his van evaded federal
agents following him on June 30, the government decided to arrest him on an
immigration detainer.2! A negotiated surrender was agreed on for July 3.2

On July 14, the indictment against el-Gabrowny was expanded to include
bomb conspiracy charges and defendants Siddig Ali, Hampton-El, Amir Abdel-
gani, Khallafalla, Elhassan, Fadil Abdelgani, Saleh, Alvarez, and two others. Earl
Gant and a defendant identified only as “Wahid.”® Abdel Rahman, Nosair, Hag-
gag, and Mohammed Abouhalima, the brother of World Trade Center bomber

74. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 108-09; see Ralph Blumenthal, U.S. Says Bomb-Plot Suspects Talked
of Blowing Up Manhattan Jewelry District, N.Y. Times, June 30, 1993, at B3; Robert D. McFad-
den, 8 Seized as Suspects in Plot to Bomb New York Targets and Kill Palitical Figures, N.Y.
Times, June 25, 1993, at A1

75. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 110.

76. 1d.; see McFadden, supra note 74.

77. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 110.

78. 1d. at 111; see McFadden, supra note 74.

79. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 111; see McFadden, supra note 74.

80. Alison Mitchell, U.S Detains Cleric Linked to Militants, N.Y. Times, July 3, 1993, at 11.

81. Seeid.

82. Seeid.

Abdel Rahman was tried in absentia, convicted, and sentenced to seven years in prison in
Egypt in 1993 and 1994 in a prosecution for illegal demonstrations and attempts to kill police of-
ficers during protests. Bombing Defendant to Be Tried in Egypt, N.Y. Times, Oct. 22, 1993, at B3;
Egyptian Court Sentences Absent Sheik to Prison, N.Y. Times, Apr. 29, 1994, at B3.

83. United States v. Rahman, 837 F. Supp. 64, 65 (S.D.N.Y. 1993); S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman
Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see Ralph Blumenthal, Court Says Tapes in Bomb Plot Fail to Sup-
port Some Charges, N.Y. Times, July 8, 1993, at B3 (reporting that Wahid was still missing); Mit-
chell, Bomb Informer, supra note 62.
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Mahmoud Abouhalima, were added as defendants by superseding indictment on
August 25

Gant, who was considered a minor player in the case, was arrested on July 1,
1993, and released on bail on October 19; he pleaded guilty on April 1, 1994.%°
He was sentenced on July 20, 1994, to time served, with three years of supervised
release ®

“Wahid” turned out to be Matarawy Mohammed Said Saleh, who was arrested
on July 22, 1993, and who is not related to co-defendant Mohammed Saleh.’’ Be-
cause prosecutors determined that Wahid joined the conspiracy only hours before
the government began arresting co-defendants, he pleaded guilty and was sen-
tence(ggon December 19, 1995, to time served, with three years of supervised re-
lease.

Haggag agreed to testify for the government; terrorism charges against him
were dropped, and he pleaded guilty to an unrelated insurance fraud scheme in
which hetried to collect on afire he set in a cafe he co-owned.®

The other defendants were tried for seditious conspiracy “to conduct a cam-
paign of urban terrorism,” including participation in the bombing of the World
Trade Center, the murder of Rabbi Kahane, the plot to assassinate President Mu-
barak, and plans to bomb New Y ork landmarks.*

84. Rahman, 837 F. Supp. at 67; S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see
Mary B.W. Tabor, U.S. Indicts Egyptian Cleric as Head of Group Plotting “War of Urban Terror-
ism,” N.Y. Times, Aug. 26, 1993, at Al.

85. SD.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see Ralph Blumenthal, Defendant in
a Bombing Plot Released on Bail, N.Y. Times, Oct. 19, 1993, at B2 (reporting that there was evi-
dence that Gant agreed to obtain explosives but had no real awareness of what they would be used
for); Mary B.W. Tabor, 9th Held in Bomb Plot as Tie Is Made to a 1991 Murder, N.Y. Times, July
1, 1993, at B3.

86. S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see Ronald Sullivan, Minor Figure
in Bomb Plot Sentenced to Time Served, N.Y. Times, July 21, 1994, at B4 (reporting that Gant
said he thought the explosives he was providing would be used to combat the rape and massacre of
Muslimsin Bosnia).

87. See Ralph Blumenthal, Bombing Suspect Seized at Resort, N.Y. Times, July 24, 1993, at
11; Joseph P. Fried, Bombing Plotter in Plea Deal Is Given Probation and Time Served, N.Y.
Times, Dec. 20, 1995, at 5; John J. Goldman, 11th Suspect in N.Y. Bombing Plot Arrested, L.A.
Times, July 24, 1993, at 2.

88. S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see Fried, supra note 87.

89. SD.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57 (noting sentencing in Feb. 1996); see
Joseph P. Fried, In Plea Deal, Jerseyan to Testify in Terror Trial, N.Y. Times, May 2, 1995, at 5.

90. United States v. Rahman, 189 F.3d 88, 103 (2d Cir. 1999); United States v. Rahman, 861
F. Supp. 266, 270 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); United States v. Rahman, 854 F. Supp. 254, 258 (S.D.N.Y.
1994); United States v. El-Gabrowny, 844 F. Supp. 955, 957 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); see Tabor, supra
note 84.

Judge Mukasey denied Nosair’s motion to dismiss some counts against him as double jeopardy
because of his prior prosecution in state court for crimes related to the murder of Rabbi Kahane.
United States v. Nosair, 854 F. Supp. 251 (S.D.N.Y. 1994). Judge Mukasey also ruled that al-
though participation in the Kahane murder was a triable offense, it could not be prosecuted as part
of seditious conspiracy, because Kahane was a private foreign citizen. Rahman, 854 F. Supp. at
258-61.
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Famed defender of the unpopular William M. Kunstler and his partner, Ro-
nald L. Kuby, represented el-Gabrowny. When the indictment was superseded
to include Siddig Ali and others as defendants, Kunstler and Kuby appeared for
both el-Gabrowny and Siddig Ali.*? Judge Mukasey sought to ensure that a con-
flict-of-interest waiver by the defendants was knowing.*

| said | would conduct a hearing at a later date to determine that both defendants unders-
tood their right to conflict-free representation, and that in aid of such a determination |
would appoint whichever attorneys from the panel of Criminal Justice Act (“CJA”) attor-
neys were scheduled to receive cases that week, for the purpose of advising each defen-
dant of that right independent of any advice received from the Kunstler firm. Kunstler ob-
jected, stating immediately in open court, without consulting either defendant, that
“[t]hey are perfectly willing to be represented here by me and they are here and they are
willing to waive any alleged conflict of interest.” (7/15/93 Tr. 17) He added that he did
not want any CJA attorney “talking to either one of them.” When | noted that neither de-
fendant would be obligated to talk to independent counsel, but only to listen to an expla-
nation of the risks of dual representation, Kunstler responded, “There are no risks here,
Judge, except those created by the government.” (1d. at 18)

Notwithstanding defense counsel’s position, | appointed the two lawyers on duty to
accept CJA appointment that day and a succeeding day to act as independent counsel to
El-Gabrowny and Siddig Ali, to explain to them the hazards of joint representation . . . .

... [B]oth defendants said they had understood the explanations of possible con-
flicts, and both expressed the desire to be represented by the Kunstler firm.**

When the indictment was superseded to include as defendants Nosair, Abdel
Rahman, and two others, attorney Michael Warren appeared for Nosair, and
another attorney appeared for Abdel Rahman.*®

Warren and Kunstler represented Nosair at his state murder trial,* and Warren
appeared for el-Gabrowny at el-Gabrowny’s first appearance following the filing
of acriminal complaint and preceding the filing of the indictment.®” Judge Muka-

91. United States v. Rahman, 837 F. Supp. 64, 65 (S.D.N.Y. 1993); S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman
Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see David Margolick, Still Radical After All These Years, N.Y.
Times, July 6, 1993, at B1.

Kunstler co-founded the Center for Constitutional Rights, which, beginning in 2002, coordi-
nated representation of Guantanamo Bay habeas petitioners. See Steven T. Wax, Kafka Comes to
America: Fighting for Justice in the War on Terror 25 (2008); see also “Guantanamo Bay,” infra.

92. Rahman, 837 F. Supp. at 65; S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57.

93. Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 271; Rahman, 837 F. Supp. at 65-66.

94. Rahman, 837 F. Supp. at 65-66 (quotation alterations in original); seeid. at 66 (noting that
Siddig Ali appeared to base his decision in part on his proclamation of innocence: “| believe that
my co-defendant and myself are innocent people. My conflict is not with my co-defendant or with
anybody €else, but it is with the government, with the FBI, and with those people who are accusing
me of doing things or saying things that | have not conspired or done.”).

95. Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 271; Rahman, 837 F. Supp. at 67; S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Dock-
et Sheet, supra note 57.

96. See Selwyn Raab, Jury Selection Seen as Crucial to Verdict, N.Y. Times, Dec. 23, 1991, at
B8.

97. Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 270; Rahman, 837 F. Supp. at 65; S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Dock-
et Sheet, supra note 57 (noting the filing of a criminal complaint against EI-Gabrowny on Mar. 5,
1993, and the filing of an indictment against El-Gabrowny on Mar. 17, 1993).
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sey denied Nosair’s application to name Warren as his appointed attorney in this
federal trial as an exception to regular Criminal Justice Act procedures.”® Judge
Mukasey assigned Nosair a CJA panel attorney.*

Abdel Rahman’s attorney announced that he and Abdel Rahman could not
agree on a fee; Kunstler and Kuby informed the court that they had accepted Ab-
del Rahman’s request that they represent him instead.'® The government moved
to disqualify the Kunstler firm from representing more than one defendant.®* On
November 9, 1993, Judge Mukasey ruled that the firm could either represent el-
Gabrowny and Siddig Ali, as they had, or Abdel Rahman, but not al three.'®® Ab-
del Rahman opted to represent himself, and the court appointed a panel attorney
to assist him.'® By the time the trial commenced, he was represented by Lynne
Stewiaorst,104 who had represented Ajg at Aja’s arraignment in the bombing
case.

On February 8, 1994, Mohammed Abouhalima, the brother of World Trade
Center bombing defendant Mahmud Abouhalima, was released in a sealed pro-
ceeding.’® But he was indicted on September 18, 1996, for aiding his brother’s

98. United States v. Rahman, No. 1:93-cr-181, 1993 WL 340992 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 3, 1993); see
Gross, supra note 26, at 8.
In denying Nosair’s request on reconsideration, Judge Mukasey also denied an application by
Lynne Stewart to represent Mouhammed Abouhalima. United States v. Rahman, id., 1993 WL
410449 (Oct 13, 1993); see Gross, supra note 26, at 8.
99. Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 270; S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57.
100. Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 271; Rahman, 837 F. Supp. at 67; United States v. Rahman, No.
1:93-cr-181, 1993 WL 385762 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 27, 1993); see Kunstler to Defend Sheik in Bomb-
ing Case, N.Y. Times, Sept. 22, 1993, at B4; see also Gross, supra note 26, at 7-10 (describing as
a“celebrity lawyer” issue the attorneys’ wanting to represent not only lesser known defendants but
also the most high-profile defendant).
101. Rahman, 861 F. Supp. a 271; Rahman, 837 F. Supp. at 65.
102. Rahman, 837 F. Supp. at 65, 72; seeid. at 71 (noting that the court would appoint standby
counsel “to conduct cross-examination of any former client of the Kunstler firm who takes the
stand at trial, so as to minimize the risk that that client’s privileged communications to the
Kunstler firm will influence the cross-examination”); Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 271 (noting rul-
ing); see also Ralph Blumenthal, Judge Rules That Shelk and Two Other Defendants Cannot
Share Lawyers, N.Y. Times, Nov. 11, 1993, at B3.
103. Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 268; see Ralph Blumenthal, Sheik Is Prepared to Act as Lawyer,
Judge Is Told, N.Y. Times, Nov. 16, 1993, at B3.
Abdel Rahman had been successful defending himself pro se in Egypt on conspiracy charges
in connection with the 1981 assassination of Egyptian President Anwar Sadat and thus
thought he could duplicate those results; Abdel Rahman also wanted to use the trial as a plat-
form from which to convey his views.

Gross, supra note 26, at 4 (reporting on an interview with Judge Mukasey).

Judge Mukasey told Abdel Rahman that if he behaved improperly, appointed counsel would
take over. Interview with Michael B. Mukasey, June 25, 2007.

104. See Bernstein, supra note 62; Gross, supra note 26, at 4 (“Ultimately, Abdel Rahman’s
close circle of people around him convinced him that he would have little chance of prevailing if
he continued through trial pro se and convinced him to accept counsel.”).

105. See Tabor, supra note 4.

106. See Mary B.W. Tabor, Defendant in Bomb Plot Released on Bail, N.Y. Times, Feb. 9,
1994, at B2.
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escape.’”” He was convicted on May 28, 1997, and sentenced on November 24,
1998, to eight yearsin prison.'®

In June 1994, Siddig Ali obtained substitute counsel to help him try to coope-
rate with the government, but the government decided in August not to strike a
deal.'® The substitute counsel asked to be relieved as Siddig Ali’s attorney, be-
cause his knowledge of Siddig Ali’s proffers to the government would constrain
what evidence the attorney could offer at trial, and Siddig Ali asked to be
represented by the Kunstler firm again.'° The government objected.*™* Judge
Mukasey ruled that Kunstler and Kuby could no longer represent Siddig Ali.**2
Judge Mukasey also ruled that the Kunstler firm’s prior representations of Siddig
Ali and Nosair had now created conflicts of interest with its representation of el-
Gabrowny so serious as to disqualify it from representing el-Gabrowny as well.*3
Kunstler died on Labor Day, September 4, 1995, the day before closing argu-
ments began in the trial.***

Voir dire began on January 9, 199 To facilitate jury selection, Judge Mu-
kasey used a jury questionnaire, which he had seldom done before, and he found
it very helpful.™® Judge Mukasey used an anonymous jury and conducted post-

115
5.

107. S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see Joseph P. Fried, U.S. Says Man
Helped Brother Fleein Trade Center Bombing, N.Y. Times, Sept. 19, 1996, at 8.

108. S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see Two Are Sentenced in Trade
Center Bombing, N.Y. Times, Nov. 25, 1998. The court of appeals affirmed. United States v. Ab-
ouhalima, No. 98-1677, 1999 WL 1295846 (2d Cir. Dec. 23, 1999).

(reg. no. 28173-054).

109. United States v. Rahman, 861 F. Supp. 266, 268 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); see Raymond Hernan-
dez, Bomb Plot Suspect Will Not Be Witness for U.S,, N.Y. Times, Aug. 13, 1994, at 123.

110. Rahman, 861 F. Supp. at 268.

111. 1d. at 267-68.

112. 1d. at 268, 276, 279.

113. Id. at 276-78, 279; see Richard Bernstein, Judge Disqualifies Kunstler Firm from Rolein
Bombing-Plot Trial, N.Y. Times, Aug. 26, 1994, at A1; Ronald Sullivan, U.S. Moves to Exclude 2
Lawyers, N.Y. Times, July 7, 1994, at B4.

114. See Joseph P. Fried, Sheik Called an Architect of Terrorism, N.Y. Times, Sept. 6, 1995, at
3; David Stout, William Kunstler, 76, Dies, N.Y. Times, Sept. 5, 1995, at 6 (reporting that
Kunstler died of a heart attack).

115. United States v. Abouhalima, 961 F. Supp. 78, 80 (S.D.N.Y. 1997); S.D.N.Y. Abdel
Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see Richard Bernstein, Trial for 12 Opensin Plot for Bomb-
ing New York Buildings, N.Y. Times, Jan. 10, 1995, at 1.

Public attention to this trial was diminished somewhat by the coincident criminal trial of O.J.
Simpson for the murder of his wife and her friend. Interview with Michael B. Mukasey, June 25,
2007; see Smpson Case Timeling, L.A. Times, Oct. 3, 1995, at 3 (noting that jury selection in the
Simpson trial began on Sept. 26, 1994; opening statements began on Jan. 24, 1995; and the not
guilty verdict was announced on Oct. 3, 1995).

116. Michael B. Mukasey, United States v. Abdel Rahman: Jury Questionnaire (Jan. 9, 1995);
Interview with Michael B. Mukasey, June 25, 2007.

Judge Mukasey has pointed out that a good jury questionnaire should serve to weed out two
types of jurors: those who cannot reasonably meet the time commitment for such atrial and
those who cannot be impartial knowing all the publicity about the trial or having bias against
certain people.
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guestionnaire voir dire in a conference room with the press represented by two
reporters—one from print and one from electronic media.**’

Opening statements commenced on January 30.*® Judge Mukasey found it
hel pful—necessary even—to charge the jury with applicable law at the beginning
of the case, between opening statements and presentation of evidence.*® For ex-
ample, it was important for the jury to understand up front that seditious conspira-
cy did not necessarily include an intent to overthrow the government.’®® As was
his general practice, Judge Mukasey permitted jurors to take notes.'*

On February 6, Siddig Ali pleaded guilty, agreed to be a witness for the gov-
ernment, and asked God to forgive him for his acts, which he admitted were
wrong.*? He was sentenced to 11 years in prison on October 15, 1999, on a find-
ing that he provided the government with extensive assistance in the case.'*

Judge Mukasey conducted the nine-month trial four days per week."** A brief
experience with five days per week fatigued all participants without moving
things along noticeably faster.’* Both Arabic and Spanish interpreters were re-
quired.'?

While the trial was in progress, on April 19, 1995, the federal building in Ok-
lahoma City, including the courthouse, was partialy destroyed by a bomb.**’
Judge Mukasey permitted the jurors to consult news of the event, but admonished
them not to let it influence them in the trial %

On October 1, 1995, the jury convicted e-Gabrowny, Hampton-El, both Ab-
delganis, Khallafala, Elhassan, Saleh, Alvarez, Abdel Rahman, and Nosair of se-
ditious conspiracy and other charges, including a guilty verdict for Nosair in Rab-
bi Kahane’s murder.®® On January 17, 1996, Judge Mukasey sentenced Abdel

Gross, supra note 26, at 22—-23.

117. Interview with Michael B. Mukasey, June 25, 2007.

118. S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see Bernstein, supra note 62.

119. Michael B. Mukasey, United States v. Abdel Rahman: Preliminary Charge (Feb. 1, 1995);
Interview with Michael B. Mukasey, June 25, 2007.

120. Interview with Michael B. Mukasey, June 25, 2007.

121. 1d.

122. S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see Richard Bernstein, Bomb Plot
Defendant Shifts Plea to Guilty and Implicates Others, N.Y. Times, Feb. 7, 1995, at 1.

123. S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see Benjamin Weiser, Remor seful
Terror Conspirator Gets an 11-Year Sentence, N.Y. Times, Oct. 16, 1999, at B6.

124. Interview with Michadl B. Mukasey, June 25, 2007; see Adam Liptak, Big Terror Trial
Shaped Views of Justice Pick, N.Y. Times, Sept. 20, 2007, at A1 (describing the trial as “the long-
est and most complex international terrorism case ever presented in a United States court”).

125. Interview with Michael B. Mukasey, June 25, 2007.

126. 1d.

127. See John Kifner, At Least 31 Are Dead, Scores Are Missing After Car Bomb Attack in Ok-
lahoma City Wrecks 9-Story Federal Office Building, N.Y. Times, Apr. 20, 1995, at 1.

128. Interview with Michael B. Mukasey, June 25, 2007; see Joseph P. Fried, Judge Refuses to
Sequester Jury in Terrorism Casein New York, N.Y. Times, Apr. 20, 1995, at 8.

129. SD.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57; see Joseph P. Fried, Sheik and 9
Followers Guilty of a Conspiracy of Terrorism, N.Y. Times, Oct. 2, 1995, at 1.

Hampton-El, Fadil Abdelgani, Elhassan, and Alvarez testified at trial; the others did not. Mi-
chael B. Mukasey, United Statesv. Abdel Rahman: Jury Instructions (Sept. 23, 1995).
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Rahman and Nosair to life in prison and sentenced the other eight defendants as
follows: el-Gabrowny to 57 years; Alvarez, Elhassan, Hampton-El, and Saleh to
35 yee}gg; Amir Abdelgani and Khallafallato 30 years; and Fadil Abdelghani to 25
years.

On August 16, 1999, the court of appeals affirmed the convictions and largely
affirmed the sentences, remanding for a reconsideration of el-Gabrowny’s sen-
tence.™®" On remand, Judge Mukasey sentenced el-Gabrowny to 33 years,**

which the court of appeals affirmed.*

A Plot to Bomb Airplanes

In the summer of 1994, Yousef moved to Manila, Philippines.®** There, he
launched a conspiracy to bomb U.S. airliners serving routes in southeast Asia®
To test their methods, Y ousef and Wali Khan Amin Shah bombed a Manilamovie
theater on December 1, 1994, injuring several moviegoers.** On December 11,
Yousef planted a nitroglycerine bomb under a passenger seat during the first leg
of a Philippine Airlines flight from Manila to Tokyo.™*” Yousef exited the plane
during a stopover in Cebu, Philippines, and the bomb exploded during the second
leg, killing one passenger and injuring several others.*®

Y ousef and his high school friend, Abdul Hakim Murad, were burning chemi-
cals in their Manila apartment on January 6, 1995, and they accidentally started a
fire that resulted in avisit from Philippine police officers and discovery of the plot
to bomb planes.**

130. S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Shest, supra note 57; see Joseph P. Fried, Shelk Sen-
tenced to Life in Prison in Bombing Plot, N.Y. Times, Jan. 18, 1996, at 1; Wren, supra note 1.

On July 23, 2010, Magistrate Judge Kevin Nathaniel Fox agreed to appoint habeas counsel for
Nosair. Order, Nosair v. United States, No. 1:00-cv-8383 (S.D.N.Y. July 23, 2010); see Benjamin
Weliser, Convicted Qaeda Agent Seeks Retrial in 95 Case, N.Y. Times, June 13, 2011, at A21.

131. United States v. Rahman, 189 F.3d 88, 157-60 (2d Cir. 1999); see Benjamin Weiser, Ap-
pellate Court Backs Convictionsin '93 Terror Plot, N.Y. Times, Aug. 17, 1999, at AL

132. S.D.N.Y. Abdel Rahman Docket Sheet, supra note 57.

133. United Statesv. Elgabrowny, 10 F. App’x 23 (2d Cir. 2001).

134. United Statesv. Y ousef, 327 F.3d 56, 79-80 (2d Cir. 2003).

135. The 9/11 Commission Report 147 (2004) (noting that the plan became known as the “Bo-
jinka” plot); Yousef, 327 F.3d at 79-80; Dina Temple-Raston, The Jihad Next Door: The Lack-
awanna Six and Rough Justice in the Age of Terror 24 (2007) (reporting that the plan was to use
liquid explosives that would pass through airport metal detectors).

136. The 9/11 Commission Report 147 (2004); Yousef, 327 F.3d at 79, 81; see Wren, supra
note 1.

137. The 9/11 Commission Report 147 (2004); Yousef, 327 F.3d at 79, 81; United States v.
Yousef, 927 F. Supp. 673, 675 (S.D.N.Y. 1996); see McKinley, supra note 20; Wren, supra
note 1.

138. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 79, 81; Yousef, 927 F. Supp. at 675; see McKinley, supra note 20;
Wren, supra note 1.

139. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 79, 81; see McKinley, supra note 20; Philip Shenon, Broad Terror
Campaign Is Foiled by Fire in Kitchen, Officials Say, N.Y. Times, Feb. 12, 1995, at 1; Temple-
Raston, supra note 135, at 24; Wren, supra note 1.
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Philippine authorities arrested Murad on January 7, and he was transported to
the Southern District of New York on April 12.**° While en route, he confessed
that the goal of the bombing plot was to punish the United States and its people
for their support of Isragl.**

Philippine authorities arrested Shah on January 11, but he escaped.'*? He was
recaptured by Malaysian authorities in December 1995 and flown to New Y ork on
December 12.%

Y ousef fled the Philippines but was turned in by an accomplice to authorities
in I1slamabad, Pakistan, on February 7, 1995.2** He was transported to the South-
ern District of New York on February 8.2 En route, he confessed to an intention
to topple one of the World Trade Center towersinto the other.*

A jury trial against Y ousef, Murad, and Shah for conspiracy to bomb airliners
began with jury selection on May 13, 1996." Y ousef asked to address the jury
during opening arguments, and Judge Duffy said that if he did he would have to
act as his own lawyer throughout the trial.* Y ousef and Judge Duffy agreed that
he would do this.**® All three defendants were convicted on September 5, the
fourth day of deliberation.*®

140. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 79, 81; United States v. Y ousef, 925 F. Supp. 1069 (S.D.N.Y. 1996);
see McKinley, supra note 20.

141. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 83.

142. Id. at 79, 82; see James C. McKinley, Jr., F.B.l. Arrests Man in Far East, Charged in Plot
to Bomb Planes, N.Y. Times, Dec. 13, 1995, at 5.

143. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 79, 82; see McKinley, supra note 142.

144. The 9/11 Commission Report 148 (2004); Yousef, 327 F.3d at 79, 81-82; United Statesv.
Yousef, 925 F. Supp. 1063, 1065 (S.D.N.Y. 1996); see Johnston, supra note 20; McKinley, supra
note 20; Temple-Raston, supra note 135, at 24; Wren, supra note 1.

145. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 82; Yousef, 925 F. Supp. a 1065; see S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket
Sheset, supra note 21 (noting Y ousef’s not guilty plea on Feb. 9, 1995); see also Johnston, supra
note 20; Wren, supra note 1.

146. See Benjamin Weiser, Suspect’s Confession Cited as Bombing Trial Opens, N.Y. Times,
Aug. 6, 1997, at B6.

147. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 85 (giving the start date as May 29, which was the day of opening ar-
guments); S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21 (also noting the filing on Apr. 13, 1995,
of an eighth superseding indictment against Yousef, Yasin, and Murad; the filing on June 14,
1995, of a ninth superseding indictment against Y ousef, Yasin, and Murad; the filing on Sept. 11,
1995, of a tenth superseding indictment against Yousef, Yasin, Murad, and Ismoil; the filing on
Dec. 13, 1995, of eleventh superseding indictments against Y ousef, Yasin, Murad, Ismoil, and
Shah; and the filing on Feb. 21, 1996, of twelfth superseding indictments against Y ousef, Yasin,
Murad, I1smoil, and Shah); see Judge Dismisses 75 on Bomb Jury Panel, N.Y. Times, May 14,
1996, at 2 [hereinafter Judge Dismisses 75].

148. See Gross, supra note 26, at 5; Christopher S. Wren, Plot of Terror in the Skies Is Out-
lined by a Prosecutor, N.Y. Times, May 30, 1996, at 3.

149. See Gross, supra note 26, at 5; Christopher S. Wren, Terror Suspect Defends Himself and
Offers Jury an Alibi, N.Y. Times, May 31, 1996, at 1; Wren, supra note 1; Christopher S. Wren,
With Judge’s Gentle Help, Terror Suspect Sarts Case, N.Y. Times, Aug. 22, 1996, at 1.

150. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 85; see Wren, supra note 1.
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A jury trial against Yousef and Ismoil for involvement in the bombing of the
World Trade Center began with jury selection on July 15, 1997.' This time,
Y ousef let alawyer represent him.*? Both were convicted on November 12.1%

Judge Duffy sentenced Y ousef on January 8, 1998, to 240 years in prison for
his participation in the World Trade Center bombing and a consecutive life sen-
tence for his participation in the plot to bomb airliners.™>* At his sentencing, Y ou-
sef proclaimed, “I am aterrorist and | am proud of it.”**> Judge Duffy sentenced
Ismoil on April 3, 1998, to 240 years in prison; and the judge sentenced Murad on
May 15, 1998, to life plus 60 years.**® The court of appeals affirmed the convic-
tions and sentences on April 4, 2003.2>" On October 8, 2004, Judge Duffy sen-
tenced Shah to 30 years.™

2001 Destruction of the World Trade Center

On June 5, 2008, during the presidency of George W. Bush, five men were ar-
raigned in military tribunals at Guantanamo Bay for the September 11, 2001, at-
tacks. Khalid Sheikh Mohammed (KSM), Mustafa Ahmed al-Hawsawi, Ramzi
Bin al-Shibh, Walid Bin Attash, and Ali Abdul Aziz Ali.**® Eric H. Holder, Presi-
dent Obama’s attorney general, announced on November 13, 2009, that the men

151. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 77-78, 80; S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21; see Jury
Selection Beginsin Trade Center Trial, N.Y. Times, July 16, 1997, at B2.

152. See Bomb Suspect to Use Lawyer at 2d Trial, N.Y. Times, Dec. 6, 1996, at 3.

153. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 80, 137; S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21; see Benja-
min Weiser, “Mastermind” and Driver Found Guilty in 1993 Plot to Blow Up Trade Center, N.Y.
Times, Nov. 13, 1997, at Al

154. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 80, 85, 135; S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21; see Ben-
jamin Weiser, Mastermind Gets Life for Bombing of Trade Center, N.Y. Times, Jan. 9, 1998, at
Al

The court of appeals denied Y ousef’s appeal of the district court’s decision not to appoint ha-
beas corpus counsel under the Criminal Justice Act. United States v. Y ousef, 395 F.3d 76 (2d Cir.
2005).

155. See Weiser, supra note 154,

156. Yousef, 327 F.3d at 80, 85, 135; S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Sheet, supra note 21; see Pilot
Is Given Life Term for Bombing Plot, N.Y. Times, May 16, 1998, at B5; Benjamin Weiser, Driver
Gets 240 Yearsin Prison for Bombing of Trade Center, N.Y. Times, Apr. 5, 1998, at B2.

157. Yousef, 327 F.3d 56; see Benjamin Weiser, Judges Uphold Convictions in "93 Bombing,
N.Y. Times, Apr. 5, 2003, at D5.

The appeal was heard by Second Circuit Judges Ralph K. Winter, Jr., John Walker, Jr., and
José A. Cabranes. Because, by chance, al three judges sat in New Haven, Connecticut, oral argu-
ment was held there. Interview with Hon. José A. Cabranes, Nov. 4, 2009. Second Circuit ora
arguments are almost always held in New York. Interview with 2d Cir. Clerk’s Office Staff, Nov.
6, 2009.

158. S.D.N.Y. Salameh Docket Shest, supra note 21.

159. See William Glaberson, Arraigned, 9/11 Defendants Talk of Martyrdom, N.Y. Times,
June 6, 2008, at A1; Josh White, 9/11 Architect Tells Court He Hopes for Martyrdom, Wash. Post,
June 6, 2008, at A1.
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would be tried in the Southern District of New York instead.'® Their sealed De-
cember 14 indictment was added to the indictment for the 1993 World Trade Cen-
ter bombing.®* Magistrate Judge James C. Francis IV granted the government’s
request to both seal the indictment and keep it off the case’s docket.**? According
to the government,

knowledge of the specific date the Superseding Indictment was returned may lead the de-

fendants to coordinate with each other in ways that undermine both their security and the

security of others. In addition, notice that new charges have been filed against the defen-

dants may lead them to destroy evidence they now possess.'®

The defense appropriation act for 2011, however, forbade the use of defense
fundsto transfer KSM or any other Guantanamo Bay detainee for prosecution in a
civilian court,® so the government obtained a dismissal of the superseding in-
dictment in favor of renewed military tribunal prosecutions.'®®

Challenge: Court Security

Security was tight in these trials. One downside of tight security in a criminal
prosecution is the message it sends to the jury that the defendants might be dan-
gerous. In the trial for conspiracy to bomb airplanes, Judge Duffy had to dismiss
the first 75 prospective jurors because they indicated they would be influenced by
heavy court security.'®®

Challenge: Jury Security

Both Judge Duffy and Judge Mukasey used anonymous juries for the jurors’ pro-
tection.’®’ To protect the jurors’ safety and anonymity, they did not report directly

160. See Peter Finn & Carrie Johnson, Alleged Sept. 11 Planner Will Be Tried in New York,
Wash. Post, Nov. 14, 2009, at Al; Charlie Savage, U.S. to Try Avowed 9/11 Mastermind Before
Civilian Court in New York, N.Y. Times, Nov. 14, 2009, at Al.

161. Superseding Indictment, United States v. Salameh, No. 1:93-cr-180 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 14,
2009, filed Apr. 4, 2011); see Benjamin Weiser, In Federal Court, a Docket Number for Global
Terror, N.Y. Times, Apr. 11, 2011, at A18.

162. Order, Salameh, No. 1:93-cr-180 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 14, 2009, filed Apr. 4, 2011).

163. Affirmation at 2, Salameh, No. 1:93-cr-180 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 14, 2009, filed Apr. 4, 2011).

164. Pub. L. No. 111-383, 124 Stat. 4351, § 1032 (2011); see Peter Finn & Anne E. Kornblut,
President Decries Rules on Detainees, Wash. Post, Jan. 8, 2011, at A2; Charlie Savage, New
Measure to Hinder Closing of Guantanamo, N.Y. Times, Jan. 8, 2011, at A11.

gov/news/commissions.html (military commission records); see Peter Finn, Charges Against 9/11
Suspects Are Re-Filed, Wash. Post, June 1, 2011, at A6; Peter Finn, Sept. 11 Suspects Will Be
Tried by a Military Panel, Wash. Post, Apr. 5, 2011, at Al; Charlie Savage, In a Reversal, Mili-
tary Trialsfor 9/11 Cases, N.Y. Times, Apr. 5, 2011, at AL

166. See Judge Dismisses 75, supra note 147.

167. Michadl B. Mukasey, United States v. Abdel Rahman: Preliminary Voir Dire (Jan. 9,
1995) [hereinafter Mukasey Preliminary Voir Dire]; see Bernstein, supra note 9; Blumenthal, su-
pra note 38; Gross, supra note 26, at 21 (“In every major terrorism trial that has taken place in the
Southern District [of New York], an anonymous jury has been used due to the heightened risk of
harm to potential jurors because of the nature of the crime at issue.”); Tabor, supra note 39; Wren,

National Security Case Management Sudies (11/14/2011) 19


http://www.defense

to the courthouse but to secret locations from which deputy marshals transported
them to court.*® When an alternate juror’s anonymity became at risk in the last
trial, Judge Duffy dismised the juror.'®®

Because of the anticipated lengths of the trials, Judge Duffy decided not to se-
quester the juries.*™ Judge Mukasey did not sequester the jurors during his trial
until it was time to deliberate, at which time he moved to a seven-days-per-week
schedule.*™

Both Judge Duffy and Judge Mukasey sought to provide the jurors with extra
comforts, such as meals and beverages.*

Challenge: Classified Evidence

In the seditious conspiracy trial, the government presented six classified exhibits
ex parte to Judge Mukasey, pursuant to the Classified Information Procedures Act
(CIPA).*" Judge Mukasey kept the exhibits in a safe while he considered whether
they had to be produced.”* He ruled which exhibit had to be disclosed to the de-
fendants, ordered that it not be disclosed to anyone else by the defendants, and
ordered that all of the exhibits be kept under seal with the classified information
security officer.'”

supra note 1 (“After the [first Yousef] trial ended, the jurors were whisked away in three vans
before reporters could approach them.”).

168. Mukasey Preliminary Voir Dire, supra note 167; Interview with Michael B. Mukasey,
June 25, 2007; Interview with Meghan Silhan, law clerk to Hon. Kevin Thomas Duffy, July 23,
2007.

169. See Benjamin Weiser, Trial Delayed for 2 Charged with Bombing Trade Center, N.Y.
Times, Aug. 5, 1997, at B3.

170. Interview with Meghan Silhan, law clerk to Hon. Kevin Thomas Duffy, July 23, 2007; see
Bernstein, supra note 9; Tabor, supra note 39.

171. Interview with Michael B. Mukasey, June 25, 2007.

172. Mukasey Preliminary Voir Dire, supra note 167; see Benjamin Weiser, Bomb Trial Judge
Triesto Put the Jury at Ease, N.Y. Times, Aug. 10, 1997, at 131.

173. United States v. Rahman, 870 F. Supp. 47, 49 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); Interview with Michael
B. Mukasey, June 25, 2007; see Gross, supra note 26, at 37; see also 18 U.S.C. app. 3; Robert
Timothy Reagan, Keeping Government Secrets: A Pocket Guide for Judges on the State-Secrets
Privilege, the Classified Information Procedures Act, and Court Security Officers (2007).

174. Interview with Michael B. Mukasey, June 25, 2007.

175. Rahman, 870 F. Supp. 47; see Gross, supra note 26, at 37 (reporting that only one of the
six documents had to be disclosed); Liptak, supra note 124 (“Judge Mukasey was concerned
throughout about balancing the defendants’ rights against national security. He ordered an array of
potential evidence to be disclosed to the defense, for instance, but drew the line at information he
said would needlessly compromise intelligence operations.”).
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Burma

Hornv. Huddle
(Royce C. Lamberth, D.D.C.)

On August 11, 1994, Richard A. Horn, who had been the country attaché in Bur-
ma for the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA), filed a civil action aleging
illegal surveillance of his telephone calls by the Department of State’s chief of
mission there and by a CIA officer, arising from disagreements over how much
credit Burma should have received for addressing drug enforcement issues.*”® The
U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia assigned the Case to Judge Harold
H. Greene.™"”

The complaint alleged that Horn “made substantial progress working in con-
cert with the Burmese government to improve its performances in addressing ma-
jor drug issues.”'"® Because of a “political and personal agenda to thwart and un-
dermine DEA’s mission in Burma,”*"® however, information that the defendants
provided to Congress and the President “was deliberately shaped to conform with
[a] political policy [that] in effect prevented [Burma] from accruing any credit for
its efforts or achievements.”*®

A week after the complaint was filed, the government moved to seal the case
in order to protect classified information from public disclosure.*® Judge Greene
granted the motion on August 29.'%

On September 12, 1996, Horn filed a class action complaint alleging a pattern
and practice of illegal surveillance of DEA agents,"® and that case, which remains
sealed,"® was dismissed in 2000.'®

176. Redacted Complaint, Horn v. Huddle, No. 1:94-cv-1756 (D.D.C. Aug. 11, 1994, refiled
June 9, 2009) [hereinafter Horn v. Huddle Complaint]; see In re Sealed Case, 494 F.3d 139, 141
(D.C. Cir. 2007); Horn v. Huddle, 699 F. Supp. 2d 236, 237 (D.D.C. 2010); Horn v. Huddle, 636
F. Supp. 2d 20, 21 (D.D.C. 2009); Docket Sheset, Horn, No. 1:94-cv-1756 (D.D.C. Aug. 11, 1994);
see also Mike Scarcella, DOJ Won't Open Classified Minds, Legal Times, Sept. 21, 2009, at 21;
Tim Weiner, Quit by Drug Agent Says U.S. Subverted His Burmese Efforts, N.Y. Times, Oct. 27,
1994, at A9.

177. Horn v. Huddle Complaint, supra note 176.

178.1d. at 6.

179.1d. at 3.

180. Id. at 6.

181. Sedling Mation, Horn, No. 1:94-cv-1756 (D.D.C. Aug. 19, 1994, refiled June 9, 2009)
(motion by U.S. Attorney Eric H. Holder, Jr., and Assistant U.S. Attorney John D. Bates).

182. Order, id. (Aug. 30, 1994, refiled June 9, 2009); see Horn v. Huddle, 636 F. Supp. 2d 20,
21 (D.D.C. 2009).

183. Horn v. Huddle, 636 F. Supp. 2d 10, 13 (D.D.C. 2009); Opinion at 3, Horn, No. 1:94-cv-
1756 (D.D.C. Aug. 15, 2000, refiled June 9, 2009).

184. Docket Sheet, Horn v. Christopher, No. 1:96-cv-2120 (D.D.C. Sept. 12, 1996) (sealed).

The complaint is filed unsealed in the record of Horn’s earlier action. Class Action Complaint,
Horn, No. 1:94-cv-1756 (D.D.C. Sept. 12, 1996, refiled June 9, 2009).

185. Inre Sealed Case, 494 F.3d 139, 141 n.1 (D.C. Cir. 2007).
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Horn’s Bivens action*®® claimed surveillance, in violation of the Fourth

Amendment, conducted to facilitate a transfer of Horn out of Burma.'®” On Feb-
ruary 10, 1997, Judge Greene denied the government’s motion to dismiss.*® In
1999, Judge Royce C. Lamberth assumed responsibility for the case because of
Judge Greene’sillness and death.™®

On July 28, 2004, Judge Lamberth granted the government’s motion to dis-
miss the case on state-secrets grounds.'® On June 29, 2007, the court of appeals
reversed, in part.®* The court ruled that the case could proceed against Franklin
Huddle, Jr., the chief of mission, but not against the CIA officer, whose identity
was classified."*

A government attorney, who began working on the case after the remand, dis-
covered and informed Judge Lamberth that since 2002 the CIA officer’s identity
had actually not been classified.™® In light of the remand and finding that “the
conduct of an attorney within the CIA’s office of general counsel in 2005 esca-
lated this case from one of simple misrepresentation to fraud on the court,”*%*
Judge Lamberth decided, on January 15, 2009, to give Horn an opportunity to
show how he could proceed using unprivileged material against both Huddle and
the CIA agent, Arthur Brown.'*

Initially, Judge Lamberth was told that Brown’s unclassified status did not
come to the attention of CIA attorneys until 2005, at which time it should have

186. See Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of the Fed. Bureau of Narcotis, 403 U.S. 388
(1971).

187. Inre Sealed Case, 494 F.3d at 141; see Scarcella, supra note 176 (“Horn was moved to a
DEA officein New Orleansin 1993”).

188. Opinion, Horn, No. 1:94-cv-1756 (Feb. 10, 1997, refiled June 9, 2009).

189. In re Sealed Case, 494 F.3d at 142 n.2; Notice, Horn, No. 1:94-cv-1756 (June 27, 1999,
refiled June 9, 2009); Federal Judicial Center Biographical Directory of Federal Judges, http://
note 176.

Tim Reagan interviewed Judge Lamberth for this report in the judge’s chambers on May 13,
2011.

190. Opinion, Horn, No. 1:94-cv-1756 (D.D.C. July 28, 2004, refiled June 9, 2009); see In re
Sealed Case, 494 F.3d at 142; Horn v. Huddle, 636 F. Supp. 2d 10, 13 (D.D.C. 2009); see Scarcel-
la, supra note 176; Too Secret? Rethinking Government Classification, The Kojo Nnamdi Show
(WAMU radio broadcast Aug. 15, 2011) [hereinafter Too Secret?].

191. Inre Sealed Case, 494 F.3d 139; see Scarcella, supra note 176.

192. In re Sealed Case, 494 F.3d 139; see Horn, 636 F. Supp. 2d at 13-14 & n.2; see Too Se-
cret?, supra note 190.

193. Horn, 636 F. Supp. 2d at 15; Opinion at 2 & n.2, Horn, No. 1:94-cv-1756 (D.D.C. Jan.
15, 20009, refiled June 9, 2009) [hereinafter Jan. 15, 2009, Opinion]; see Scarcella, supra note 176.

“And if you had simply Googled his name, you would have seen that he appeared on ‘The
Charlie Rose Show’ a couple of years before.” Too Secret?, supra note 190; see A Conversation
with Arthur Brown, Former CIA East Asia Division Chief About the Nuclear Program in North
Korea, Charlie Rose (PBS television broadcast June 17, 2005).

194. Jan. 15, 2009, Opinion, supra note 193, at 5; see Horn, 636 F. Supp. 2d at 15; see also
Scarcella, supra note 176.

195. Jan. 15, 2009, Opinion, supra note 193, at 12-13; see Horn, 636 F. Supp. 2d at 15.

22 National Security Case Management Sudies (11/14/2011)


http://www.fjc.gov/public/home.nsf/hisj

been brought to the attention of the court of appeals,**®® but after Judge Lamberth
ruled that the case against Brown might go forward, Brown informed the court
that he informed the CIA’s office of general counsel about his change in status
within afew months of its occurring.*”’

Judge Lamberth ordered the government to provide the court and the plaintiff
with an unclassified redacted version of every document filed so far in the still-
sealed case.'®® On June 9, 2009, the case was unsealed and public versions of all
documents filed before then were added to the case file.**®

On October 26, the case settled for $3 million.”® In cooperation with the At-
torney General, Judge Lamberth referred the evidence of possible misconduct by
CIA lawyers to the House of Representatives I ntelligence Committee.®*

Challenge: Classified Evidence

Judge Lamberth decided to apply to this civil case the principles of the Classified
Information Procedures Act (CIPA),?? which technically only applies to criminal
cases.”® Using CIPA procedures, the court determines what information must be
protected as classified and what unclassified substitutions—redactions, summa-
ries, or admissions—can be used so that the case can proceed.

The government appealed,?® and the case settled while the appeal was pend-
ing. As a condition of settlement, Judge Lamberth vacated his order calling for
CIPA-like procedures, noting that “a District Court’s opinions are non-
precedential and only persuasive authority” anyway, his opinions on the matter
had already been published in the Federal Supplement, and “[t]he reasoning is
unaltered, to the extent it is deemed persuasive by anyone.”*®

The state secrets privilege is a judicial doctrine, and when the Court evaluates the privi-

lege, its evaluation is not merely an academic exercise. When the privilege is denied, the

Court has the ability to order the information disclosed in litigation. Were the rule other-

196. Horn, 636 F. Supp. 2d at 13 n.2; Opinion at 3, Horn, No. 1:94-cv-1756 (D.D.C. Feb. 6,
2009, refiled June 9, 2009) [hereinafter Feb. 6, 2009, Opinion]; Jan. 15, 2009, Opinion, supra note
193, at 5-6.

197. Horn, 636 F. Supp. 2d at 13-14 n.2; Feb. 6, 2009, Opinion, supra note 196.

Although Judge Lamberth had been told that Brown’s name would forever be classified, his af-
filiation with the CIA was declassified so that he could cite his CIA experience in obtaining post-
retirement employement. Interview with Hon. Royce C. Lamberth, May 13, 2011.

198. Horn v. Huddle, 636 F. Supp. 2d 20, 21 (D.D.C. 2009); Horn, 636 F. Supp. 2d at 14.

199. Horn, 636 F. Supp. 2d at 21.

200. Horn v. Huddle, 699 F. Supp. 2d 236, 237-38 (D.D.C. 2010); Stipulation, Horn, No.
1:94-cv-1756 (D.D.C. Nov. 3, 2009); see U.S. to Pay $3 Million to Settle CIA Lawsuit, Wash.
Post, Nov. 5, 2009, at A12.

201. Interview with Hon. Royce C. Lamberth, May 13, 2011.

202. 18 U.S.C. app. 3.

203. Horn v. Huddle, 647 F. Supp. 2d 55, 59-60 (D.D.C. 2009); Horn, 636 F. Supp. 2d at 14,
18-19.

204. Horn, 636 F. Supp. 2d at 18-19; see Reagan, supra note 173, at 8-18 (describing CIPA
procedures).

205. Docket Sheet, Horn v. Huddle, No. 09-5311 (D.C. Cir. Sept. 3, 2009).

206. Horn v. Huddle, 699 F. Supp. 2d 236, 238 (D.C. Cir. 2010).
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wise, the Executive Branch could immediately ensure that the “state secrets privilege”

was successfully invoked simply by classifying information, and the Executive’s actions

would be beyond the purview of the judicial branch. Thiswould of course usurp the judi-

cial branch’s obligation “to say what the law is.”*’

Although the government determined that the plaintiff’s and defendants’ at-
torneys were eligible for security clearances, it determined that they did not have
a “need to know” classified information.?®® Judge Lamberth overruled that deter-
mination.?®

[T]he Executive must grant counsel for plaintiff and defendants, who have been favora-
bly adjudicated for access to classified information, security clearances commensurate
with the level of information known by their clients. . . . It isimportant to remember that
at this juncture, the plaintiff, defendants, and their counsel, only have a need-to-know the
classified and/or privileged information already known to them or to their clients for pur-
poses of allowing this lawsuit to proceed. If it is necessary to renew the security clear-
ances of the plaintiff and defendants themselves in order to implement the lawful discus-
sion of the information that will be contained in the filings in preparation of the CIPA-
like proceedings, the Executive must do that as well.?*

Challenge: Classified Arguments

Judge Lamberth ordered all filings made after the case became unsealed that
might include classified information to be filed with a classified information secu-
rity officer; redacted versions were filed on the public docket after a classification
review.”

207. Horn, 647 F. Supp. 2d at 62-63.

208. Id. at 63 n.11, 65 n.18; see Scarcella, supra note 176.

209. See Scarcella, supra note 176.

210. Horn, 647 F. Supp. 2d at 66; see Scarcella, supra note 176 (“The twist is that the classi-
fied information at issue resides in the memories of the plaintiff and the defendants themselves.
(Lamberth’s order does not compel the government to turn over documents.)”).

211. Horn v. Huddle, 636 F. Supp. 2d 20, 22-23 (D.D.C. 20009).

24 National Security Case Management Sudies (11/14/2011)



Kenya and Tanzania

United Satesv. El-Hage (Leonard B. Sand,
Kevin Thomas Duffy, and Lewis A. Kaplan, SD.N.Y.)?*
Bombs exploded outside the United States embassies in Nairobi, Kenya, and Dar
es Salaam, Tanzania, on August 7, 1998, killing 224 people, including 12 Ameri-
cans.”*® Eleven non-American deaths occurred in Tanzania; the other deaths oc-
curred in Kenya '

Nair obi

Pakistani authorities arrested Mohammed Saddiq Odeh on the day of the bomb-
ings for traveling with a fraudulent passport,”* and he quickly became a suspect

212. An appea was heard by Second Circuit Judges Wilfred Feinberg, Jon O. Newman, and
José A. Cabranes.

For this report, on November 4, 2009, Tim Reagan interviewed Judge Newman in Judge
Newman’s Hartford chambers, and Judge Cabranes and his law clerk Matt McKenzie in Judge
Cabranes’s New Haven chambers.

213. The 9/11 Commission Report 70 (2004); In re Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassies in
East Africa, 552 F.3d 93, 104 (2d Cir. 2008); United States v. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d 515, 521
(S.D.N.Y. 2010); United States v. Bin Laden, 397 F. Supp. 2d 465, 473 (S.D.N.Y. 2005); United
States v. Bin Laden, 156 F. Supp. 2d 359, 362 (S.D.N.Y. 2001); United States v. El-Hage, 213
F.3d 74, 77 (2d Cir. 2000); United States v. Bin Laden, 91 F. Supp. 2d 600, 604, 606 (S.D.N.Y.
2000); United States v. Bin Laden, 92 F. Supp. 2d 225, 231 (S.D.N.Y. 2000); see Rick Lyman,
Texans Cell Terror Suspect Apolitical, N.Y. Times, Sept. 20, 1998, at 126; James C. McKinley,
Jr., Bombs Rip Apart 2 U.S. Embassies in Africa, N.Y. Times, Aug. 8, 1998, at A1, see also Sou-
fan, supra note 64, at 14 (reporting that the bombings occurred two months after an ABC inter-
view with Osama Bin Laden in which Bin Laden threatened, “We anticipate a black future for
America. Instead of remaining United States, it shall end up separated states and shall have to car-
ry the bodies of its sons back to America.”).

The leadership decided that the attacks would occur on Friday, August 7, 1998, at 10:30
am., the time of day when Muslims are meant to be in the mosque at prayer. Therefore, a-
Qaeda’s theologians argued, anyone killed in the bombing could not be a real Muslim, as he
wasn’t at prayer, and so his death would be an acceptable consequence.
Soufan, supra note 64, at 78.

An account of the bombings and the prosecution of the bombers was prepared by an American
anthropologist who survived the blast in Tanzania, but whose Kenyan husband died waiting for
her outside the embassy. Susan F. Hirsch, In the Moment of Greatest Calamity: Terrorism, Grief,
and aVictim’s Quest for Justice (2006).

214. See Raymond Bonner, Tanzania Charges Two in Bombing of American Embassy, N.Y.
Times, Sept. 22, 1998, at A6; Soufan, supra note 64, at 80.

215. In re Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassies in East Africa, 552 F.3d 177, 185 (2d Cir.
2008); In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 104; United States v. Bin Laden, 132 F. Supp. 2d
198 (S.D.N.Y. 2001); see Raymond Bonner, Pakistan Arrests Two New Suspects in Embassy
Blasts, N.Y. Times, Aug. 19, 1998, at A1; Bonner, supra note 214; Soufan, supra note 64, at 88
(“Pakistani authorities had noticed that the picture on his passport was fraudulent”).
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in the Nairobi bombing.?*® Kenyan authorities arrested Mohamed Rashed Daoud
al->’Owhali on August 12, 1998, as another suspect in the bombing.?” Al->Owhali
admitted driving the bomb to the embassy in Kenya.®® Later that month, the sus-
pects were moved to New Y ork,? and they were indicted on October 7.7 The
Unitengtates decided to seek the death penalty against a-’Owhali but not
Odeh.

The government identified Haroun Fazil as another suspect in the Nairobi
bombing.? It is believed that he drove a pickup truck to lead the vehicle carrying
the bomb to the embassy.?”® The government offered a $2 million reward for in-
formation leading to his arrest, but he has not been apprehended.?*

216. Inre Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 185 (noting that one week after detention in Pakis-
tan, Odeh was transferred to Kenyan authorities); see David Johnston, U.S. Says Suspect Does Not
Admit Role in Bombings or Tiesto Saudi, N.Y. Times, Aug. 18, 1998, at A7.

217. In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 181; In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 105;
United States v. Bin Laden, 132 F. Supp. 2d 168, 173-74 (S.D.N.Y. 2001); see David Johnston,
Blast Suspect Held in U.S. and |s Said to Admit Role, N.Y. Times, Aug. 28, 1998, at Al; Soufan,
supra note 64, at 85-87, 92.

218. See Johnston, supra note 217; see also In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 182 (noting
that al->’Owhali’s cooperation was contingent on his being tried in the United States, which he re-
garded as his enemy, instead of in Kenya, which he did not).

The court denied a motion to suppress this confession. Bin Laden, 132 F. Supp. 2d at 192-98;
see Benjamin Weiser, Judge Extends Legal Rights Beyond U.S,, N.Y. Times, Feb. 17, 2001, at B1;
Benjamin Weiser, Kenya Satements in Terrorism Case Allowed by Judge, N.Y. Times, Jan. 30,
2001, at Al

219. Inre Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 105; Bin Laden, 132 F. Supp. 2d at 205; Bin Laden,
132 F. Supp. 2d at 178; see Dan Barry, With Suspect in Town, Giuliani Steps Up Security, N.Y.
Times, Aug. 28, 1998, at A6; David Johnston, Charges Against 2d Suspect Detail Trial of Terror-
ists, N.Y. Times, Aug. 29, 1998, at A4; Soufan, supra note 64, at 90, 94.

220. In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 102; United States v. Bin Laden, 91 F. Supp. 2d
600, 606 (S.D.N.Y. 2000); see United States v. Bin Laden, 92 F. Supp. 2d 225, 231 (S.D.N.Y.
2000) (noting first court appearances on Oct. 8, 1998); see also H.L. Pohiman, Terrorism and the
Constitution 38-39 (2008) (discussing types of extraterritorial jurisdiction over crimes committed
abroad).

221. Inre Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 105, 109; United States v. Bin Laden, 126 F. Supp.
2d 290 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (noting June 28, 2000, filing of death penalty notice); United Statesv. Bin
Laden, 126 F. Supp. 2d 256 (S.D.N.Y. 2000); see Benjamin Weiser, 4 Guilty in Terror Bombings
of 2 U.S Embassies in Africa, N.Y. Times, May 30, 2001, at Al [hereinafter 4 Guilty] (reporting
that prosecutors did not explain why they did not seek the death penalty against Odeh); Benjamin
Weliser, Defendant in Bombings Faking Iliness, Judge Is Told, N.Y. Times, Dec. 12, 2000, at B3
[hereinafter Faking Iliness]; Benjamin Weiser, U.S. to Seek Death Penalty for 2d Defendant in
Blasts, N.Y. Times, June 14, 2000, at B3 [hereinafter 2d Death Penalty]; Benjamin Weiser, U.S.
to Seek Death Penalty in Bombings, N.Y. Times, May 10, 2000, at B1.

222. See Benjamin Weiser, 2 New Suspects Linked by U.S. to Terror Case, N.Y. Times, Sept.
18, 1998, at Al [hereinafter 2 New Suspects]; Benjamin Weiser, A Bin Laden Agent Left Angry
Record of Gripes and Fears, N.Y. Times, Dec. 2, 1998, at A1l [hereinafter Angry Record].

223. See Weiser, 2 New Suspects, supra note 222; Weiser, Angry Record, supra note 222.

224. See Weiser, 2 New Suspects, supra note 222; Weiser, Angry Record, supra note 222; Ben-
jamin Weiser, U.S. Charges Ex-Soldier, Calling Him Plotter with Bin Laden, N.Y. Times, May
20, 1999, at A12 [hereinafter U.S. Charges Ex-Soldier].
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On September 16, 1998, Wadih el-Hage, a naturalized U.S. citizen and resi-
dent of Arlington, Texas, who once shared a house with Fazil in Nairobi and who
once was Osama Bin Laden’s personal secretary, was arrested immediately after
testifying before a grand jury.?® El-Hage, who aso testified before a grand jury
about Bin Laden’s activities a year earlier, was charged with making false state-
ments to investigators and the grand jury.??® On October 7, charges against him
were broadened to include conspiracy to kill American citizens.?’

The U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York assigned the
case to Judge Leonard B. Sand.?®

On October 24, 2000, el-Hage tried to plead guilty, but the court did not ac-
cept his plea, because Judge Sand determined that el-Hage was pleading guilty to
avoid the strip searches required every time he came to court rather than because
he believed he was guilty.?

Dar es Salaam

On September 21, 1998, the government of Tanzania charged Mustafa Mahmoud
Said Ahmed and Rashid Saleh Hemed with the bombing of the American embas-

225. Inre Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 104; United States v. El-Hage, 213 F.3d 74, 77 (2d
Cir. 2000); Bin Laden, 91 F. Supp. 2d at 606; Bin Laden, 92 F. Supp. 2d at 231; Docket Shest,
United States v. El Hage, No. 1:98-cr-1023 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 21, 1998) [hereinafter S.D.N.Y. El
Hage Docket Sheet]; see Lyman, supra note 213; Weiser, 2 New Suspects, supra note 222; see
also The 9/11 Commission Report 56 (2004) (“Hage was a U.S. citizen who had worked with Bin
Ladin in Afghanistan in the 1980s, and in 1992 he went to Sudan to become one of a Qaeda’s
major financial operatives.”).

226. El-Hage, 213 F.3d at 77; Bin Laden, 91 F. Supp. 2d at 605-07 (noting that el-Hage ap-
peared before the grand jury on Sept. 24, 1997); Bin Laden, 92 F. Supp. 2d at 231; S.D.N.Y. El
Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225 (noting criminal complaint filed on Sept. 17, 1998); Trying
Cases Related to Allegations of Terrorism: Judges’ Roundtable, 77 Fordham L. Rev. 1, 12 (2008)
[hereinafter Trying Cases]; see Lyman, supra note 213; Weiser, 2 New Suspects, supra note 222,

Judge Sand ultimately decided that el-Hage could not be prosecuted in the Southern District of
New York for false statements made to FBI agents in Texas. United States v. Bin Laden, 146 F.
Supp. 2d 373 (S.D.N.Y. 2001).

227. In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 105; Bin Laden, 91 F. Supp. 2d at 605; see Benja-
min Weiser, U.S. Closer to Tying Bin Laden to Embassy Bombings, N.Y. Times, Oct. 8, 1998, at
A3.

228. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225; United States v. Salim, 549 F.3d 67, 70
(2d Cir. 2008); see Benjamin Weiser, U.S. May Ask Death Penalty in Embassy Bombings, N.Y.
Times, Oct. 9, 1998, at A10.

Tim Reagan interviewed Judge Sand for this report in the judge’s chambers on June 25, 2007.

The case originally was assigned to Judge John E. Sprizzo, S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Shest,
supra note 225, but Judge Sprizzo recused himself because he previously provided representation
to Libya, see Benjamin Weiser, U.S. Asks British to Deliver Suspected Bin Laden Aide, N.Y.
Times, Sept. 29, 1998, at A10 [hereinafter Deliver Aide].

229. SD.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225; see Benjamin Weiser, Judge Rejects
Guilty Pleain Bomb Plot, N.Y. Times, Oct. 25, 2000, at B1.
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sy in Dar es Sdaam.”° Tanzania dropped charges against Ahmed in March
2000.2! After a four-year tria, Tanzania’s High Court ruled in 2004 that the evi-
dence did not support a conviction against Hemed. >

Khalfan Khamis Mohamed was arrested in Cape Town, South Africa, on Oc-
tober 5, 1999, flown to New Y ork, and arraigned on October 8 for participation in
the Dar es Salaam bombing.?*® His attorney admitted at trial that K.K. Mohamed
helped assemble the bomb.?** The United States decided to seek the death penalty
against him.?* South Africa’s Constitutional Court, its highest court, subsequent-
ly ruled that it was improper to turn Mohamed over to the United States for a
capital trial.>*® Judge Sand ruled that the decision by the South African court did
not invalidate Mohamed’s capital prosecution, but Mohamed could offer the deci-
sion as mitigating evidence.”’

A Larger Plot

Osama Bin Laden was included in a November 4, 1998, superseding indict-
ment, % but he remained a fugitive until his killing by U.S. forces in 2011.%° Fa-

230. See Bonner, supra note 214; see also James Risen & Benjamin Weiser, Before Bombings,
Omens and Fears, N.Y. Times, Jan. 9, 1999, at A1 (reporting that in 1997 Ahmed warned the
American embassy in Kenya of abomb plot).

231. See Charges Dropped in an Embassy Bombing, N.Y. Times, Mar. 20, 2000, at A5.

232. See Marc Lacey, Tanzania Releases Man Held in '98 Bombing, N.Y. Times, Dec. 23,
2004, at A11.

233. United States v. Bin Laden, 91 F. Supp. 2d 600, 604 n.3 (S.D.N.Y. 2000); United States
v. Bin Laden, 92 F. Supp. 2d 225, 231 (S.D.N.Y. 2000); see Benjamin Weiser, Man Charged in
Bombing of U.S Embassy in Africa, N.Y. Times, Oct. 9, 1999, at A4.

After the bombings, Mohamed fled Tanzania; he arrived in South Africa on August 16, 1998.
United States v. Bin Laden, 156 F. Supp. 2d 359, 362 (S.D.N.Y. 2001). He used fraudulent docu-
ments and a false name to request political asylum, and he was arrested when the fraud was dis-
covered. Id.

234. See Hirsch, supra note 213, at 69, 81 (reporting also that Mohamed was known as
“K.K.”); Benjamin Weiser, Suspect Admits Helping Make Embassy Bomb, N.Y. Times Feb. 6,
2001, at A1 (reporting that Mohamed’s attorney made the concession during opening arguments);
see also Bin Laden, 156 F. Supp. 2d at 362-63 (“During interrogation by American officials on
October 5 and 6, 1999, Khalfan Mohamed admitted to playing arole in the August 7, 1998, bomb-
ing of the American Embassy in Dar es Salaam.”).

Judge Sand denied Mohamed’s motion to suppress his admission to arresting authorities. Bin
Laden, 156 F. Supp. 2d at 363.

235. United States v. Bin Laden, 126 F. Supp. 2d 290 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (noting June 27, 2000,
filing of a death penalty notice); United Statesv. Bin Laden, 126 F. Supp. 2d 256 (S.D.N.Y. 2000)
(denying a claim that the death penalty certification was race-based); see Weiser, Faking Iliness,
supra note 221; Weiser, 2d Death Penalty, supra note 221.

236. Bin Laden, 156 F. Supp. 2d at 361 & n.1; see Hirsch, supra note 213, at 228; Benjamin
Weliser, South Africa Regrets Its Role in a Defendant’s Extradition, N.Y. Times, May 31, 2001, at
B4 (reporting that the May 28, 2001, ruling “came too late to do Mr. Mohamed any good”).

237. Bin Laden, 156 F. Supp. 2d 359; see Hirsch, supra note 213, at 228-29.

238. The 9/11 Commission Report 128 (2004); see Soufan, supra note 64, at 72; Benjamin
Weiser, Saudi Is Indicted in Bomb Attacks on U.S. Embassies, N.Y. Times, Nov. 5, 1998, at A1.

Bin Laden was indicted two months before the embassy bombings, on June 10, 1998, for a
1993 killing of 18 American soldiers in Mogadishu, Somalia. Docket Sheet, United States v. Bin
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zul Abdullah Mohammed came to be regarded as the bombings’ mastermind, and
he was killed afirefight in 2011 when he mistakenly came upon a security check-
point in Mogadishu, Somalia, and tried to flee.?*

Mamdouh Mahmud Salim, Osama Bin Laden’s finance manager, was sus-
pected of organizing the embassy bombings and was arrested in Munich, Germa-
ny, on September 16, 1998.%** German authorities handed him over to the U.S.
government on December 20 on condition that he not face the death penalty.?*
He first appeared before the district court on December 21.2** The government
charged him with four broad conspiracy counts.**

Khalid al-Fawwaz, who was reportedly a close friend of Osama Bin Laden’s
and who ran Al-Qaeda’s media operations, was arrested by British authorities in
September 1998.2* On June 19, 1999, the U.S. government indicted him for hav-
ing ahand in the 1998 bombings.?*® At the United States’ request, British authori-
ties also arrested Ibrahim Hussein Eidarous and Adel Mohammed Abdul Bary on

Laden, No. 1:98-cr-539 (S.D.N.Y. June 10, 1998); The 9/11 Commission Report 110 (2004); see
Soufan, supra note 64, at 72; Benjamin Weiser, Prosecutors Are Expected to Seek Dismissal of All
Charges, N.Y. Times, May 4, 2011, at A11.

239. Nolle Prosequi, United States v. El Hage, No. 1:98-cr-1023 (S.D.N.Y. June 17, 2011)
(voluntarily dismissing indictments against Bin Laden); see Peter Baker & Helene Cooper, Bin
Laden Killed by U.S. Forces in Pakistan, Obama Says, Declaring Justice Has Been Done, N.Y.
Times, May 2, 2011, at A1; Nicholas Schmidle, Getting Bin Laden, New Y orker, Aug. 8, 2011, at
34; Soufan, supra note 64, at 532-36; Dana Priest Priest & William M. Arkin, Top Secret Ameri-
ca 256-61 (2011); Benjamin Weiser, Federal Court Drops Charges Against Bin Laden, N.Y.
Times, June 18, 2011, at A9; Scott Wilson & Craig Whitlock, U.S. Forces Kill Osama Bin Laden,
Wash. Post, May 2, 2011, at Al

240. See Jeffrey Gettleman, Somalis Kill Man Behind Bombings of U.S. Embassies, N.Y.
Times, June 12, 2011, at A1 (reporting that Mohammed “was one of the most wanted men in Afri-
ca and had a $5 million bounty on his head from the United States government”); Susan Ragha-
van, Alleged Plotter of 1998 Embassy Attacks Is Killed, Wash. Post, June 12, 2011, at A1 (report-
ing that “Mohammed had topped the FBI’s most-wanted list for nearly 13 years”).

241. United States v. Bin Laden, 160 F. Supp. 2d 670, 674 (S.D.N.Y. 2001); United States v.
Bin Laden, 92 F. Supp. 2d 225, 231 (S.D.N.Y. 2000); S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note
225 (noting Sept. 14, 1998, complaint and arrest warrant against Salim); see Benjamin Weiser,
Judge Orders Embassy Bomb Suspect Held Without Bail, N.Y. Times, Dec. 22, 1998, at B6 [he-
reinafter Held Without Bail]; Benjamin Weiser, U.S. Says Bin Laden Aide Tried to Get Nuclear
Material, N.Y. Times, Sept. 26, 1998, at A3 [hereinafter Nuclear Material].

Judge Sand denied Salim’s motion to suppress statements made while detained in Germany.
Bin Laden, 160 F. Supp. 2d 670; see Court Won't Suppress Satement in Bombing, N.Y. Times,
Aug. 25, 2001, at B3.

242. Bin Laden, 156 F. Supp. 2d at 370; see Weiser, Held Without Bail, supra note 241.

243. Bin Laden, 92 F. Supp. 2d at 231.

244, See Weiser, Held Without Bail, supra note 241; Weiser, Nuclear Material, supra note 241
(reporting the unsealing of charges on Sept. 25, 1998).

245, See Andrew Jacobs, U.S. Indicts 2 More Men in Bombing of Embassies, N.Y. Times, June
17, 1999, at A17; Weiser, Angry Record, supra note 222; Weiser, Deliver Aide, supra note 228;
Craig Whitlock, Extradition of Terror Suspects Founders, Wash. Post, Dec. 21, 2008, at A1

246. See Jacobs, supra note 245.
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July 11, 1999.% Britain’s House of Lords ruled on December 17, 2001, that these
three suspects could be extradited to the United States,®*® but the extradition has
not yet happened.?*® Eidarous died of leukemia on July 16, 2008, while under
house arrest in London.?®

Ali A. Mohamed, a former sergeant in the U.S. Army, who previously was a
major in Egypt’s army, was secretly charged with Al-Qaeda conspiracies in Sep-
tember 1998.>" He was formally indicted on May 19, 1999, after he refused to
cooperate in the tracking down of Osama Bin Laden, and he first appeared in
court on May 27.%2 On October 20, 2000, he agreed to plead guilty.?*® According
to aformer FBI agent, “To date he is awaiting sentencing and is being held in a
secure |ocation.”*

Mohamed Suleiman a-Nalfi was lured from his home in Sudan and appre-
hended in Kenya in late 2000 by the United States.™ He was held in secret for
more than four months before charges against him were made public.?*® In early

247. See David Rohde, U.S. Says It Has Fingerprints of Embassy Bombing Suspects, N.Y.
Times, July 13, 1999, at A6; Whitlock, supra note 245; see also Soufan, supra note 64, at 98 (“Al-
though we had urged the British to arrest Fawwaz, Bary, and Eidarous in 1996, they had re-
fused.”).

248. See Warren Hoge, Court Approves Extraditions in Bombings of U.S. Embassies, N.Y.
Times, Dec. 18, 2001; Whitlock, supra note 245.

249. See Craig Whitlock, Britain Pays to Keep Suspects from U.S. Hands, Wash. Post, May 2,
2009, at A9; Whitlock, supra note 245.

250. Nolle Prosequi, United Statesv. El Hage, No. 1:98-cr-1023 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 3, 2008); see
Whitlock, supra note 245.

251. See Soufan, supra note 64, at 94; Benjamin Weiser, U.S. Ex-Sergeant Linked to Bin La-
den Conspiracy, N.Y. Times, Oct. 30, 1998, at Al; see also The 9/11 Commission Report 68
(2004) (describing Ali Mohamed as “a former Egyptian army officer who had moved to the Unit-
ed States in the mid-1980s, enlisted in the U.S. Army, and became an instructor at Fort Bragg”);
Benjamin Weiser & James Risen, A Soldier ’'s Shadowy Trail in U.S. and in the Mideast, N.Y.
Times, Dec. 1, 1998, at A1 (reporting that Mohamed applied to be a CIA agent in 1984).

252. United States v. Bin Laden, 92 F. Supp. 2d 225, 231 (S.D.N.Y. 2000); see Benjamin
Weliser, Indicted Ex-Sergeant Says He Knows Who Bombed U.S. Embassies, N.Y. Times, June 5,
1999, at A3 (reporting that Mohamed was also known as Abu Omar); Weiser, U.S. Charges Ex-
Soldier, supra note 224.

253. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225; see Benjamin Weiser, Bin Laden Linked
to Embassy Blast by an Ex-Soldier, N.Y. Times, Oct. 21, 2000, at Al

Mohamed was not called as awitness at the trial of the other defendants. See Benjamin Welser,
Lawyers Seeking to Expose Plea Deal in Bombings Case, N.Y. Times, May 6, 2001, at 151.

254. Soufan, supra note 64, at 94.

255. See Benjamin Weiser, Qaeda Member Pleads Guilty to 1990s Conspiracy Charge, N.Y.
Times, Feb. 1, 2003, at A13 [hereinafter Qaeda Member]; Benjamin Weiser, Terror Suspect Held
Secretly for 4 Months, N.Y. Times, Mar. 22, 2001, at B1 [hereinafter Held Secretly].

256. See Weiser, Qaeda Member, supra note 255; Weiser, Held Secretly, supra note 255.
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2002\35é he pleaded guilty®’ and was sentenced to 10 years and one month in pris-
on.

Among the 25 defendants indicted in the U.S. prosecution, many of whom
remain fugitives, is Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani.*® He was not captured until a raid
on his home in Pakistan in the summer of 2004.”° He was held in secret CIA
prisons until September 2006, when he was transferred to Guantanamo Bay.**
The U.S. government announced on March 31, 2008, that it would try Ghailani by
military commission,?? but the following year the government decided to try him
in the Southern District of New Y ork instead.?®® On January 25, 2011, he was sen-
tenced to lifein prison for conspiracy to destroy buildings.**

A Prison Guard Is Stabbed

On November 1, 2000, Salim stabbed a prison guard with a sharpened comb when
the guard escorted Salim back to retrieve some documents from the cell that Sa-
lim shared with K.K. Mohamed.?®

257. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225 (noting Jan. 31, 2003, guilty plea); Inre
Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassies in East Africa, 552 F.3d 93, 138 (2d Cir. 2008) (noting
February 2003 conviction); see Weiser, Qaeda Member, supra note 255.

258. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225; see Benjamin Weiser, 10 Years for al
Qaeda Operative, N.Y. Times, Feb. 25, 2003, at B4 (reporting a sentence of 10 years).

259. United States v. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d 515, 518 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); S.D.N.Y. El Hage
Docket Sheet, supra note 225; see William Glaberson, Guantanamo Detainee, Indicted in '98,
Now Faces War Crimes Charges, N.Y. Times, Apr. 1, 2008, at A14.

260. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d at 518; United States v. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d 508, 509
(S.D.N.Y. 2010); United States v. Ghailani, 686 F. Supp. 2d 279, 283-84 (S.D.N.Y. 2009); see
Glaberson, supra note 259; Josh White & Joby Warrick, Detainee |Is Charged with Capital Mur-
der in Embassy Bombing, Wash. Post, Apr. 1, 2008, at A2.

261. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d at 518, 523-24; Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d at 509-10; United
States v. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d 502, 503 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); Ghailani, 686 F. Supp. 2d at 283
84; see Glaberson, supra note 259; White & Warrick, supra note 260.

262. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d at 525; see Glaberson, supra note 259; White & Warrick, supra
note 260.

263. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d at 518, 526; Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d at 503; Ghailani, 686 F.
Supp. 2d at 284; see William Glaberson, Detainee to Be Transferred to U.S. for Trial, N.Y. Times,
May 22, 2009, at A16; Benjamin Weiser, A Row Over Who Will Represent Guantanamo Detainee,
N.Y. Times, June 2, 2009, at A17.

264. Judgment, Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 25, 2011) [hereinafter Ghailani
Judgment]; see Peter Finn, Embassy Bomber Receives Life Sentence, Wash. Post, Jan. 26, 2011, at
A2; Benjamin Weiser, Life Sentence Without Parole for Former Detainee, N.Y. Times, Jan. 26,
2011, at A18.

265. In re Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassies in East Africa, 552 F.3d 93, 150 (2d Cir.
2008); United States v. Salim, 549 F.3d 67, 70 (2d Cir. 2008); United States v. Salim, 287 F.
Supp. 2d 250, 259 (S.D.N.Y. 2003); United States v. Bin Laden, 160 F. Supp. 2d 670, 673
(S.D.N.Y. 2001); see Benjamin Weiser, 2 in Terror Case Suspected in Sabbing of Guard at Fed-
eral Jail, N.Y. Times, Nov. 2, 2000, at B7; Benjamin Weiser, Quandary in Terror Case, N.Y.
Times, Nov. 12, 2000, at 139 [hereinafter Quandary].

The government argued that the stabbing was part of a plot to escape by taking hostages, but
the court found that the motive was to enable an attack on defense counsel so that they would be
dismissed. Salim, 287 F. Supp. 2d 250; see Benjamin Weiser, Government Says Attack on Guard
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When the defendants met with their attorneys, they were escorted from their cells to the
place where they met with the attorneys and were escorted back. Defendant Salim was
escorted back by a corrections officer who was well known to be kind. Protocol would
have called for the inmate, the defendant, to be put into the cell, the cell to be locked,
with the corrections officer outside the cell, the defendant still handcuffed. Then the de-
fendant was to put his hands through an opening left for that purpose and the cuffs to be
removed.

Well, Officer Louis Pepe didn’t follow that protocol and took the handcuffs off Sa-
lim while he was till in the cell. Salim had taken a plastic comb and honed it into a knife
and stabbed the corrections officer and inflicted a permanent brain injury to him.*®®

Because Salim’s attorneys were both witnesses to the stabbing and potential
targets, the court discontinued their representation of Salim and severed his prose-
cution from the other defendants’ trial, which was scheduled to begin only two
months later.**” Both Salim and K.K. Mohamed were transferred to other jails*®
but only Salim was charged with the stabbing.?®® The court assigned the prosecu-
tion of Salim for the stabbing to Judge Deborah A. Batts.?"

Salim pleaded guilty on April 3, 2002, to attempted murder.?”* Judge Batts
sentenced him to 32 years in prison,?’? but the court of appeals concluded that a

Was Part of Escape Plan, N.Y. Times, Dec. 21, 2000, at B3 [hereinafter Escape Plan] (reporting
on an aleged “elaborate plot to take defense lawyers hostage to get themselves and possibly other
prisoners freed”); see also Benjamin Weiser, Man Called a Qaeda Founder Denies a Terror Link
to Assault, N.Y. Times, Sept. 5, 2002, at A20 (reporting Salim’s one-time claim that “he wanted to
break out and go to the United Nations to proclaim his innocence™).

At K.K. Mohamed’s sentencing hearing, “[a] neurosurgeon testified [that the guard] suffered
severe brain damage and lost much of his ability to see and communicate. He also suffered a
stroke after surgery, the doctor said, and has partial paralysisin an arm and leg.” Benjamin Weis-
er, Doctor Details Injuries Left in Jail Attack, N.Y. Times, June 26, 2001, at B4 [hereinafter Doc-
tor Details Injuries].

266. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 13-14.

267. Bin Laden, 160 F. Supp. 2d at 673; Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 12; see Hirsch, supra
note 213, at 213; Weiser, Quandary, supra note 265.

268. See Benjamin Weiser, Judge Orders Confiscation of Papers in Terrorism Case, N.Y.
Times, Nov. 29, 2000, at B4.

269. Bin Laden, 160 F. Supp. 2d at 673; see Weiser, Escape Plan, supra note 265.

Although the government did not charge Mohamed with participation in the stabbing, in an ef-
fort to persuade his sentencing jury to have him executed, the government argued that he partici-
pated in the stabbing. See Weiser, Doctor Details Injuries, supra note 265.

270. Salim, 549 F.3d at 70; Bin Laden, 160 F. Supp. 2d at 673 n.5; Docket Sheet, United States
v. Salim, No. 1:01-cr-2 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 3, 2001) [hereinafter S.D.N.Y. Salim Docket Sheet]; see
Benjamin Weiser, Terror Suspect Failsin Effort to Move Other Trial, N.Y. Times, Mar. 31, 2001,
at B6.

271. Salim, 549 F.3d at 70; United States v. Salim, 287 F. Supp. 2d 250, 259 (S.D.N.Y. 2003);
S.D.N.Y. Salim Docket Sheet, supra note 270; see Robert F. Worth, Man Admits Murder Attempt,
N.Y. Times, Apr. 4, 2002, at B5.

272. Salim, 549 F.3d at 70; S.D.N.Y. Salim Docket Shest, supra note 270 (also noting ordered
restitution of $4,722,820); see Salim, 287 F. Supp. 2d 250 (finding facts for sentence calculation);
see also Susan Saulny, As Attacker |s Sentenced, Victim Vents Disgust and Is Ejected, N.Y. Times,
May 4, 2004, at B3 (reporting that Judge Batts had to gject the victim from the court for disruptive
behavior).
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terrorism enhancement did not require transnational conduct,?”® so Judge Batts
resentenced Salim to life.*™

TheMain Trial

The trial against Odeh, al-’Owhali, el-Hage, and K.K. Mohamed began with jury
selection on January 3, 2001.2” With the help of ajury questionnaire, Judge Sand
screened a jury pool of 1,302 people.””® Opening arguments began a month later,
on February 5.7’ Both Arabic and Kiswahili interpreters were required.?’®

Many survivors of the bombings attended the trial, wearing lapel pins pro-
vided by a victims’ advocate showing a map of Africa with Kenya and Tanzania
highlighted.?”® The pins helped the deputy marshals identify victims for appropri-
ate seating, but Judge Sand ordered that the pins not be worn after defense coun-
sel argued that they would improperly influence the jurors.”®

Closing arguments began on May 1,%%! and the jury began its deliberations on
May 10.%? All four defendants were convicted of all charges on May 29.%%

273. Salim, 549 F.3d 67 (resolving United States v. Salim, No. 04-2643 (2d Cir. Apr. 7,

2004)), cert. denied,  U.S. _ , 130 S. Ct. 325 (2009); see Benjamin Weiser, Panel Rules Jail
Sabhing Constituted Terrorism, N.Y. Times, Dec. 3, 2008, at A28.

274. S.D.N.Y. Salim Docket Sheet, supra note 270; see Benjamin Weiser, Reputed Bin Laden
Adviser Gets Life Termin Sabbing, N.Y. Times, Sept. 1, 2010, at A18.

275. Inre Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassiesin East Africa, 552 F.3d 93, 102, 106 (2d Cir.
2008); United States v. Bin Laden, 156 F. Supp. 2d 359, 363 (S.D.N.Y. 2001); United States v.
Bin Laden, 132 F. Supp. 2d 168, 172 (S.D.N.Y. 2001); S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra
note 225; Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 12; see Benjamin Weiser, First Day of Jury Selection
in U.S Embassy Bomhings, N.Y. Times, Jan. 3, 2001, at B3; see also Anthony D. Romero & Dina
Temple-Raston, In Defense of Our America 1 (2007) (describing the case as “the United States of
America’s first comprehensive attempt to prosecute the growing menace of Islamic extremismin a
court of law™).

276. Leonard B. Sand, United States v. El Hage: Jury Questionnaire (Jan. 3, 2001); Trying
Cases, supra note 226, at 12; Interview with Hon. Leonard B. Sand, June 25, 2007; see Alan Feu-
er, Jury Questionnaire Fillsin a Few Blanks, N.Y. Times, Feb. 8, 2001, at B8.

According to Judge Sand, the questionnaire and voir dire caused many jurors to assume that
the court would tell them what penalty would go with each crime, and did not make clear that ul-
timate decisions on the death penalty would be for the jury to make. Interview with Hon. Leonard
B. Sand, June 25, 2007.

277. Inre Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 102, 106; Bin Laden, 156 F. Supp. 2d at 363.

278. Interview with Hon. Leonard B. Sand, June 25, 2007.

279. See Hirsch, supra note 213, at 72.

280. Seeid. at 72-73.

281. See Benjamin Weiser, Conspiracy by Bin Laden Is Described, N.Y. Times, May 2, 2001,
at B1.

282. See Jury Gets Terror Case, N.Y. Times, May 11, 2001, at B6; Hirsch, supra note 213, at
177 (reporting that jury deliberations were interrupted by dental work and a house closing).

283. Inre Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassies in East Africa, 552 F.3d 93, 101-02, 107 (2d
Cir. 2008); United States v. Bin Laden, 397 F. Supp. 2d 465, 473 (S.D.N.Y. 2005); United States
v. Bin Laden, 160 F. Supp. 2d 670, 673 n.5 (S.D.N.Y. 2001); United States v. Bin Laden, 156 F.
Supp. 2d 359, 361, 363 (S.D.N.Y. 2001); S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225; Trying
Cases, supra note 226, at 12; see Hirsch, supra note 213, at 179-80; Weiser, 4 Guilty, supra note
221 (reporting also that none of the defendants testified).
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Judge Sand granted al-’Owhali and K.K. Mohamed separate death penalty
hearings.®® First came a-’Owhali’s hearing—the first death penalty hearing in
the Southern District of New Y ork since the 1950s—and the jury began to delibe-
rate on his sentence on June 5, 2001.%* On June 12, the jury announced that it
was deadlocked, which meant that al-’Owhali would be imprisoned for life with-
out the possibility of release.?®® The jury began to deliberate on K.K. Mohamed’s
sentence on July 5" and announced a deadlock on July 10.%

On October 18, 2001, Judge Sand sentenced each of the four defendantsto life
in prison without the possibility of release.”®® Because of the intervening and

It was reported that initially five jurors voted to acquit el-Hage. Benjamin Weiser, A Jury Torn
and Fearful in 2001 Terrorism Trial, N.Y. Times, Jan. 5, 2003, at 11 [hereinafter Jury Torn].

284. Bin Laden, 156 F. Supp. 2d at 361 n.2; Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 12; see Benjamin
Weliser, McVeigh Execution Casts Shadow on Embassy Terror Trial, N.Y. Times, Apr. 24, 2001,
at B2 (reporting on Judge Sand’s Apr. 23, 2001, ruling).

285. See Hirsch, supra note 213, at 186; Benjamin Weiser, Jury Weighs Death Penalty for
Bomber, N.Y. Times, June 6, 2001, at B4.

The last execution in New Y ork was the 1954 execution of Gerhard Puff, who was executed a
year after Julius and Ethel Rosenberg. See Benjamin Weiser, Reno Allows First U.S. Death Penal-
ty Trial in Manhattan in Decades, N.Y. Times, Nov. 20, 1997, at B1 [hereinafter Reno Allows].
Attorney General Janet Reno authorized capital prosecutions of John Cuff, Deric Frank, and Cla
rence Heatley in 1997, but they pleaded guilty and avoided capital sentencing trials. See 25-Year
Sentence for Ex-Girlfriend’s Death, N.Y. Times, Jan. 30, 2000, at 133; Benjamin Weiser, Former
Officer Getsa Life Termfor 10 Murdersin a Drug Gang, N.Y. Times, Mar. 23, 1999, at B1; Ben-
jamin Weiser, Gang Leader, in Plea Deal, Admits to Role in 13 Killings, N.Y. Times, Feb. 6,
1999, at B2; Weiser, Reno Allows, supra; Benjamin Weiser, Reno Authorizes a Second Death Pe-
nalty Case for Prosecutors in Manhattan, N.Y. Times, Nov. 21, 1997, at B4. The first federal de-
fendant sentenced to death in New Y ork since Puff was Ronell Wilson, whom ajury voted to ex-
ecute on January 30, 2007, in the Eastern District of New York. Judgment, United States v. Wil-
son, No. 1:04-cr-01016 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 29, 2007); see Michagel Brick, Jury Agrees on Death Sen-
tence for the Killer of Two Detectives, N.Y. Times, Jan. 31, 2007, at Al. The court of appeals,
however, vacated the sentence on June 30, 2010. United States v. Whitten, 610 F.3d 168 (2d Cir.
2010); see Manny Fernandez & A.G. Sulzberger, U.S. Court Strikes Down Death Penalty for Of-
ficers’ Killer, N.Y. Times, July 1, 2010, at A20.

286. In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 101, 107; Bin Laden, 156 F. Supp. 2d at 361 n.2;
see Benjamin Weiser, Life for Terrorist in Embassy Attack, N.Y. Times, June 13, 2001, at A1 (re-
porting that 10 jurors concluded that execution would make the defendant a martyr and that five
jurors decided that life in prison would be the greater punishment); Hirsch, supra note 213, at
201-03 (same, reporting also that before announcing their verdict, the jurors requested a copy of
the oath they had taken).

It was reported that the vote was nine to three in favor of execution. Benjamin Weiser, 4 Are
Sentenced to Life in Prison in 1998 U.S. Embassy Bombings, N.Y. Times, Oct. 19, 2001, at A1
[hereinafter 4 Are Sentenced]; Weiser, Jury Torn, supra note 283.

287. See Benjamin Weiser, Terror Jury Deliberates, N.Y. Times, July 6, 2001, at B5.

288. Bin Laden, 156 F. Supp. 2d at 362-63; see Benjamin Weiser, Jury Rejects Death Penalty
for Terrorist, N.Y. Times, July 11, 2001, at B1 (reporting that seven jurors concluded that execu-
tion would make the defendant a martyr).

289. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225; In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at
102, 102; United States v. Bin Laden, 397 F. Supp. 2d 465, 474 (S.D.N.Y. 2005); see Soufan, su-
pra note 64, at 94; Weiser, 4 Are Sentenced, supra note 286.
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nearby attacks on September 11, 2001, court security on the day of sentencing
was substantially enhanced.””

The defendants, including Salim, ultimately were sent to serve their sentences
a tzg? Administrative Maximum Facility, or “Super Max,” in Florence, Colora-
do.

New Trial Denied

On January 23, 2002, Judge Kevin Thomas Duffy took over for Judge Sand with
respect to further proceedings in prosecutions for the embassy bombings.?* That
same month, prosecutors learned that the United States Marshals Service had
many hours of videotape recordings of interviews with the government’s first
witness, an informant named Jamal Ahmed al-Fadl, that should have been turned
over to el-Hage’s attorneys for preparation of cross-examination.?*® In response to
el-Hage’s motion for a new trial, Judge Duffy wrote, “Through a mixture of inac-
tion, incompetence and stonewalling to cover up their mistakes, the United States
Marshals Service and the Department of Justice’s Office of Enforcement Opera-
tions hgtgxge serioudly jeopardized the convictions of Al-Qaeda terrorist Wadih El-
Hage.”

Al-Fadl was in the Witness Security Program, living in a secret location.?*
Prosecutors had arranged for a videoconference connection to al-Fadl, and the
Marshals Service had recorded videoconferences with al-Fadl without the prose-
cutors’ knowledge.”® Prosecutors received copies of the videotapes from the
Marshals Service and provided defense counsel with transcripts, redacting “vari-
ous portions to protect the identities of certain individuals and to protect operation
information that they believed was not subject to discovery.”?®” On October 24,
2003, el-Hage moved for anew trial.*®

Judge Duffy concluded that “although this material would have fueled a sig-
nificant attack on al-Fadl’s credibility, it would not have directly contradicted the

290. See Hirsch, supra note 213, at 244; Weiser, 4 Are Sentenced, supra note 286 (“The build-
ing resembled a military base, with federal marshals carrying shotguns, public entrances closed
and the screening of visitorsincreased.”).

reg. no. 42393-054; Salim reg. no. 42426-054; Mohamed reg. no. 44623-054); see Benjamin
Weiser, Prison Switch for Terroristsin Bombings, N.Y. Times, Dec. 25, 2001, at B6.

292. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225; In re Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Em-
bassies in East Africa, 552 F.3d 157, 165 (2d Cir. 2008); In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at
101 n.2, 141 n.41; Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 12; see Embassy Bombings Case Goes to New
Judge, N.Y. Times, Jan. 26, 2002, at A9; Hirsch, supra note 213, at 258.

293. In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 140-43; Bin Laden, 397 F. Supp. 2d at 474-81,
518; Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 12; see Benjamin Weiser, U.S. Videos of Qaeda Informer
Offer Glimpse Into a Secret Life, N.Y. Times, May 1, 2004, at A1 [hereinafter Qaeda Informer].

294, Bin Laden, 397 F. Supp. 2d at 473.

295. Inre Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 142; Bin Laden, 397 F. Supp. 2d at 474; see Weis-
er, Qaeda Informer, supra note 293.

296. Inre Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 142; Bin Laden, 397 F. Supp. 2d at 475-76.

297. Bin Laden, 397 F. Supp. 2d at 478.

298. Inre Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 108, 141; Bin Laden, 397 F. Supp. 2d at 474, 478.
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government’s case, and appears to fall within the genera rule that undisclosed
impeachment material generally does not warrant a new trial.”** The court of ap-
peals affirmed.3®

All four defendants appealed their convictions,** but K.K. Mohamed with-
drew his appeal 3%

After the trial, the New York Times published an article based on interviews
with nine of the 12 jurors.*® The story reported that two jurors sought outside re-
ligious guidance on their sentence verdicts, one juror did legal research on the In-
ternet, and some jurors were aware that the defendants were shackled under the
defense table.*® Judge Duffy determined that the article entitled el-Hage to nei-
ther anew trial nor an evidentiary hearing.>

On November 24, 2008, the court of appeals affirmed the convictions of
Odeh, a-’Owhali, and el-Hage.*®

Another Defendant

Nearly 11 years after the embassy bombings, Ghailani, the ninth defendant in the
third superseding indictment filed on December 16, 1998, was transferred from
the detention camp at Guantéanamo Bay, Cuba, to the Southern District of New

299. Bin Laden, 397 F. Supp. 2d at 515.

300. Inre Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 140-46, 156, cert. denied,  U.S. _ ,130S. Ct.
1050 (2010).

301. Docket Sheet, United States v. Mohamed, No. 01-1571 (2d Cir. Nov. 1, 2001) [hereinafter
2d Cir. Mohamed Docket Sheet] (appeal by Mohamed); Docket Sheet, United States v. Odeh, No.
01-1553 (2d Cir. Oct. 24, 2001) (appea by Odeh); Docket Sheet, United States v. El Hage, No.
01-1550 (2d Cir. Oct. 25, 2001) (appea by el-Hage); Docket Sheet, United States v. Al-’Owhali,
No. 01-1535 (2d Cir. Oct. 19, 2001) (lead case, appeal by al->’Owhali); see Weiser, Jury Torn, su-
pra note 283.

302. In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 101 n.1; 2d Cir. Mohamed Docket Sheet, supra
note 301 (noting a Jan. 21, 2004, order that the appeal was withdrawn with prejudice); see Benja-
min Weiser, 3 Seek Retrial in Bombing of Embassies, N.Y. Times, Jan. 23, 2004, at B4.

303. Weiser, Jury Torn, supra note 283 (reporting that one juror could not be found and two
jurors declined interviews).

304. Id.; see United States v. Bin Laden, No. 1:98-cr-1023, 2005 WL 287404, at *2 (S.D.N.Y.
Feb. 7, 2005); Weiser, supra note 302; Benjamin Weiser, Jury Behavior Raises Issues in Terror
Case, N.Y. Times, Jan. 16, 2003, at B1.

305. Bin Laden, No. 1:98-cr-1023, 2005 WL 287404.

306. In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 102, 108, 156; see Benjamin Weiser, Warrantless
Searches of Americans Are Legal Overseas, Court Panel Rules, N.Y. Times, Nov. 25, 2008, at
Al9.

Al->Owhali obtained a remand to the district court for proceedings on the effect of new evi-
dence on the validity of his confession. 2d Cir. Al-’Owhali Docket Sheet, supra note 301 (noting a
remand on Apr. 30, 2009). On February 16, 2010, Judge Duffy denied al->’Owhali relief. Opinion,
United Statesv. El Hage, No. 1:98-cr-1023 (S.D.N.Y. Feh. 16, 2010), aff 'd, In re Terrorist Bomb-
ings of U.S. Embassiesin East Africa, 407 F. App’x. 548 (2d Cir. 2011).

Al->Owhali and Odeh’s petitions for writs of certiorari were denied. Al-’Owhali v. United
States, _ U.S. ___, 129 S. Ct. 2778 (2009); Odeh v. United States, _ U.S. ___, 129 S. Ct.
2765 (2009).
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York.**” Ghailani’s aleged role was to obtain explosives and transport them to
Dar es Salaam.*®

Ghailani grew up in Zanzibar, and after the embassy bombings he reportedly
became a cook for Osama Bin Laden.®® “He was arrested [in August 2004] after
a 14-hour gun battle with the Pakistan authorities, in which he received a shrapnel
wound.”3%

On June 15, 2009, the case was transferred to Judge Lewis A. Kaplan.®"
Judge Kaplan determined that the interval between Ghailani’s indictment and his
presentation to the court for prosecution did not violate a Sixth Amendment right
to a speedy trial.** Although the time since his transfer from CIA to military cus-
tody igqglicated his speedy trial right,*** he was not substantially prejudiced by the
delay.

Judge Kaplan also rejected Ghailani’s argument that the indictment should be
dismissed because of his aleged torture by the CIA while in its custody, because
if Ghailani’s alegation is true then “the proper remedy is money damages or
criminal prosecution of the offending officers.”*"

Jury selection began on September 22.3'° Judge Kaplan used a jury question-
naire,**” but he did not want the questionnaire to deprive the court of the benefits
of oral voir dire:

307. United States v. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d 515, 518, 521, 529 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); United
States v. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d 508, 509-10 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); United States v. Ghailani, 751
F. Supp. 2d 502, 503 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); see Peter Finn, Guantanamo Bay Detainee Brought to U.S.
for Trial, Wash. Post, June 10, 2009, at A1; Carol Rosenberg, First Guantanamo Detainee Moved
to U.S, Pleads Not Guilty, Miami Herald, June 10, 2009, at 3A; Benjamin Weiser, In U.S. Court,
Guantanamo Detainee Pleads Not Guilty to Embassy Bombing Charges, N.Y. Times, June 10,
2009, at A24.

308. United States v. Ghailani, 743 F. Supp. 2d 261, 265 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); United States v.
Ghailani, 743 F. Supp. 2d 242, 247 (S.D.N.Y. 2010).

309. See Benjamin Weiser, Conspirator ’s Path from Poverty as a Boy in Zanzibar to Bin La-
den’sSde, N.Y. Times, Jan. 24, 2011, at A19.

310. Id.

311. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225.

Tim Reagan interviewed Judge Kaplan for this report in the judge’s chambers on November 5,
2009.

312. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d 515; see Peter Finn, Delay in Prosecution Didn't Violate De-
tainee’s Rights, Judge Rules, N.Y. Times, July 14, 2010, at A6; Benjamin Weiser, Judge Refuses
to Dismiss Terror Suspect’s Case, N.Y. Times, July 14, 2010, at A19.

313. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d at 533-40.

314. Id. at 520, 531-34.

315. United States v. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d 502, 506 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); see Benjamin
Weliser, No Dismissal in Terror Case on Claim of Torture in Jail, N.Y. Times, May 11, 2010, at
Al8.

316. See Lewis A Kaplan, United States v. Ghailani: Preliminary Remarks to Venire (Sept. 23,
2010) [hereinafter Ghailani Preliminary Remarks] (derived from morning session of second day
of reports by potential jurors).

317. Lewis A. Kaplan, United States v. Ghailani: Jury Questionnaire (Sept. 22, 2010); Ghaila-
ni Preliminary Remarks, supra note 316; see United States v. Ghailani, 743 F. Supp. 2d 242, 247
n.1 (SD.N.Y. 2010); see also Benjamin Weiser & Colin Moynihan, Glimpse at Jurors in Ex-

National Security Case Management Sudies (11/14/2011) 37



While the Court recognizes that eliciting pedigree information about prospective ju-
rors by written questionnaire would be more efficient [than] doing so by oral voir dire,
there is much to be said also for doing it orally. Affording an opportunity for prospective
jurors to speak orally in the presence of the parties about familiar matters such as their
backgrounds, education, employment and families may help make them sufficiently com-
fortable to be more responsive with respect to more sensitive matters. In any case, it gives
the parties more of an impression of the individuals than would questionnaire answers
done®

Voir dire began on September 29.3"° Judge K aplan appointed counsel to represent
one of the jurors, whose employer apparently illegally refused to excuse the ju-
ror’s absence from work.

The trial began on October 12.%** Judge Kaplan reserved some seats in the
courtroom for the news media.**> On November 17, the jury found Ghailani guilty
on one count of conspiracy to destroy buildings but not guilty of the remaining
281 counts, including separate counts of murder for each of the persons killed at
the two embassies.** Judge Kaplan sentenced Ghailani to life in prison.*** An ap-
peal is pending.**

A Challengeto Prison Security Measures

On December 17, 2007, K.K. Mohamed submitted to the U.S. District Court for
the District of Colorado a pro se complaint alleging improper conditions of con-
finement.®® Magistrate Judge Boyd N. Boland reviewed the complaint and, on
December 27, ordered it filed.**” On September 29, 2011, District Judge Marcia
S. Krieger dismissed most claims, but she ruled that the complaint, as amended,

Detainee’s Trial, N.Y. Times, Oct. 14, 2010, at A33 (“The 11-page questionnaire, filled out by
more than 1,000 potential jurors, included more than 30 questions.”).

318. Order, United States v. Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 20, 2010).

319. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225.

320. Order, Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 14, 2010).

321. SD.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225; see Benjamin Weiser, Trial of Man
Held at Guantanamo Opens, but Guantanamo Isn’t Mentioned, N.Y. Times, Oct. 13, 2010, at
Al9.

322. Order, Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 22, 2010).

323. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225; see Peter Finn, Terror Detainee Largely
Acquitted, Wash. Post, Nov. 18, 2010, at A1; Carol Rosenberg, Guantanamo Detainee’s Verdict a
Test for War Court vs. Civilian Trial, Miami Herald, Nov. 18, 2010, at 1A; Benjamin Weiser, U.S.
Jury Acquits Former Detainee of Most Charges, N.Y. Times, Nov. 18, 2010, at AL

324. Ghailani Judgment, supra note 264; see Finn, supra note 264; Weiser, supra note 264.

Ghailani is serving his sentence with the other embassy bombing defendants at the Super Max
Heightened Security for a Former Detainee, N.Y. Times, June 10, 2011, at A23.

325. Docket Sheet, United States v. Ghailani, No. 11-320 (2d Cir. Jan. 28, 2011) (noting that
the appellate brief is due Jan. 17, 2012).

326. Complaint, Mohammed v. Gonzales, No. 1:07-cv-2697 (D. Colo. Dec. 27, 2007); see
John Schwartz & Benjamin Weiser, Judge Allows Trial on Terrorist’s Challenge to Prison Rules,
N.Y. Times, Oct. 4, 2011, at A23.

327. Order, Mohammed v. Mukasey, No. 1:07-cv-2697 (D. Colo. Dec. 27, 2007).
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aleged a potentially valid violation of the First Amendment.*?® Pursuant to the

prison’s Special Administrative Measures as applied to Mohamed, (1) the prison-
er was permitted communication and visitation only with immediate family mem-
bers and not with nieces, nephews, and in-laws; and (2) his mail could be held for
surveillance for up to two weeks if written in English and up to two months if
written in other languages.®*°

Challenge: Attorney—Client Contacts

In detention, the original defendants were cut off from virtually all communica-
tions.*** They were permitted to meet with their attorneys, but the attorneys were
prohibited from sharing anything said in the meetings with investigators or ex-
perts, which seriously hampered the preparation of a defense.®*" In response to
complaints by defense attorneys, Judge Sand visited the jail and approved the de-
tention conditions, except that he ordered that the defendants be permitted to call
their families three times a month instead of once.3*

Attorney—client communications were also impaired by the fact that defense
counsel could not discuss classified evidence with their clients because the defen-
dants did not have security clearances.®® The court of appeals affirmed Judge
Sand’s ruling that failure to share classified information with the defendants, as
opposed to their cleared counsel, did not violate the Constitution.***

Relations between defendants and assigned counsel are often difficult; they
were particularly so in this case: “Lawyers don’t often represent somebody who
hates them, who, all things being considered, would just as soon kill them. How
you maintain an attorney—client relationship under those circumstances is very
difficult.”?®

328. Opinion at 15-22, 32, Mohammed v. Holder, id. (Sept. 29, 2011) [hereinafter Mohammed
Opinion], available at 2011 WL 4501959; see Schwartz & Weiser, supra note 326.

329. Mohammed Opinion, supra note 328, at 15, 17; Schwartz & Weiser, supra note 326.

330. United States v. Bin Laden, 92 F. Supp. 2d 225, 231-32 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (describing
“special conditions of confinement™); see Benjamin Weiser, Bombing Suspects Are Isolated in
New York Jail, N.Y. Times, Oct. 27, 1998, at A8 [hereinafter Suspects Isolated]; Benjamin Weis-
er, Judge to Hear Complaints on Jail Rules, N.Y. Times, Nov. 11, 1998, at B3 [hereinafter Judge
to Hear Complaints]; Benjamin Weiser, Lawyers for Bombing Suspects Say Jail Rules Violate
Rights, N.Y. Times, Nov. 10, 1998, at B4 [hereinafter Rules Violate Rights].

331. See Weiser, Suspects Isolated, supra note 330; Weiser, Judge to Hear Complaints, supra
note 330; Weiser, Rules Violate Rights, supra note 330.

332. United Statesv. El-Hage, 213 F.3d 74, 77 (2d Cir. 2000) (affirming Judge Sand’s approv-
ing the conditions of confinement); see Benjamin Weiser, Judge Won't Ease Jail Restrictions on
Men Held in Bombings of U.S Embassies, N.Y. Times, Nov. 19, 1998, at B9.

333. Inre Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassies in East Africa, 552 F.3d 93, 116-23 (2d Cir.
2008); United States v. Bin Laden, No. 1:98-cr-1023, 2001 WL 66393 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 25, 2001);
Leonard B. Sand, United States v. El Hage: Protective Order 1 15 (July 29, 1999) [hereinafter El
Hage Protective Order]; see Gross, supra note 26, at 12.

334. In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 115-30, 156; Bin Laden, No. 1:98-cr-1023, 2001
WL 66393; see Weiser, supra note 306.

335. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 13.
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Although circumstances suggested that Salim meant to do his attorneys harm,
Ghailani’s confidence in his military commission attorneys was so great that he
asked Judge Kaplan to order the Secretary of Defense to continue their representa-
tion of him in New Y ork.**® Although the Secretary was not a party to the case,
Judge Kaplan agreed to consider the motion.®*’ Judge Kaplan ruled that although
an indigent defendant has a constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel,
the indigent defendant does not have a constitutional right to select counsel.3®

Ghailani’s dissatisfaction with one of his appointed New York attorneys re-
sulted in the court’s dismissing the attorney from the case.>*

Challenge: Mental Health During Detention

After several months of restrictive confinement, el-Hage angrily criticized Judge
Sand during a hearing for not reading a letter el-Hage had prepared that pro-
claimed his innocence and contended that the United States could have prevented
the embassy bombings.**® Deputy marshals restrained el-Hage when he leapt from
his chair in the courtroom and appeared to charge toward the judge.*** Approx-
imately six months later, a psychiatrist reported that el-Hage’s solitary confine-
ment was seriously impairing his mental health.®** The government agreed to give
el-Hage a cell mate, but the court ruled that his conditions of confinement were
largely proper, and el-Hage complained that the cell mate made his cell too
crowded.**

After the prison guard was stabbed, an incident not involving el-Hage, the
prison removed el-Hage’s possessions and privileges.*** According to his wife,
his mental state deteriorated sharply and he stopped recognizing his attorney.3*
However, two court-appointed psychiatrists and a court-appointed psychologist

336. Motion, United States v. El Hage, No. 1:98-cr-1023 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 7, 2009).

337. United States v. Ghailani, 686 F. Supp. 2d 279, 285-97 (S.D.N.Y. 2009); id. at 297
(“Ghailani asks this Court to decide only the constitutional effect of the Secretary’s intended ac-
tion, not the propriety or wisdom of his decision to act in that manner.”).

338. Ghailani, 686 F. Supp. 2d at 298-300; see Benjamin Weiser, Terrorism Suspect Can't
Keep His Military Lawyers, Judge Rules, N.Y. Times, Nov. 19, 2009, at A25.

339. United States v. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d 515, 537 n.126 (S.D.N.Y. 2010).

340. In re Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassies in East Africa, 552 F.3d 93, 149 (2d Cir.
2008); see Benjamin Weiser, Suspect in Embassy Bombings Avows Innocence in Letters to Rela-
tives, N.Y. Times, June 25, 1999, at B5 [hereinafter Suspect Avows Innocence]; Benjamin Weiser,
Terrorism Suspect Charges Toward Judge, but Is Tackled, N.Y. Times, June 23, 1999, at B6 [he-
reinafter Suspect Charges).

341. In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 149-50; Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 13; see
Weiser, Suspect Avows Innocence, supra note 340; Weiser, Suspect Charges, supra note 340.

342. See Benjamin Weiser, Report Says Isolation Takes Toll on Terrorism Suspect, N.Y.
Times, Dec. 15, 1999, at B20.

343. See Benjamin Weiser, Judge Upholds Strict Jail Conditions for Suspect in Bin Laden
Case, N.Y. Times, Jan. 11, 2000, at B7; Weiser, supra note 342.

344. See Lowell Bergman & Benjamin Weiser, Suspect in Terror Case Is Mistreated, Wife
Says, N.Y. Times, Nov. 22, 2000, at B4.

345. Seeid.
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determined that el-Hage was faking mental illness.**® Judge Sand decided that the
expe;twopi nions were well founded and that el-Hage was competent to stand
trial.

During Ghailani’s pretrial phase, he unsuccessfully moved for proscriptions
on the strip and visual body cavity searches performed every time he left the de-
tention center for a court appearance.>® Judge Kaplan found that such searches
apply without exception to all inmates at the Metropolitan Correctional Center in
Manhattan.**® Ghailani claimed that he could tolerate these invasions of his digni-
ty until the ninth occasion of the search in which he was required to not only dis-
play his bare buttocks but “‘open himself’ to allow a visua rectal cavity inspec-
tion.”* Between the time of search to which he objected and the time of Judge
Kaplan’s ruling, Ghailani agreed to come to court to attend a proceeding only
once.*! A psychologist testified that the stress of the searches was exacerbated by
post-traumatic stress disorder resulting from enhanced interrogation techniques
during his CIA custody, the details of which are classified.**

Judge Kaplan ruled that the government had made a credible showing that
there were no ready alternatives to the search that would provide the same level of
security.®? If stress of the searches triggered a response that made him unable to
assist35i4n his defense, then his prosecution would be suspended until he recov-
ered.

A week later, by letter apparently prepared by his attorney, Ghailani waived
the right to attend a pretrial conference held that day.**> A week after that, Judge
Kaplan issued an order finding that Ghailani has never suffered from post-
traumatic stress disorder and his refusal to attend proceedings was motivated in
part by an effort to frustrate the prosecution.®*® Ghailani was back in court on the
eve of trial for athree-day hearing on his successful motion to suppress a key wit-

ness,® and he wasin court for histrial.>*®

346. See Weiser, Faking llIness, supra note 221.

347. See Benjamin Weliser, Judge Rules Defendant’s Amnesia |s Feigned in Terror Case, N.Y.
Times, Dec. 16, 2000, at B2.

348. United States v. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d 508 (S.D.N.Y. 2010).

349. Id. at 510.

350. Id. at 510-11.

351. Id. at 511.

352.1d. & n.11.

353. Id. at 514.

354. Id. at 514-15.

355. Letter, United States v. Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. June 24, 2010).

356. Order, Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. July 1, 2010).

357. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225.

358. See Benjamin Weiser, Inside Qaeda Terror Defense: Evolving Srategy and Emotional
Pendulum, N.Y. Times, Jan. 18, 2011, at A18 (“The lawyers pleaded with him to come to court,
and ultimately, Mr. Ghailani agreed to attend the trial after [the defense psychologist] helped re-
duce hisanxiety.”).
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Challenge: Jury Security

Judge Sand decided to close jury selection and use an anonymous jury, but not
sequester the jury.>®

On Monday, Feb. 5, 2001, the first day of the trial, the 12 jurors and six alternates
met at a secret location in Midtown Manhattan and were driven to court by armed federal
marshals. Safety concerns were paramount for the jurors, who were not sequestered. The
jury room was guarded by marshals and was checked each morning by bomb-sniffing
dogs. But there was always the unexpected. One day, jurors said, they were startled when
someone climbed through the window. It turned out to be a workman looking to use the
bathroom.*®

For the trial against Ghailani, Judge Kaplan granted the government’s motion
for an anonymous jury.** Deputy marshals shuttled the jurors to and from the
courthouse and provided them with breakfast, lunch, and refreshments.®

Challenge: Court Security

In thefirst trial, persons entering the courtroom had to pass through a metal detec-
tor and sign alog book stating their purpose in attending the trial .
At alaw school presentation, Judge Sand recalled a critical security event:

| held a conference before the jury was selected in my regular courtroom, which is afair-
ly standard size courtroom. The four defendants were seated in the jury box with a mar-
shal on each side. The issue was that one of the defendants, El-Hage, had written a letter
that he wanted to send to the media. The government objected, because they thought,
“How do we know whether there are codes in that or other things that would not be ap-
parent to us?’ And so we were discussing the sending of a paraphrase—not the exact lan-
guage, but the substance.

While this discussion is going on, El-Hage, seated between two marshals in the jury
box, jumps out of the jury box and races toward the bench. Now, | don’t know why he
was racing to the bench. | have a suspicion that he was not coming to shake my hand and
thank me for the careful attention | was giving to his case. The courtroom was scattered
with security officers. You know, you sort of look around and you see them, and they
sometimes don’t look so alert to you. Instantly, there was a security officer standing in
front of me, shielding me with his body, which | appreciated. There had been a sketch
artist who was just in the line of fire between El-Hage and myself. She immediately
threw her easel over and ducked. Of course, one of the security officers tackled El-Hage
just as he was coming up to the bench.®**

359. See Feuer, supra note 276; Gross, supra note 26, at 21-22; Weiser, supra note 275; Weis-
er, Jury Torn, supra note 283; Benjamin Weiser, Life-and-Death Questions in Embassy Bombings
Case, N.Y. Times, June 3, 2001, at 137 (reporting that “even Judge Leonard B. Sand does not
know their names”).

360. Weiser, Jury Torn, supra note 283.

361. Order, Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. June 16, 2010); see Ghailani Preliminary
Remarks, supra note 316, at 2; see also Weiser & Moynihan, supra note 317 (“the defense law-
yers, prosecutors and even the judge have not been told their names”).

362. Order, Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 27, 2010); Ghailani Preliminary
Remarks, supra note 316, at 2.

363. See Hirsch, supra note 213, at 71.

364. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 13.
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Because of el-Hage’s actions, the defendants were shackled to the floor under
the table.*® To prevent the jurors from realizing this, the jury was not present
when defendants were brought in and out.**®® And, for this trial, there was no “all
rise” when the judge entered.*” Judge Sand believed it was important to conceal
as much as possible any extraordinary security measures.*®

Challenge: Witness Security

The informant al-Fadl was formerly Osama Bin Laden’s payroll manager, whom
the government had identified prior to his testimony, even to defense counsel, on-
ly as CS-1, which stood for “confidential source one.”**® He had been under U.S.
protection in an undisclosed location since 1998 after pleading guilty to a conspir-
acy charge in a sealed proceeding in the Southern District of New York.3 «In
1996, Mr. Fadl fled [Al-Qaeda] after he embezzled about $110,000 from one of
Mr. Bin Laden’s companies, eventually walking into an American embassy in
Africaand offering his servicesin the fight against Al-Qaeda.”*"*

Al-Fadl’s identity was not revealed to defense counsel until four days before
his scheduled testimony, and a protective order forbade counsel from revealing
his identity to their clients until the day before al-Fadl appeared in court.>”* Judge
Sand forbade courtroom artists from sketching al-Fadl’s face.3"®

Judge Kaplan also forbade courtroom artists from sketching a witness’s
face.”* Ghailani moved to suppress evidence from a witness whom Tanzanian
autorities arrested in 2006, the FBI guestioned, and who was released after the

365. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 14; Interview with Hon. Leonard B. Sand, June 25,
2007; see Gross, supra note 26, at 15 & n.54; Hirsch, supra note 213, at 78.

366. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 14; Interview with Hon. Leonard B. Sand, June 25,
2007; see Hirsch, supra note 213, at 78.

367. United States v. Bin Laden, No. 1:98-cr-1023, 2005 WL 287404, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 7,
2005); Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 14; see Hirsch, supra note 213, at 78.

368. Interview with Hon. Leonard B. Sand, June 25, 2007.

369. See Hirsch, supra note 213, at 103; Benjamin Weiser, Ex-Aide to Bin Laden Describes
Terror Campaign Aimed at U.S,, N.Y. Times, Feb. 7, 2001, at A1 [hereinafter Ex-Aide]; Benjamin
Weliser, Secret Witness Set to Testify in Terror Trial, N.Y. Times, Feb. 5, 2001, at B1; Weiser,
Qaeda Informer, supra note 293.

Al-Fadl is related by marriage to al-Nalfi. See Weiser, Qaeda Member, supra note 255; Weis-
er, Held Secretly, supra note 255; Weiser, Qaeda Informer, supra note 293.

370. In re Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassies in East Africa, 552 F.3d 93, 142 (2d Cir.
2008); United States v. Bin Laden, 397 F. Supp. 2d 465, 474 (S.D.N.Y. 2005); see Docket Shest,
United States v. Al-Fadl, No. 1:97-cr-673 (S.D.N.Y. July 10, 1997) (unsealed Apr. 2, 2001); see
also Weliser, Ex-Aide, supra note 369; Weiser, Qaeda Informer, supra note 293.

371. Weiser, Qaeda Informer, supra note 293; see The 9/11 Commission Report 109 (2004)
(“Jamal Ahmed a Fadl walked into a U.S. embassy in Africa, established his bona fides as a for-
mer senior employee of Bin Ladin, and provided a major breakthrough of intelligence on the crea-
tion, character, direction, and intentions of a Qaeda.”); Bin Laden, 397 F. Supp. 2d at 474; see
also Soufan, supra note 64, at 66-69, 71.

372. See Hirsch, supra note 213, at 109.

373. Seeid.

374. See Benjamin Weiser, Witness in 1998 Bombings Is Identified at a Hearing, N.Y. Times,
Sept. 20, 2010, at A26.
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witness agreed to testify against Ghailani.>”> Ghailani argued that finding the wit-
ness resulted from coercion during extremely harsh interrogation while Ghailani
was in the CIA’s Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation Program.” Judge K ap-
lan ordered an evidentiary hearing on the matter,*”” at which the witness testi-
fied.>”® The witness’s identity was initially redacted from Judge Kaplan’s opinion
ordering the hearing,®” but his identity was revealed at the hearing®® and the
opinion was reposted three weeks later without the witness’s name redacted.®*
Judge Kaplan suppressed the witness,**? and the government elected not to delay
the trial by appealing the suppression order.3®®

Challenge: Religious Accommodation

An appointed attorney had to be dismissed for mocking his client’s religious be-
liefs.*** As Judge Sand reported,
An attorney who was very diligently representing his client was talking to his client. His
client explained that if he died as a martyr he would go immediately to paradise and have
thirteen virgin brides. The lawyer said, “Can you imagine having thirteen fathers-in-
law?’ The next morning there is on my desk a motion to replace the attorney. The defen-
dant said, “How can | be represented by a lawyer who mocks my religion?” | granted the
application.®®
Judge Sand carefully timed breaks in the trial to permit prayer at the appropri-
ate times by the Muslim defendants, whose entry to and exit from the courtroom
was made cumbersome by their hidden shackles.*®

Challenge: Classified Evidence

In order to have access to classified evidence, defense counsel had to have securi-
ty clearances.®’ Initially the attorneys in the original trial objected to their adver-

375. United States v. Ghailani, 743 F. Supp. 2d 242, 247-48, 259-60 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); see
Benjamin Weiser, Dispute Over Witness in Embassy Bombing Case, N.Y. Times, Sept. 3, 2010, at
A16 (“brief references in declassified papers say he is a Tanzanian named Hussein who sold Mr.
Ghailani hundreds of pounds of TNT that was later used to blow up the United States Embassy in
Tanzania”).

376. Ghailani, 743 F. Supp. 2d at 248.

377. 1d. at 261; see Weiser, supra note 375.

378. United States v. Ghailani, 743 F. Supp. 2d 261, 274 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); see Weiser, supra
note 374.

379. Ghailani, 743 F. Supp. 2d 242.

380. See Weiser, supra note 374.

381. Opinion, United States v. Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 7, 2010).

382. Ghailani, 743 F. Supp. 2d 261; see Peter Finn, Ruling in '98 East Africa Embassy Bomb-
ings Is Setback for U.S,, Wash. Post, Oct. 7, 2010, at A4; Benjamin Weiser, Judge Prohibits Key
U.S Witnessin Terror Trial, N.Y. Times, Oct. 7, 2010, at Al.

383. See Benjamin Weiser, Prosecutors Will Not Appeal Ruling Barring Key Witness in Trial
of Former Detainee, N.Y. Times, Oct. 11, 2010, at A19.

384. Interview with Hon. Leonard B. Sand, June 25, 2007.

385. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 13.

386. See Hirsch, supra note 213, at 78.
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saries’ invading their privacy with background checks, but the government as-
sured the attorneys and the court that background information would not be
shared with prosecutors in the case.*® The court ruled that a security clearance
requirement did not violate the defendants’ Sixth Amendment right to counsel,
and the court of appeals affirmed.*®

Judge Sand resolved issues concerning discovery of classified information by
conducting ex parte discussions with defense counsel concerning defense strategy
and ex parte discussions with prosecutors concerning potentially relevant classi-
fied information.>* Sometimes Judge Sand was able to mediate a substitution for
classified information:

The District Court held five in camera CIPA hearings in February 2001. Portions of

the February 6, 2001 hearing were conducted ex parte; the others were attended by coun-

sel for both sides. El-Hage’s defense attorneys, in the presence of the government, de-

scribed in detail the classified materia that they anticipated disclosing. The District Court

then excused El-Hage’s counsel in order to inquire into the government’s reasons for re-

fusing to declassify these items. After the government completed its presentation and was

excused, the District Court recalled El-Hage’s attorneys, inquiring, in the absence of gov-

ernment counsel, into the use that El-Hage’s counsel planned to make of the classified in-

formation at issue. Having established that El-Hage’s attorneys wished to use the classi-

fied material for cross-examination of a government witness, the District Court suggested

that the parties could work together to produce a paraphrased version of the relevant por-

tions. The District Court then recalled the government in order to discuss the merits of

this proposal with counsel on both sides.>*
Sometimes Judge Sand was able to determine that classified information was not
asrelevant as defense counsel thought it might be:

After giving El-Hage’s counsel the opportunity to set forth their theory on the relevance

of this information, the District Court explainted that—based upon its review of an ex

parte submission made by the government—it could represent with confidence that the

classified information did not have the significance claimed by counsel .3

Judge Sand held, and the court of appeals agreed, that the Fourth Amend-
ment’s warrant requirement does not apply to extraterritorial searches by the U.S.
government, but the Fourth Amendment’s reasonabl eness requirement does apply
to extraterritorial searches of U.S. citizens.**® In 1996 and 1997, as part of an in-
vestigation of Al-Qaeda, telephone lines used by el-Hage in Kenya were bugged,

387. El Hage Protective Order, supra note 333, 15; Interview with Hon. Lewis Kaplan, Nov.
5, 2009; see Gross, supra note 26, at 13; Benjamin Weiser, Bomb Suspects’ Lawyers to Need Se-
curity Checks, N.Y. Times, July 1, 1999, at B5.

388. See Weiser, supra note 387.

389. Inre Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassies in East Africa, 552 F.3d 93, 119-28 (2d Cir.
2008); United States v. Bin Laden, 58 F. Supp. 2d 113 (S.D.N.Y. 1999); see Gross, supra note 26,
at 13.

390. Interview with Hon. Leonard B. Sand, June 25, 2007.

391. InreTerrorist Bomhings, 552 F.3d at 118-19.

392. Id. at 119.

393. In re Terrorist Bombings of U.S. Embassies in East Africa, 552 F.3d 157, 159, 161-64,
167-72, 176-77 (2d Cir. 2008); United States v. Bin Laden, 264 F. Supp. 2d 264, 270-77
(S.D.N.Y. 2000); see Weiser, supra note 306.
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and his Nairobi home was searched.>* To resolve el-Hage’s suppression motion,
Judge Sand determined the reasonableness of the searches by ex parte examina-
tion of classified evidence instead of hearing evidence in an adversary proceed-
ing.:jjﬁ5 The court of appeals determined that Judge Sand’s method was appropri-
ate.

Judge Kaplan reviewed classified information on Ghailani to determine what
had to be produced in discovery to cleared defense counsel.**” Defense counsel
challenged the adequacy of a chart summarizing the nature of 897 classified “CIA
reports that the government claims are not themselves discoverable but that con-
tain statements made by the defendant in response to custodial interrogation.”**®
After reviewing 895 of the documents, Judge Kaplan determined that cleared de-
fense counsel were entitled to an augmented chart “indicating, whenever the un-
derlying documents so indicate, the duration of the interview in which a statement
was made and whether that interview took place in the defendant’s cell or else-
where.”** Judge Kaplan determined that the defense was entitled to additional
information about two of the documents—“a summary of each statement refer-
encing the Embassy Bombings sufficient to indicate the substance of the state-
ment, the time when it was made, and to whom”—and Judge Kaplan reserved
judgment on two documents the government had not yet shown him.*®

Judge Sand’s and Judge Kaplan’s law clerks had security clearances.* It is
Circuit Judge Cabranes’s practice to ask his law clerks to seek security clear-
ances,*” but Circuit Judge Newman has never had a cleared clerk, unless the
clerk came with a security clearance as a result of previous employment.*® It is
especialy difficult for appellate judges to wait until they have a relevant case to
ask their clerks to seek security clearances, because appellate judges are typically
assigned to cases only afew weeks in advance of oral argument.*®*

394. Inre Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 159-60; Bin Laden, 264 F. Supp. 2d at 269.

In addition, el-Hage’s home in Arlington, Texas, was bugged in August and September of
1998 pursuant to the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act, but the government did not use any
information gathered from this search in el-Hage’s prosecution. In re Terrorist Bombings, 552
F.3d at 160.

395. In re Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 159, 165-67; Bin Laden, 264 F. Supp. 2d at 286
88.

396. Inre Terrorist Bombings, 552 F.3d at 159, 167, 177.

397. Order, United States v. Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 7, 2009) [hereinafter
Ghailani Discovery Order].

398. Id. at 1.

399. Id. at 2.

400. 1d.

401. Interview with Hon. Lewis Kaplan, Nov. 5, 2009; Interview with Hon. Leonard B. Sand,
June 25, 2007.

402. Interview with Hon. José A. Cabranes, Nov. 4, 2009.

403. Interview with Hon. Jon O. Newman, Nov. 4, 2009.

404. Interview with 2d Cir. Clerk’s Office Staff, Nov. 6, 20009.
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Challenge: Classified Arguments

By the time of Ghailani’s prosecution, electronic filing had become widespread in
federal courts. Judge Kaplan issued a two-page order explaining how filings con-
taining classified information would be electronically docketed: an unredacted
copy of the filing would be filed with the classified information security officer
and only a caption page would be filed electronically until a redacted copy could
be filed electronically after a security review.*®

Challenge: Classified Ordersand Opinions

A discovery order by Judge Kaplan early in the Ghailani prosecution contained
details about two classified documents, about which Judge Kaplan determined
cleared counsel were entitled to more information.*® The order was filed with the
classified information security officer on November 24, 2009.“” The security of -
ficer arranged for redaction by intelligence agencies. two bulleted paragraphs
were redacted from the order, and then the redacted order was filed publicly on
December 7.%%®

A second discovery order was filed with the classified information security of-
ficer on December 8, and a redacted version was filed publicly on February 4,
2010.*® Judge Kaplan’s opinion denying relief from strip and visual body cavity
searches was filed with the classified information security officer on June 14, de-
termi ﬂgd to contain no classified information, and then filed publicly three days
later.

On July 12, Judge Kaplan filed with the classified information security officer
an opinion rejecting Ghailani’s speedy trial motion, and the opinion was publicly
filed the next day with three slight redactions.*** Also on July 12, Judge Kaplan
filed with the security officer a classified supplement to his opinion discussing
Ghailani’s treatment while in CIA custody.*? The supplement was docketed the
next4flsay, and a heavily redacted public version of it was filed two days after
that.

On August 17, Judge Kaplan ordered an evidentiary hearing on whether testi-
mony from a government witness should be suppressed because the government

405. Order, United States v. Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 27, 2009).

406. Ghailani Discovery Order, supra note 397.

407. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Shest, supra note 225.

408. 1d.; Interview with Dep’t of Justice Litig. Sec. Group Staff, Jan. 7, 2010.

409. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Shest, supra note 225.

410. 1d.; United States v. Ghailani, 751 F. Supp. 2d 508 (S.D.N.Y. 2010).

411. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225; see United States v. Ghailani, 751 F.
Supp. 2d 515 (S.D.N.Y. 2010).

412. SD.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheet, supra note 225; see Opinion, United States v. Ghailani,
No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. July 12, 2010).

413. SD.N.Y. El Hage Docket Sheset, supra note 225; Order, Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9
(S.D.N.Y. duly 15, 2010).
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learned of the witness through extraordinary interrogation methods.*** Judge K ap-
lan’s memorandum opinion ordering the hearing was filed with the classified in-
formation security officer on August 18.*> On September 1, a heavily redacted
version of the opinion was filed publicly.*® Redactions include the name of the
witness and appear to include details of Ghailani’s capture, detention, and interro-
gation.**” The witness’s identity was revealed at the hearing on the admissibility
of his testimony, and a substitute redacted opinion not redacting his name was
filed three weeks after the hearing.*'®

On October 6, Judge Kaplan agreed to suppress the witness*® A redacted
opinion on the matter was filed publicly approximately one week later.*

Challenge: Subpoenaing a Cabinet Officer

Al->Owhali’s attorneys decided testimony from Secretary of State Madeleine Al-
bright might be helpful during the penalty phase of a-’Owhali’s trial.*** It was
reported that, “The lawyers . . . said they want[ed] to question Dr. Albright about
‘her knowledge of the number of Iragi children dying as a direct consequence of
the United States enforcement of United Nations sanctions following the gulf
war.””*? Judge Sand agreed to sign the subpoena,*?® but on the government’s mo-
tion he quashed it.*** Al->Owhali presented at trial as a substitute for her live tes-
timony a 60 Minutes interview with Secretary Albright.** Al->Owhali also pre-
sented similar evidence through a willing witness, former Attorney General Ram-
sey Clark.*?®

414. United States v. Ghailani, 743 F. Supp. 2d 242, 261 (S.D.N.Y. 2010); see Weiser, supra
note 375.

415. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Shest, supra note 225.

416. Id.

417. Ghailani, 743 F. Supp. 2d 242; see United States v. Ghailani, 743 F. Supp. 2d 261, 281
(S.D.N.Y. 2010) (noting that the witness’s name was classified until approximately the time of the
hearing).

418. Opinion, United Statesv. Ghailani, No. 1:98-cr-1023-9 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 7, 2010).

419. United Statesv. Ghailani, 743 F. Supp. 2d 261 (S.D.N.Y. 2010).

420. S.D.N.Y. El Hage Docket Shest, supra note 225; see Benjamin Weiser, Judge Says Wit-
ness Barred from Ex-Detainee’s Trial Had Lied, N.Y. Times, Oct. 15, 2010, at A21.

421. See Hirsch, supra note 213, at 195-96 (reporting that al-’Owhali wanted to prove that
“U.S. government actions and al Qaeda actions could be viewed as similarly criminal”); Subpoena
for Albright in Bombings Trial, N.Y. Times, Apr. 18, 2001, at B7 [hereinafter Subpoena for Al-
bright].

422, Benjamin Weiser, U.S. Checks Evidence Sharing in the Embassy Bombings Trial, N.Y.
Times, May 16, 2001, at B6.

423. See Subpoena for Albright, supra note 421.

424, See Weiser, supra note 422.

425, See Hirsch, supra note 213, at 196.

426. See id.; Benjamin Weiser, Defense in Terror Trial Cites U.S. Sanctions Against Iraq,
N.Y. Times, June 5, 2001, at B4.
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Millennium Bomber

United States v. Ressam (John C.
Coughenour, W.D. Wash.) and United Sates
v. Haouari (John F. Keenan, SD.N.Y.)

On December 14, 1999, Ahmed Ressam was detained by customs officials suspi-
cious of his nervousness as he tried to enter the United States by ferry from Cana-
da into Washington with over 100 pounds of explosivesin his car.**’

Ressam was born in Algeriain 1967, and in February 1994 he moved to Can-
ada, where he unsuccessfully applied for political asylum.*® In Canada, he lived
on welfare and petty theft.**

Traveling under the name Benni Noris with fraudulent documentation, Res-
sam rented a car in Vancouver and traveled with his car by ferry from Victoriato
Port Angeles, Washington.*** Ressam’s car was the last off the ferry.**! Noting
that Ressam’s hands were shaking and, despite the cold weather, he was sweating,

427. United States v. Ressam, 629 F.3d 793, 808 & n.1 (9th Cir. 2010), amending 593 F.3d
1095; United States v. Ressam, 474 F.3d 597, 600 (9th Cir. 2007); United Statesv. Ressam, 221 F.
Supp. 2d 1252, 1254 (W.D. Wash. 2002); United States v. Meskini, 319 F.3d 88, 91 (2d Cir.
2003); Haouari v. United States, 429 F. Supp. 2d 671, 673 (S.D.N.Y. 2006); The 9/11 Commis-
sion Report 82 (2004); see Complaint, United States v. Ressam, No. 2:99-mj-547 (W.D. Wash.
Dec. 17, 1999) [hereinafter Ressam Complaint]; Paula Bock, An Otherwise Ordinary Day in Quiet
Port Angeles, Local Folks Tackle a Terrorist—And Nothing Has Been Quite the Same Since, Seat-
tle Times, Nov. 25, 2001, at 16; Frontline: Trail of a Terrorist (PBS television broadcast Oct. 25,
2001) [hereinafter Trail of a Terrorist]; Susan Gilmore & Mike Carter, Man Sopped at Border
with Suspected Bomb Materials, Seattle Times, Dec. 16, 1999, at Al; Josh Meyer, Border Arrest
Sirs Fear of Terrorist Cellsin U.S, L.A. Times, Mar. 11, 2001, at 1; Steve Miletich, Susan Gil-
more, Mike Carter, Joshua Robin, lan Ith & Anne Koch, FBI Probes Possible Terrorist Plot Here,
Seattle Times, Dec. 17, 1999, at A1; Scott Sunde & Elaine Porterfield, Wider Bomb Plot Possible,
Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Dec. 18, 1999, at A1l; Sam Howe Verhovek & Tim Weiner, Man Seized
with Bomb Parts at Border Spurs U.S. Inquiry, N.Y. Times, Dec. 18, 1999, at Al.

428. Ressam, 629 F.3d at 806; Ressam, 474 F.3d at 599; see Ressam Complaint, supra note
427; Bock, supra note 427; William Booth, Focus |s Narrow as Ressam Trial Begins, Wash. Post,
Mar. 14, 2001, at A8; John F. Burns, Arrest at U.S. Border Reverberatesin France, N.Y. Times,
Dec. 22, 1999, at Al; Maggie Farley, Canada’s Lapses Kept Algerian Suspect Free, L.A. Times,
Dec. 23, 1999, at 1; Trail of a Terrorist, supra note 427; Meyer, supra note 427; Steven Pearlstein,
Canadians Examine Lapses in Security, Wash. Post, Dec. 22, 1999, at A8; Soufan, supra note 64,
at 141 (“A wily Algerian, he falsely claimed political asylum in Canada in 1994, using a fake
passport and a story about persecution.”).

429. See Trail of a Terrorist, supra note 427; Soufan, supra note 64, at 141-42.

430. Ressam, 629 F.3d at 807-08; Ressam, 474 F.3d at 599-600; Ressam, 221 F. Supp. 2d at
1254; see Ressam Complaint, supra note 427; Bock, supra note 427; Trail of a Terrorist, supra
note 427; Soufan, supra note 64, at 142; Sunde & Porterfield, supra note 427; Verhovek & Wein-
er, supra note 427.

431. See Ressam, 474 F.3d at 600; Ressam Complaint, supra note 427; Bock, supra note 427;
Trail of a Terrorist, supra note 427; Meyer, supra note 427; Soufan, supra note 64, at 142 (“Ap-
parently he thought that the last car off would receive less attention.”); Sunde & Porterfield, supra
note 427.
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the customs inspector asked him to step out of the car, and Ressam initially re-
fused.**? Then he got out of the car and, as agents began searching the trunk, he
fled.**® He was caught afew blocks away.***

It was later determined that Ressam’s sweating may have been caused by ma-
laria, which he did not know at the time he had.**

A search of the car showed that its spare tire had been replaced by 10 garbage
bags containing 118 pounds of urea and 14 pounds of aluminum sulfate, two olive
jars packed in sawdust containing a honey-like explosive, pill bottles containing
other explosives, nine-volt batteries, and four circuit boards connected to Casio
watches,*®

A Tylenol bottle contained a powerful military-grade explosive, cyclotrimethylene-
trinitramine, or RDX. Another small bottle held hexamethylentriperoxodiamin, or

HMTD, an unstable explosive so dangerous it’s not manufactured commercially. Two tall

olive jars were filled with 50 ounces of ethylene glycol dinitrate, or EGDN, a chemical

cousin to nitroglycerin. Used in dynamite, EGDN is sensitive to shock, heat and friction.

Screwing the jar lids could have been enough to set it off.**’

Also in the car were maps of Washington, Oregon, and California.**® Further in-
vestigation led to suspicion that he was an agent of Osama Bin Laden.**

Ressam was indicted on December 22, 1999, in the Western District of Wash-
ington, for false statements and improper transportation of explosives** The
court assigned the case to Judge John C. Coughenour.***

432. Ressam, 629 F.3d at 808; see Ressam Complaint, supra note 427; Gilmore & Carter, su-
pra note 427; Meyer, supra note 427; Sunde & Porterfield, supra note 427; Verhovek & Weiner,
supra note 427.

433. Ressam, 629 F.3d at 808; Haouari v. United States, 429 F. Supp. 2d 671, 676 (S.D.N.Y.
2006); see Ressam Complaint, supra note 427; Bock, supra note 427; Gilmore & Carter, supra
note 427; Trail of a Terrorist, supra note 427; Meyer, supra note 427; Sunde & Porterfield, supra
note 427; Verhovek & Weiner, supra note 427.

434. Ressam, 629 F.3d at 808; see Ressam Complaint, supra note 427; Gilmore & Carter, su-
pra note 427; Meyer, supra note 427; Miletich et al., supra note 427; Verhovek & Weiner, supra
note 427.

435. See Steve Miletich & Mike Carter, Malaria May Have Unmasked Ressam, Seattle Times,
June 1, 2001, at A1 (reporting also that Ressam may have contracted malaria during a 1998 trip to
Pakistan).

436. Ressam, 629 F.3d at 808 n.1; Ressam, 474 F.3d at 600; United States v. Ressam, 221 F.
Supp. 2d 1252, 1254 (W.D. Wash. 2002); see Ressam Complaint, supra note 427; John J. Gold-
man, Algerian Admits Bomb Plot, Pledges Cooperation, L.A. Times, Mar. 9, 2001, at 12; John
Kifner & William K. Rashbaum, Brooklyn Man Is Charged with Aiding in Bomb Plot, N.Y.
Times, Dec. 31, 1999, at Al; Steve Miletich, Mike Carter, James V. Grimaldi & Anne Koch, Ter-
rorist Link Explored, Seattle Times, Dec. 18, 1999, at A1; Sunde & Porterfield, supra note 427;
Verhovek & Weiner, supra note 427

437. Bock, supra note 427.

438. See Meyer, supra note 427; Miletich et al., supra note 427; Sunde & Porterfield, supra
note 427; Verhovek & Weiner, supra note 427.

439. See Michael Janofsky, Terrorism Trial May Keep to Narrower Focus, N.Y. Times, Mar.
14, 2001, at A12; Meyer, supra note 427; Steven Mufson, Arrest Stirs Terrorism Concerns, Wash.
Post, Dec. 18, 1999, at A1; Sunde & Porterfield, supra note 427.

440. Indictment, United States v. Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 22, 1999); see
William Booth, Algerian Indicted on Explosives Counts, Wash. Post, Dec. 23, 1999, at Al; Steve
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Ressam shared a motel room with another man for three weeks just before his
ferry trip.**? Canadian authorities determined that the other man was Abdelmajed
Dahoumane.*** On January 20, 2000, Ressam’s indictment was superseded to add
aterrorism charge and to add Dahoumane as a defendant.*** On April 6, the U.S.
embassy in Montrea offered a reward of $5 million for information leading to
Dahoumane’s arrest and conviction.*”® Dahoumane was arrested in Algerialate in
2000.“® On April 1, 2001, the Algerian government announced that it would try
Dahoumane there.**” Dahoumane pleaded guilty in Algeria.**®

Investigation showed that Ressam had a reservation for one night’s stay at a
Seattle motel near the Space Needle and a flight to London the following day.**
Segttle canceled its millennium New Year’s Eve party scheduled for the base of

Miletich, Algerian Indicted by Grand Jury, Seattle Times, Dec. 22, 1999, at Al; Kim Murphy,
Algerian Suspect Pleads Not Guilty to 5 Bomb Charges, L.A. Times, Dec. 23, 1999, at 17; Elaine
Porterfield, Bomb Suspect Is Indicted, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Dec. 23, 1999, at Al; Sam Howe
Verhovek, Grand Jury Charges Man Found with Bomb Materials, N.Y. Times, Dec. 23, 1999, at
A20.

441, Order, Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 23, 1999) (“For reasons of security,
the Honorable John C. Coughenour, Chief Judge for the Western District of Washington, directs
the above-captioned case be filed in Seattle and assigned to the undersigned.”); see Porterfield,
supra note 440.

Tim Reagan interviewed Judge Coughenour for this report in the judge’s chambers on October
3, 2008.

442, See Trail of a Terrorist, supra note 427; Sam Howe Verhovek, 2nd Man Sought for Ques-
tioning in Bomb Plot, N.Y. Times, Dec. 19, 1999, at 142.

443, See David Johnston, Canada Seeks Friend of Man Held in Ferrying of Explosives, N.Y.
Times, Dec. 25, 1999, at A21.

444, Superseding Indictment, Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 20, 2000); see Mike
Carter, Algerian Bomb-Plot Web Grows with New Charges, Seattle Times, Jan. 21, 2000, at A1l;
Elaine Porterfield, Indictment Details Bomb Conspiracy, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Jan. 21, 2000,
at Al; David A. Vise & Dan Eggen, Bomb Plot Suspect Sought by United Sates, Canada Is De-
tained in Algeria, Wash. Post, Dec. 8, 2000, at A44; see also Second Superseding Indictment,
Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 14, 2001); Sam Skolnik, Terrorism Charge Expanded
in Bomb-Smuggling Case, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Feb. 15, 2001, at B3 (reporting on second
superseding indictment).

445, See Meyer, supra note 427 (reporting that this was the same bounty offered for Osama
Bin Laden); Steve Miletich & Mike Carter, Prints Found on Bomb Parts, Seattle Times, Apr. 12,
2000, at B1; Reward Offered on Suspected Terrorist, L.A. Times, Apr. 7, 2000, at 6; Sam Skolnik,
U.S. Puts $5 Million Bounty for Algerian, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Apr. 7, 2000, at Al; Vise &
Eggen, supra note 444.

446. See Lorraine Adams, The Other Man, Wash. Post Mag., May 20, 2001, at 10; Judith Mil-
ler, Suspect in New Year ’s Terror Plot Is Arrested in Algeria, N.Y. Times, Dec. 7, 2000, at AS;
Vise & Eggen, supra note 444,

447, See Adams, supra note 446; Algiersto Try Terror Suspect Sought by U.S,, N.Y. Times,
Apr. 2, 2001, at A5.

448, See Steve Miletich, Ressam Co-Conspirator Pleads Guilty, Seattle Times, Sept. 26, 2001,
a A4; Sam Skolnik, Man Sought in Ressam Case Is Convicted in Algeria, Seattle Post-
Intelligencer, Sept. 26, 2001, at B2.

449, See Ressam Complaint, supra note 427; Miletich et al., supra note 436; Verhovek &
Weiner, supra note 427.
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the Space Needle.* Because of the extensive news coverage in Seattle about “the
possibility of a planned bombing of the Space Needle, the signature building of
the Seattle skyline,” on March 3, 2000, Judge Coughenour granted Ressam’s mo-
tion to move the trial to Los Angeles.**

It was reported that a substantial factor in Judge Coughenour’s ruling was the
superior security of Los Angeles’s newer courthouse compared to Seattle’s old
courthouse, designed in the 1920s, where judges rode the same elevators as de-
fendants, jurors, and witnesses.** In addition, transportation of Ressam between
the detention center in Seattle and the courthouse required road closures, but this
was not necessary in Los Angeles because of the detention center’s proximity to
the courthouse.*>

A minor international incident erupted in March 2000 as Ressam’s attorneys
prepared for trial.”** The Western District of Washington’s Federal Public De-
fender’s office agreed to accept service on Ressam’s behalf of three seizure notic-
es from the Royal Canadian Mounted Police.*> Two attorneys and an investigator
traveled to Montreal to investigate the seizures, and they obtained from the court
there copies of documents in the related files.**® Apparently, the documents were
disclosed to Ressam’s attorneys in error, and they were taken back from the attor-
neys at the airport.*” The U.S. government moved for return of all copies of the
documents and for an order prohibiting Ressam’s attorneys from discussing them

450. See Timothy Egan, Citing Security, Seattle Cancels a New Year s Eve Party, N.Y. Times,
Dec. 29, 1999, at A16; Trail of a Terrorist, supra note 427; Steve Miletich, J. Martin McOmber &
Anne Koch, How City Party Was Canceled, Seattle Times, Dec. 28, 1999, at Al; Kery Murakami,
Seattle Center New Year 's Gala Canceled, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Dec. 28, 1999, at Al; Jube
Shiver, Jr., Millennium Disconnects, L.A. Times, Dec. 29, 1999, at 9.

A large crowd gathered the following year “to watch the Space Needle turn into the world’s
biggest sparkler.” The Center of the Celebration, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Jan. 1, 2001, at B1.

451. Order, United States v. Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 3, 2000); United
States v. Ressam, 474 F.3d 597, 601 (9th Cir. 2007); see Meyer, supra note 427; Steve Miletich,
Ressam Will Get L.A. Trial, Seattle Times, Mar. 3, 2000, at Al; Kim Murphy, Trial of Suspected
Algerian Terrorist Will Be Shifted from Seattle to L.A., L.A. Times, Mar. 4, 2000, at 14; Elaine
Porterfield, Bombing Suspect Will Be Tried in L.A., Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Mar. 4, 2000, at Al

452, Mike Carter, Jury Selection to Begin Today in Ressam Trial, Seattle Times, Mar. 12,
2001, at B1; Steve Miletich, Security Cited as Judge Moves Ressam Trial to L.A., Seattle Times,
Mar. 4, 2000, at A1; Murphy, supra note 451; Porterfield, supra note 451.

The court in Seattle moved into a new courthouse in September 2004. Interview with Hon.
John C. Coughenour, Oct. 3, 2008.

453, John C. Cougnenour, Security for Judges—In and Out of the Courtroom, 41 Int’l Soc’y of
Barristers Q. 440, 444 (2006).

454. See Steve Miletich, “Secret” File in Ressam Bomb Case Causes Stir, Segttle Times, Mar.
23, 2000, at Al; Scott Sunde, Attorneys for Ressam Draw Fire Over Files, Seattle Post-
Intelligencer, Mar. 24, 2000, at B1.

455, See Oliver Affidavit, Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 23, 2000).

456. See Document Return Motion Response, id. (Mar. 23, 2000); Steve Miletich, Man in Al-
leged Bomb Plot to Enter Lesser Plea, Seattle Times, Mar. 16, 2000, at B2; Sunde, supra note
454,

457. See Document Return Motion, Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 20, 2000);
Miletich, supra note 454; Sunde, supra note 454.
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with their client.*® Both parties submitted affidavits, and Ressam’s attorneys
submitted a sealed ex parte affidavit “concerning purpose of review of Montreal
court files.”*?

The Federal Public Defender pointed out that an order barring discussion with
his client would present his attorneys with a conflict of interest potentially requir-
ing withdrawal from the case: either they could serve their client and risk sanc-
tions or they could obey the order and disserve their client.*®® After a hearing,
Judge Coughenour ruled that the matter was moot because Ressam’s attorneys no
longer had copies of the documents.”®* The judge told the attorneys that they
could use the information from the Canadian files, but only as a last resort and
without disclosing to Ressam its origin.*®

A couple of weeks before trial, on February 28, 2001, a 6.8-magnitude earth-
quake hit the Seattle area,®® so a status conference held the next day was held at
the SeaTac detention facility where Ressam was housed.***

Jury selection began in Los Angeles on March 12, 200
than seven hours of voir dire, a jury was selected from 44 prospective jurors.
Opening arguments and the first witnesses were presented the next day.*®’

On the first day of trial, a government witness presented a map seized from
Ressam’s Montreal apartment with Los Angeles International Airport and two
other local airports circled.*® Discovery of this map had been reported by news
media nearly two months previously.**®

On April 6, 2001, the jury convicted Ressam on all counts.™™ On the same
day, he and 23 others were sentenced by a French judge, before whom Ressam

1.5 After alittle more

466

470

458. Document Return Moation, supra note 457; see Miletich, supra note 454.

459. Document Return Motion Response, supra note 456; Document Return Motion, supra
note 457.

460. Document Return Motion Response, supra note 456; see Mike Carter, Ressam Lawyers
May Use Secret Files, Seattle Times, Mar. 24, 2000, at B3.

461. Minutes, Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 23, 2000); see Carter, supra note
460.

462. See Carter, supra note 460; Sunde, supra note 454.

463. Eric Sorensen, Shaken, but OK, Seattle Times, Mar. 1, 2001, at Al.

464. Transcript, Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 1, 2001, filed Mar. 8, 2001) [he-
reinafter Ressam Mar. 1, 2001, Transcript].

465. Ressam Complaint, supra note 427; see Carter, supra note 452; Jury Selection Begins in
Terrorism Trial, N.Y. Times, Mar. 13, 2001, at A17.

466. See Mike Carter, Ressam Trial Jury Picked Quickly, Seattle Times, Mar. 13, 2001, at A1l.

467. Ressam Complaint, supra note 427; see Booth, supra note 428; Janofsky, supra note 439.

468. See Mike Carter, Defense Calls Ressam Dupe of Terrorists, Seattle Times, Mar. 14, 2001,
at Al; Sam Skolnik & Scott Sunde, Ressam No Terrorist, Attorney Tells Court, Seattle Post-
Intelligencer, Mar. 14, 2001, at A1l.

469. Josh Meyer, Group May Have Planned to Bomb LAX Last Year, Prosecutors Say, L.A.
Times, Jan. 20, 2001, at 1; Sam Skolnik, Did Ressam Have L.A. Targets?, Seattle Post-
Intelligencer, Jan. 19, 2001, at B1.

470. United States v. Ressam, 629 F.3d 793, 809 (9th Cir. 2010); United States v. Ressam, 474
F.3d 597, 601 (9th Cir. 2007); Haouari v. United States, 429 F. Supp. 2d 671, 677 (SD.N.Y.
2006); Docket Sheet, United States v. Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 22, 1999); see
Adams, supra note 446; William Booth, Algerian Convicted on Terror Charges, Wash. Post, Apr.

National Security Case Management Sudies (11/14/2011) 53



was tried in absentia, to five yearsin prison for conspiracy to support Islamic mi-
litants.*"*

Abdelghani Meskini’s Brooklyn telephone number was found when Ressam
was arrested.*”? Meskini, who reportedly lived as a con man and thief, was once
an Alggrian Army officer, and he came to the United States as a stowaway in
1994.

Apparently Meskini flew to Seattle on December 11, 1999, to meet Ressam.*™
Because Ressam was a no-show, Meskini flew back to New York on December
16.*”> On the basis of his number’s being in Ressam’s car, the Foreign Intelli-
gence Surveillance Court authorized surveillance of Meskini’s telephone.*”®
Miskini was arrested early in the morning on December 30 at his home as a sus-
pected accomplice of Ressam.*”’

On January 6, 2000, a sealed indictment was filed in the Southern District of
New York against Mokhtar Haouari, a former schoolmate of Meskini’s in Alge-
ria?® He was arrested four days later in Montreal; another three days later, the
indictment was superseded to add Meskini as a defendant.*”® The court assigned
the case to Judge John F. K eenan.**

7, 2001, at Al; Mike Carter, Ressam Guilty on All Counts, Seattle Times, Apr. 7, 2001, at A1l;
Thomas J. Lueck, Algerian Is Found Guilty in Plot to Bomb Stesinthe U.S, N.Y. Times, Apr. 7,
2001, at A9; Josh Meyer, Man Convicted of Taking Part in Bomb Plot, L.A. Times, Apr. 7, 2001,
at 1; Sam Skolnik & Scott Sunde, Ressam Guilty of Terrorism, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Apr. 7,
2001, at Al; see also Transcript, Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 4, 2001, filed Oct.
11, 2005) (jury instructions).

471. See Booth, supra note 470; Carter, supra note 470; Meyer, supra note 470; Skolnik &
Sunde, supra note 470.

472. See Booth, supra note 470; Mike Carter, Feds Link Ressam to Terror Camps, Seattle
Times, Mar. 9, 2001, at Al; Trail of a Terrorist, supra note 427; Meyer, supra note 427; Steve
Miletich & Mike Carter, Ressam Linked to Terrorist Group, Seattle Times, Dec. 31, 1999, at A1,
Benjamin Weiser, New Trouble for Terrorist Who Helped Prosecutors, N.Y. Times, July 31,
2010, at Al12.

473. See Weiser, supra note 472.

474, Haouari, 429 F. Supp. 2d at 676; see Adams, supra note 446; Meyer, supra note 427; Mi-
letich & Carter, supra note 472; David A. Vise, Algerian Arrested Dec. 24, Wash. Post, Jan. 4,
2000, at A2.

475. Haouari, 429 F. Supp. 2d at 676; see Adams, supra note 446; Meyer, supra note 427; Mi-
letich & Carter, supra note 472; Vise, supra note 474.

476. See Walter Pincus, Judge Discusses Details of Work on Secret Court, Wash. Post, June
26, 2007, at A4; see also Ressam Mar. 1, 2001, Transcript, supra note 464.

477. Haouari, 429 F. Supp. 2d at 677; United States v. Haouari, No. 1:00-cr-15, 2000 WL
1593345 at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 25, 2000); see Adams, supra note 446; Trail of a Terrorist, supra
note 427; Kifner & Rashbaum, supra note 436; Meyer, supra note 427; Miletich & Carter, supra
note 472; Vise, supra note 474.

478. Docket Sheet, United States v. Haouari, No. 1:00-cr-15 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 10, 2000) [herei-
nafter Haouari Docket Sheet]; see Adams, supra note 446; Craig Pyes, Canada Adds Details on
Algerians’ Suspected Bomb Plot, N.Y. Times, Jan. 21, 2000, at A3.

479. Superseding Indictment, Haouari, No. 1:00-cr-15 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 13, 2000); see Adams,
supra note 446; Benjamin Weiser & Craig Pyes, U.S, in Pursuit of Bomb Plot, Indicts Man Held
in Canada, N.Y. Times, Jan. 19, 2000, at A1.

480. Haouari Docket Sheet, supra note 478.
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Based in part on surveillance of Meskini’s telephone conversations, Haouari
was charged with coordinating Ressam’s bomb plot.**" Haouari waived extradi-
tion proceedings and agreed to be tried in the United States, where he was ar-
raigned on August 14.%%

On March 7, 2001, Meskini pleaded guilty and agreed to cooperate with the
prosecution.® On January 23, 2004, he was sentenced to six years, with credit for
time served.®® He was released in 2005; his application for the witness protection
program was rejected.”® With the government’s approval, he got ajob in Atlanta
as a building manager for an apartment complex known to be “a hotbed of crimi-
nal activity, where narcotics sales and prostitution occurred openly and persistent-
ly.”*® In October 2010, he was sentenced to two years and seven months for an
attempt to acquire an AK-47 assault rifle*’

As Ressam’s sentencing date approached, Meskini agreed to cooperate with
the prosecution of Haouari, and Ressam’s sentencing was postponed.*® At Haou-
ari’strial, on July 3, 2001, Ressam testified that he and accomplices had planned
to bomb Los Angeles International Airport on New Year’s Eve®®® He said he
planned to explode a suitcase filled with fertilizer and nitric acid.*®

Tim Reagan interviewed Judge Keenan for this report in the judge’s chambers on November 6,
20009.

481. See Meyer, supra note 427; Pyes, supra note 478.

482. See John Sullivan, Algerian Arraigned in Explosives Smuggling Case, N.Y. Times, Aug.
15, 2000, at B3.

483. United States v. Ressam, 629 F.3d 793. 810 (9th Cir. 2010); United States v. Meskini,
319 F.3d 88, 91 (2d Cir. 2003); Haouari v. United States, 429 F. Supp. 2d 671, 677 (S.D.N.Y.
2006); United States v. Haouari, No. 1:00-cr-15, 2001 WL 1154714 at *1 (SD.N.Y. Sept. 28,
2001); see Adams, supra note 446; Carter, supra note 472; Alan Feuer, Man Pleads Guilty to Role
in Millennial Terrorism Plot, N.Y. Times, Mar. 10, 2001, at B2; Dan Eggen, Algerian Guilty in
Plot to Bomb Landmarks in U.S,, Wash. Post, Mar. 9, 2001, at A3; Goldman, supra note 436;
Meyer, supra note 427; Sam Skolnik, A Guilty Plea to Aiding Ressam, Seattle Post-Intelligencer,
Mar. 9, 2001, at B1; Weiser, supra note 472.

484. Haouari Docket Sheet, supra note 478; see Weliser, supra note 472.

485. See Weiser, supra note 472.

486. Opinion, United States v. Haouari, No. 1:00-cr-15 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 27, 2010).

487. Haouari Docket Sheet, supra note 478; see Benjamin Weiser, “Millennium Plot” Terror-
ist Reimprisoned in Gun Case, N.Y. Times, Oct. 30, 2010, at A16.

488. See Trail of a Terrorist, supra note 427; Laura Mansnerus & Judith Miller, Bomb Plot In-
sider Details Training, N.Y. Times, July 4, 2001, at A1; Sam Skolnik & Paul Shukovsky, Ressam:
Seattle No Target, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, May, 21, 2001, at Al; see also Transcript, United
States v. Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. July 27, 2005, filed Aug. 4, 2005) [hereinafter
Ressam July 27, 2005, Transcript] (discussing Ressam’s cooperation); Transcript, id. (Apr. 27,
2005, filed Sept. 9, 2005) [hereinafter Ressam Apr. 27, 2005, Transcript] (same).

489. United States v. Ressam, 221 F. Supp. 2d 1252, 1254 (W.D. Wash. 2002); see Trail of a
Terrorist, supra note 427; Josh Meyer, Terrorist Says Plans Didn’t End with LAX, L.A. Times,
July 4, 2001, at 1; Michael Powell & Christine Haughney, Los Angeles Airport Intended Target,
Wash. Post, July 4, 2001, at A2; see also Mike Carter & Steve Miletich, Ressam: L.A. Airport Was
Target, Seattle Times, May 30, 2001, at A1 (reporting that Ressam had told Haouari’s prosecutors
that the Los Angeles airport was his target); Josh Meyer, Millennium Terrorist Now Detailing
Plot, Sources Say, L.A. Times, May 30, 2001, at 1 (same).

490. See Trail of a Terrorist, supra note 427; Powell & Haughney, supra note 489.
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In order to keep the witness Ressam separate from the defendant Haouari,
each was brought to Judge K eenan’s courtroom by a different elevator.”! Thereis
one other courtroom on the same floor as Judge Keenan’s, and separate prisoner
elevators serve the two courtrooms.**? Ressam was brought up in the other cour-
troom’s elevator.**

Haouari found Ressam’s testimony so upsetting that he repeatedly banged his
head against the counsel table.®* In time, he knocked himself out.**> Judge Kee-
nan had to excuse the jury and seek medical attention for the defendant.**

One juror, who worked as a waitress, had to be replaced when she recognized
at 2’9"70rk ajournalist covering the trial and struck up a conversation with him about
it.

On July 13, a jury acquitted Haouari of aiding and abetting what became
known as the millennium bombing plot, but convicted him of conspiracy and
fraud.*® On January 16, 2002, Judge Keenan sentenced Haouari to 24 years in
prison.*® A year later, the court of appeals affirmed the conviction and sen-
tence.>®

On July 27, 2005, at the conclusion of Ressam’s cooperation with investiga-
tions and prosecutions,”®* Judge Coughenour sentenced Ressam to 22 years in
prison.>*

491. Interview with Hon. John F. Keenan, Nov. 6, 2009.

492, 1d.

493. 1d.

494, 1d.

495, 1d.

496. 1d.

497. 1d.

498. Haouari v. United States, 510 F.3d 350, 351 (2d Cir. 2007); United States v. Meskini, 319
F.3d 88, 91 (2d Cir. 2003); Haouari v. United States, 429 F. Supp. 2d 671, 676 (S.D.N.Y. 2006);
United States v. Haouari, No. 1:00-cr-15, 2001 WL 1154714 at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 28, 2001); see
Jane Fritsch, Algerian Sentenced in 1999 Plot to Bomb Airport, N.Y. Times, Jan. 17, 2002, at
A26; Christine Haughney, Third Algerian Convicted in Bombing Plot, Wash. Post, July 14, 2001,
at A22; Laura Mansnerus, Man Is Guilty in Bomb Plot at Millennium, N.Y. Times, July 14, 2001,
at B1; Josh Meyer, LAX Bombing Plot Figure Is Convicted, L.A. Times, July 14, 2001, at 8.

499. Haouari, 429 F. Supp. 2d at 673; United States v. Ressam, 629 F.3d 793, 810 (9th Cir.
2010); see Fritsch, supra note 498; John J. Goldman, Algerian Gets Prison in LAX Bomb Plot,
L.A. Times, Jan. 17, 2002, at 13.

500. United States v. Meskini, 319 F.3d 88 (2d Cir. 2003); Haouari, 429 F. Supp. 2d at 673;
see Benjamin Weiser, Conviction Upheld in Bomb Plot, N.Y. Times, Jan. 28, 2003, at B7.

501. Judge Coughenour observed that the gentler approach of Seattle-based investigators was
more effective in obtaining Ressam’s cooperation than the more aggressive approach of New
Y ork-based investigators, who took over during the prosecution of Haouari. Interview with Hon.
John C. Coughenour, Oct. 3, 2008.

502. Ressam, 629 F.3d at 805, 814; United States v. Ressam, 474 F.3d 597, 601 (9th Cir.
2007); Ressam July 27, 2005, Transcript, supra note 488; see Hal Bernton & Sara Jean Green,
Ressam Judge Decries U.S. Tactics, Seattle Times, July 28, 2005, at Al; Jonathan Hafetz, Habeas
Corpus After 9/11 209 (2011); Sarah Kershaw, Terrorist in '99 U.S. Case |s Sentenced to 22
Years, N.Y. Times, July 28, 2005, at A20; Paul Shukovsky, 22 Years, Seattle Post-Intelligencer,
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A year and a half later, the court of appeals reversed Ressam’s conviction on
one count, for carrying explosives while committing a felony, reasoning that car-
rying explosives did not relate to the felony of signing a false name on a customs
declaration.® The court remanded the case for resentencing.”®*

On December 7, 2007, the Supreme Court agreed to review the court of ap-
peals’ decision.”™ On March 25, 2008, Attorney General Michael B. Mukasey,
who, as a judge, had presided over the prosecution of blind Sheik Omar Abdel
Rahman, argued the government’s case to reinstate the conviction.®® The Su-
preme Court agreed with the argument and reinstated the conviction on May
19.%%” On December 3, Judge Coughenour resentenced Ressam to 22 years.®® On
February 2, 2010, a three-judge panel of the court of appeals determined that the
sentence was too lenient and remanded the case for resentencing by a different

July 28, 2005, at A1; Tomas Alex Tizon & Lynn Marshall, Would-Be Millennium Bomber Ressam
Gets 22-Year Sentence, L.A. Times, July 28, 2005, at 10.

503. Ressam, 474 F.3d at 598-604; see Ressam, 629 F.3d at 814; Hal Bernton & Mike Carter,
Appeals Court Throws Out 1 Ressam Felony Conviction, Seattle Times, Jan. 17, 2007, at B3; Paul
Shukovsky, Court Reverses 1 Count Against Ressam, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Jan. 17, 2007, at
B1; Jennifer Steinhauer, Appeals Court Vacates Term of Algerian in Bomb Plot, N.Y. Times, Jan.
17, 2007, at A13; Henry Weinstein, Court Voids Sentence in LAX Plot, L.A. Times, Jan. 17, 2007,
at 8.

504. Ressam, 474 F.3d at 604; see Ressam, 629 F.3d at 814; Shukovsky, supra note 503.

Judge Marsha S. Berzon joined Judge Pamela Ann Rymer’s opinion for the court, but Judge
Arthur L. Alarcdn dissented from the reversal of the conviction and determined that Ressam’s
sentence was too lenient. Ressam, 474 F.3d at 604-08 (Alarcén, dissenting). Six judges dissented
from the court’s refusal to rehear the case en banc. United States v. Ressam, 491 F.3d 997 (9th
Cir. 2007).

505. United States v. Ressam, 552 U.S. 1074 (2007); See Robert Barnes, Cases of 2 U.S. Citi-
zensin Iraq to Be Heard, Wash. Post, Dec. 8, 2007, at A2; Linda Greenhouse, Americans Held in
Iraq Draw Justices’ Attention, N.Y. Times, Dec. 8, 2007, at A15.

506. See Carrie Johnson & Robert Barnes, After a Lifetime in Law, a First Day in Court,
Wash. Post, Mar. 26, 2008, at A4; David G. Savage, Justices Hear Terrorism Cases, L.A. Times,
Mar. 26, 2008, at 17; Philip Shenon, Mukasey Goes to Court to Argue a Terrorism Case, N.Y.
Times, Mar. 26, 2008; see also supra, “First World Trade Center Bombing.”

Judge Coughenour has otherwise been critical of Judge Mukasey’s policy suggestions on the
handling of terrorism cases. John C. Coughenour, Op-Ed, How to Try a Terrorist, N.Y. Times,
Nov. 1, 2007; John C. Coughenour, Op-Ed, The Right Place to Try Terrorism Cases, Wash. Post,
July 27, 2008, at B7.

507. United States v. Ressam, 553 U.S. 272 (2008); see Ressam, 629 F.3d at 814; William
Branigin, High Court Affirms Terrorism Conviction, Wash. Post, May 20, 2008, at A6; Linda
Greenhouse, Court Upholds Child Pornography Law, Despite Free Speech Concerns, N.Y. Times,
May 20, 2008, at A17; Justices Rule Against Ressam in Terror Case, Seattle Post-Intelligencer,
May 20, 2008, at B2; David G. Savage, Full Prison Term Restored for “Millennium Bomber, ”
L.A. Times, May 20, 2008, at 11.

508. Amended Judgment, United States v. Ressam, No. 2:99-cr-666 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 3,
2008); Ressam, 629 F.3d at 805; see Mike Carter, Ressam Recants Everything Said as an Infor-
mant, Seattle Times, Dec. 4, 2008, at Al; Paul Shukovsky, Ressam Sentence Reinstated, Seattle
Post-Intelligencer, Dec. 4, 2008, at B1.
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judge.>® This decision was reviewed by an 11-judge en banc panel on September
21, 2011.>%°

Challenge: Classified Evidence

Invoking the Classified Information Procedures Act (CIPA), the government
asked Judge Coughenour to review classified documents to determine whether or
not they were discoverable.®™ Judge Coughenour reviewed the documents with-
out the assistance of a law clerk, because there was not time to obtain top secret
clearance.®™ The documents were delivered to the judge by a classified informa-
tion security officer and reviewed by the judge under the security officer’s
watch.>® They were stored in a safe to which the officer, and not the judge, had
accg?ss.m Judge Coughenour decided that the documents were not discovera-
ble.

Challenge: Examination of Foreign Witnesses

The government sought testimony of witnesses in Canada, beyond the court’s
subpoena power, who were unwilling to travel to the United States to offer testi-
mony.>'® So, by stipulation of the parties, Judge Coughenour traveled to Canada
to preside over video depositions in both Montreal and Vancouver to obtain the
testimony.>’ A Canadian court official attended to rule on potential issues of Ca-
nadian law.>*® Ressam participated by video conference from his jail cell with the

assistance of an Arabic interpreter.>

509. Ressam, 629 F.3d 793 (opinion by Circuit Judge Arthur L. Alarcén, joined by Circuit
Judge Richard R. Clifton; Circuit Judge Ferdinand F. Fernandez dissented from both the reversal
of the sentence and the reassignment to a different judge), amending 593 F.3d 1095; see Hafetz,
supra note 502, at 209; John Schwartz, Appeals Court Throws Out Sentence in Bombing Plot,
Calling It Too Light, N.Y. Times, Feb. 3, 2010, at A15; Jennifer Sullivan, Court: Ressam Sentence
“Failed to Protect Public,” Seattle Times, Feb. 3, 2010, at A1; Carol J. Williams, 22-Year Term
in LAX Bomb Plot Overturned, L.A. Times, Feb. 3, 2010, at 9.

eo recording of oral argument); Docket Sheet, United States v. Ressam, No. 09-30000 (9th Cir.
Jan. 5, 2009).

511. See Mike Carter & Steve Miletich, Judge to Review Ressam Papers, Seattle Times, Nov.
3, 2000, at B1; Sam Skolnik, Ressam Prosecutors Reveal Existence of Classified Data, Seattle
Post-Intelligencer, Nov. 3, 2000, at B2.

512. Interview with Hon. John C. Coughenour, Oct. 3, 2008.

513. 1d.

514. 1d.

Judge Coughenour preferred not to have to deal with the lock and combination himself. Inter-
view with Dep’t of Justice Litig. Sec. Group Staff, Jan. 7, 2010.

515. Interview with Hon. John C. Coughenour, Oct. 3, 2008.

516. See Sam Skolnik, Bomb Plot Case Inquiry Moves to Vancouver, B.C., Seattle Post-
Intelligencer, July 20, 2000, at B3.

517. See Ressam Mar. 1, 2001, Transcript, supra note 464; Skolnik, supra note 516.

518. See Ressam Mar. 1, 2001, Transcript, supra note 464.

519. Interview with Hon. John C. Coughenour, Oct. 3, 2008; see Seattle Judge to Hear from
Terrorism-Case Witnesses, Seattle Times, Oct. 27, 2000, at B2.
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http://www.ca9.uscourts.gov/media/view_video_subpage.php?pk_vid=0000006165

On one occasion, after Judge Coughenour had traveled to Canada for the de-
position, a Canadian judge ruled, at a proceeding from which Judge Coughenour
was excluded, that the witness did not have to testify.>?

Some of the witnesses subsequently indicated that they might be willing to
testify live at Ressam’strial, but the parties agreed that either side could substitute
deposition video tapes.**

Challenge: Court Security

At Ressam’sfirst appearance in court in Seattle, on December 17, 1999, “Security
was so tight at the courthouse that anyone entering—even employees—had to
produce a photo identification. A phalanx of U.S. marshals aso blocked the door
to [U.S. Magistrate Judge David] Wilson’s courtroom and armed officers pa
trolled the streets as Ressam was brought to the courthouse.”>*

For Ressam’s trial also, security at the Roybal courthouse in Los Angeles was
enhanced, including added patrols, bomb-sniffing dogs, and inspections of cars
entering the underground garage.®*

Challenge: Jury Security

Judge Coughenour was not asked to use an anonymous jury; he has never used
one.>* But jurors did not report directly to the courthouse; instead they met at a
secret location from which they were transported to the courthouse by deputy
marshals.>*

Challenge: Witness Security

On March 29, 2001, Meskini testified at Ressam’s trial.>® It was reported that his
testifying would require his entering the witness protection program.®®’ He was
brought to the courtroom through a side door.>?®

Judge Coughenour overruled the government’s attempts to protect the identity
of another witness, such as taking testimony remotely or behind a screen and

520. Ressam Apr. 27, 2005, Transcript, supra note 488; Interview with Hon. John C. Cough-
enour, Oct. 3, 2008.

521. Interview with Hon. John C. Coughenour, Oct. 3, 2008; see Ressam Mar. 1, 2001, Tran-
script, supra note 464.

522. Sunde & Porterfield, supra note 427.

523. See Carter, supra note 466.

524. Interview with Hon. John C. Coughenour, Oct. 3, 2008.

525. Id.

Judge Coughenour preferred not to have to deal with the lock and combination himself. Inter-
view with Dep’t of Justice Litig. Sec. Group Staff, Jan. 7, 2010.

526. See Adams, supra note 446; Booth, supra note 470; Steve Miletich, Key Witness Testifies
Against Ressam, Seattle Times, Mar. 30, 2001, at B1; Sam Skolnik, U.S. Puts Reputed Fraud on
the Sand, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Mar. 30, 2001, at B1.

527. See Mike Carter, Witness Tells of Ticket to Pakistan, Seattle Times, Mar. 15, 2001, at B1.

528. See Miletich, supra note 526.
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withholding background information, and the government decided not to use the
witness.*®

529. Interview with Hon. John C. Coughenour, Oct. 3, 2008.
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Would-Be Spy

United States v. Regan
(Gerald Bruce Lee, E.D. Va.)

On August 23, 2001, federal agents arrested Brian Patrick Regan, a resident of
Bowie, Maryland, and a retired master sergeant of the U.S. Air Force, at Dulles
International Airport, aborting his trip to Zurich.>*®

Regan had been under surveillance for months, after aforeign source passed on alet-

ter from an unidentified US intelligence official offering to sell information. The letter

was riddled with misspellings like “enprisoned” and “esponage,” which led the FBI to

look for a bad speller within the intelligence community. Regan, who was dyslexic, be-
came the prime suspect. He would later be known as the spy who couldn’t spell %

The government filed a criminal complaint against him the next day in the
U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, accusing him of attempted
espionage.>* The complaint accused him of attempting to sell to Irag, Libya, and
Chinatop-secret information to which he had access as a contract employee of the
National Reconnaissance Office (NRO).>*® Regan was indicted on October 23,
2001,>** and superseding indictments were filed on February 14> and July 24,
2002.>% The government filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty on April
19, 2002.>*" The court assigned the case to Judge Gerald Bruce Lee.>*®

530. United States v. Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d 672, 675 (E.D. Va. 2002); United States v. Re-
gan, 221 F. Supp. 2d 666, 669 (E.D. Va. 2002); United States v. Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d 661, 662—
63 (E.D. Va 2002); see Yudhijit Bhattacharjee, Tale of a Would-Be Spy, Buried Treasure, and
Uncrackable Code, Wired, Feb. 2010, at 82 (reporting that Regan was arrested aboard a mobile
lounge); Rona Kobel, An Unlikely Setting for Global Intrigue Espionage, Balt. Sun, Feb. 11, 2003,
at 1B; Retired Air Force Sergeant Accused of Spying Is Going to Trial, N.Y. Times, Jan. 13, 2003,
at A19 [hereinafter Going to Trial]; Susannah Rosenblatt, Arduous Dig to Find Spy’s Buried
Sash, L.A. Times, July 31, 2003, at 24.

531. Bhattacharjee, supra note 530.

532. United States v. Regan, 228 F. Supp. 2d 742, 745 (E.D. Va. 2002); Regan, 221 F. Supp.
2d at 674; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 668; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 662; Docket Sheet, United
States v. Regan, No. 1:01-cr-405 (E.D. Va. Oct. 23, 2001).

533. United States v. Regan, 281 F. Supp. 2d 795, 801 (E.D. Va. 2002); Regan, 228 F. Supp.
2d at 745; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 674; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 668; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d
at 662; see Going to Trial, supra note 530.

Regan served in the U.S. Air Force from 1980 to 2001, retiring as a master sergeant. Regan,
228 F. Supp. 2d at 745; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 674; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 668; Regan, 221
F. Supp. 2d at 662; see Going to Trial, supra note 530. Until his retirement, he worked at the Sig-
nals Intelligence Applications Integration Office of the NRO. Regan, 228 F. Supp. 2d at 745; Re-
gan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 674; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 668; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 662.

534. Regan, 228 F. Supp. 2d at 745; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 674; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at
668; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 662; Docket Sheet, supra note 532.

535. Regan, 228 F. Supp. 2d at 745; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 675; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at
669; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 663; Docket Sheet, supra note 532.

536. Regan, 228 F. Supp. 2d at 746 (noting the filing of a superseding indictment in light of
the Supreme Court’s decision in Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002)); Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at
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On February 20, 2003, a jury convicted Regan of trying to sell secrets to Irag
and China, but acquitted him of trying to sell secretsto Libya>*® Thejury rejected
the death penalty on February 24,>*° and Regan was sentenced on March 20 to life
in prison without the possibility of parole.>* Regan agreed to accept the life sen-
tence in exchange for the government’s not prosecuting his wife and alowing her
to keep part of his military pension.>*

Regan also agreed to disclose what he had done with classified information.>*
Regan directed agents to a green plastic toothbrush holder and a purple plastic salt
shaker, each hidden near exit ramps off Interstate 95 between Washington, D.C.,
and Richmond, Virginia>** These containers held coded descriptions of the loca-
tions of 19 buried bundles of classified documents—20,000 pages, five compact
discs, and five videotapes—hidden in Pocahontas State Park in Virginia and Pa-
tapsco Valley State Park in Maryland.>*

Challenge: Classified Evidence

Asiscommon for a spy case, Regan’s prosecution involved classified information
to which the defendant and defense counsel had to be given access.>* The defen-
dant and his attorneys were given access to the classified information and a com-
puter in a sensitive compartmented information facility (SCIF) located in the
courthouse.>*’

675 (same); Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 669 (same); Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 663 (same); Docket
Sheset, supra note 532.

537. Regan, 228 F. Supp. 2d at 746; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 675; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at
669; Regan, 221 F. Supp. 2d at 663; Docket Sheet, supra note 532; see Going to Trial, supra note
530.

538. Docket Sheet, supra note 532; see U.S. Prosecutors Reconsider, Back Delay in Espionage
Suspect’s Trial, L.A. Times, Apr. 25, 2002, at 25 [hereinafter Prosecutors Reconsider]; Would-Be
Soy Given Lifein Prison, L.A. Times, Mar. 21, 2003, at 29 [hereinafter Life in Prison].

Tim Reagan and Joy Richardson interviewed Judge Lee for this report in the judge’s chambers
on October 2, 2006.

539. Docket Sheet, supra note 532; see Josh Meyer, Would-Be Spy Won't Face Death Penalty,
L.A. Times, Feb. 25, 2003, at 15; The Week That Was, Balt. Sun, Feb. 23, 2003, at 2C; Life in
Prison, supra note 538.

540. Docket Shest, supra note 532; see Meyer, supra note 539; Rosenblatt, supra note 530;
The Week That Was, Balt. Sun, Mar. 2, 2003, at 2C; Life in Prison, supra note 538.

541. Docket Sheet, supra note 532; see Rosenblatt, supra note 530; Life in Prison, supra note
538.

542. See Bhattacharjee, supra note 530; Life in Prison, supra note 538.

543. See Bhattacharjee, supra note 530; Rosenblatt, supra note 530.

544, See Rosenblatt, supra note 530.

545, See Bhattacharjee, supra note 530; Rosenblatt, supra note 530.

546. United States v. Regan, 281 F. Supp. 2d 795, 801 (E.D. Va. 2002).

Because classified information is an issue in many cases brought in the district that is home to
the Pentagon and the Central Intelligence Agency, Judge Lee requires all of his law clerks to have
security clearances. Interview with Hon. Gerald Bruce Lee, Oct. 2, 2006.

547. Regan, 281 F. Supp. 2d at 800-01; see Reagan, supra note 173, at 19 (describing SCIFs);
see also Priest & Arkin, supra note 239, at 50 (noting that SCIF is pronounced “skiff”).
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The SCIF is a secure facility located in the courthouse where the Defendant and his
attorneys may lawfully view classified information. Defense counsel may not remove
certain classified information from the SCIF, and the Defendant may not remove classi-
fied information from the SCIF. . . . The SCIF has been provided to the espionage defen-
dant and his counsel so that they may have access to classified information to prepare for
trial. The Defendant and his counsel must have access to classified information in a
“prosecution free zone.” Defense counsel and their client reasonably expect to be free to
work in the SCIF to compose work papers, trial memoranda, and tria strategy, free from
the roving eye of the prosecutor or the Court. Because the classified information involved
in this case relates to national security, the information must be kept secure. The SCIF af -
fords the Government a place to continue to protect classified information.>*

Discovered in Regan’s jail cell were apparently typewritten letters to his wife
and children and a page of code.> These documents appeared to concern the lo-
cations of hidden classified information.”® The government sought permission
from the court to search the SCIF to see if these documents were improperly
created on the computer there.>™" Judge Lee allowed a search, but established spe-
cia Eg?cedures to preserve the attorney—client privilege and work-product protec-
tion.

In order to avoid any claims that the Government has had access to defense counsel’s
pre-trial preparation, the Court is not going to allow the United States Attorney or the
Federal Bureau of Investigation to conduct the search. Rather the Court is going to refer
this matter to a United States Magistrate Judge to supervise the process of securing the
defense’s SCIF computer hard drives and disks for imaging and their return to counsel.
The United States Magistrate Judge will work with a court selected neutral computer ex-
pert with proper security clearances to image the Defendant’s computer hard drives and
to search for the enumerated four items. (1) two letters to Anette Regan; (2) letters or
memoranda to his children; and (3) a page of code composed of letters and numbers. All
of the items listed above will be attached to the court’s Order, UNDER SEAL. If these
items are found on the hard drive, then the computer expert will provide this information
in electronic and hard copy to the United States Magistrate Judge for review. The United
States Magistrate Judge is directed to report the computer expert’s findings to all counsel
and the District Judge. [The CIPA classified information security officer] is directed to
maintain the imaged hard drive in a secure location until the verdict is reached in this
case and further order of the court. The accompanying order will provide specific details
regarding the logistics of the computer imaging and search process.

VIII. Post-Verdict Search Procedures

After the jury has reached its verdict in this case, the Government may seek leave of

Court to conduct a further search on the hard drives and floppy disks. The Government

shall notify defense counsel of its intentions by a written motion. The Government must
notice its motion for a hearing with the Clerk’s Office, and then the motion shall be heard

Defense experts also had to obtain security clearances to examine classified documents. See
Prosecutors Reconsider, supra note 538.

548. Regan, 281 F. Supp. 2d at 801; see Anita Hudlin, If These Walls Could Talk. . ., Wash.
Post, May 28, 2006, at D1 (“the SCIF is a sanctuary, the ultimate members-only club for the kee-
pers of secrets”).

549. Regan, 281 F. Supp. 2d at 800, 807.

550. Id. at 800, 804-05.

551. Id. at 799-800.

552. Id. at 800.
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by the Court. Once the Government has reviewed the material that was seized pursuant to
the search, the Government may make use of the items as it deems proper.

Additionally, the appointed computer expert shall not reveal the contents of the
search to anyone except the Magistrate Judge appointed to work on this case.

This Memorandum Opinion and its accompanying Order SHALL be placed UNDER
SEAL, to avoid revealing any information that might adversely affect a potential juror in
thetrial of Defendant Brian Patrick Regan.™®

The unit of the Justice Department that provides the courts with classified in-
formation security officers—the Litigation Security Group within the Manage-
ment Division®—conducted the search.>

553. Id. at 806-07. The memorandum opinion was unsealed on March 10, 2003. Docket Shest,
supra note 532.

554. See Reagan, supra note 173, at 17-18.

555. Interview with Dep’t of Justice Litig. Sec. Group Staff, Feb. 3, 2010.
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Detroit

United Satesv. Koubriti
(Gerald E. Rosen, E.D. Mich.)

Six days after the September 11, 2001, attacks on the United States, federal agents
visited a suspected Detroit apartment residence of Nabil al-Marabh, a suspect in
the attacks.>™® Apparently al-Marabh had moved, and the current residents—
Karim Koubriti, Ahmed Hannan, and Farouk Ali-Haimoud—consented to a
search.”™’ Agents found fraudulent identification documents in the name of Y ous-
sef Hmimssa, a former roommate, who had asked them to hold the documents for
him.>® Koubriti and Hannan admitted that they knew that the documents were
fraudulent.>™ They were arrested that day and charged on the following day; they
were indicted on September 27 for possession of false documents.®® Hmimssa,
who was arrested in Cedar Rapids, lowa, also was indicted on September 27.%%
Ali-Haimoud was arrested with Koubriti and Hannan, but he was not indicted un-
til March 27, 2002.% Abdel 11ah EImardoudi, the alleged ringleader in Chicago,

556. Koubriti v. Convertino, 593 F.3d 459, 462 (6th Cir. 2010) (finding prosecutorial immuni-
ty in one defendant’s civil action); United States v. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d 723, 724-25, 727
(E.D. Mich. 2003) (sanctioning Attorney General John Ashcroft for false and public statements
about the case in violation of the court’s gag order); United States v. Koubriti, 252 F. Supp. 2d
424, 426 (E.D. Mich. 2003) (agreeing to partially close the jury voir dire); United States v. Kou-
briti, 199 F. Supp. 2d 656, 658-59 (E.D. Mich. 2002) (denying motions to suppress evidence ac-
quired during the search of the apartment); United States v. Koubriti, No. 2:01-cr-80778, 2001
WL 1525270, at *1 (E.D. Mich. Oct. 16, 2001) (denying bond release pending trial); Trying Cas-
es, supra note 226, at 21; see David Johnston, 3 Held in Detroit After Aircraft Diagrams Are
Found, N.Y. Times, Sept. 20, 2001, at B2; Philip Shenon & Don Van Natta, Jr., U.S. Says 3 De-
tainees May Be Tied to Hijackings, N.Y. Times, Nov. 1, 2001, at A1, Don Van Natta, Jr., Hun-
dreds of Arrests, but Promising Leads Unravel, N.Y. Times, Oct. 21, 2001, at B1.

557. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d at 727; Koubriti, 199 F. Supp. 2d at 660-61; Koubriti, 2001
WL 1525270, at *1; see This American Life: The Prosecutor (PRI radio broadcast May 31, 2008)
[hereinafter Prosecutor].

Two days later, al-Marabh was arrested in Burbank, Illinois. See Shenon & Van Natta, supra
note 556; Jodi Wilgoren, Trail of Man Sought in 2 Plots Leads to Chicago and Arrest, N.Y.
Times, Sept. 21, 2001, at B8. The government ultimately decided to merely deport him. See Dan-
ny Hakim, Trial Set to Begin for Four Men Accused of Being in Terror Cell, N.Y. Times, Mar. 17,
2003, at A15.

558. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d at 727; Koubriti, 252 F. Supp. 2d at 426; Koubriti, 199 F. Supp.
2d at 658; Koubriti, 2001 WL 1525270, at *2; see Johnston, supra note 556; Shenon & Van Natta,
supra note 556; Prosecutor, supra note 557; Van Natta, supra note 556.

559. Koubriti, 2001 WL 1525270, at *2, 6.

560. Koubriti, 252 F. Supp. 2d at 426; Koubriti, 199 F. Supp. 2d at 658-59; Koubriti, 2001
WL 1525270, at *1.

561. Koubriti, 199 F. Supp. 2d at 658; Koubriti, 2001 WL 1525270, at *1 n.2; see Danny Ha-
kim, Informer |s Cited as the Key to Unlocking a Terrorist Cell, N.Y. Times, Aug. 30, 2002, at
A10; Shenon & Van Natta, supra note 556; Van Natta, supra note 556.

562. Koubriti, 252 F. Supp. 2d at 426; Koubriti, 199 F. Supp. 2d at 658 n.1.
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aso was indicted on March 27.°% On August 28, 2002, the government added
charges against the defendants for material support of terrorism.*®* The U.S. Dis-
trict Court for the Eastern District of Michigan assigned the case to Judge Gerald
E. Rosen.”®

Hmimssa’s prosecution was severed from the other defendants’ because he
agreed to cooperate with the government and testify against them.>*® On Septem-
ber 9, 2005, he was sentenced to more than six years in prison for document
fraud.>®’ He was deported to Morocco in 2007.°%®

This case was a high-profile case that had received some national press cover-
age and alot of local press coverage.®® The court selected 280 prospective jurors
for the case, and the judge greeted them on March 18, 2003, with a speech dis-
closing the case on which they might serve and welcoming them to their opportu-
nity to provide civic service.>™

To select jurors, Judge Rosen worked with the attorneys to prepare a jury
questionnaire.>”* Based on answers to this questionnaire, the court and the attor-

563. Koubriti, 199 F. Supp. 2d at 658 n.1; see United States v. Elmardoudi, 501 F.3d 935,
937-38 (8th Cir. 2007); see also Hakim, supra note 557; Prosecutor, supra note 557.

Elmardoudi was arrested in North Carolina near Greensboro on November 4, 2002. Elmardou-
di, 501 F.3d at 937; see Danny Hakim, Man Accused of Being Leader of Detroit Terror Cdl Is
Arrested, N.Y. Times, Nov. 15, 2002, at A20; Dan Eggen & Allan Lengel, Alleged Leader of
“Seeper Cel” Arrested in N.C., Wash. Post, Nov. 15, 2002, at A28.

564. United States v. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d 723, 731 (E.D. Mich. 2003); see Douglas Farah
& Tom Jackman, 6 Accused of Conspiracy to Aid in Terror Attacks, Wash. Post, Aug. 29, 2002, at
Al

565. Docket Sheet, United States v. Koubriti, No. 2:01-cr-80778 (E.D. Mich. Sept. 27, 2001)
[hereinafter E.D. Mich. Koubriti Docket Sheet]; Gerald E. Rosen, The War on Terrorism in the
Courts, 5 Cardozo Pub. L. Pol’y & Ethics J. 101, 102 (2006) (“I presided over the nation’s first
post-September 11 terrorism trial”); see Danny Hakim, Judge Reverses Convictions in Detroit
Terrorism Case, N.Y. Times, Sept. 3, 2004, at A12.

Tim Reagan interviewed Judge Rosen for this report in the judge’s chambers on December 7,
2006, and by telephone on January 3 and April 18, 2007.

566. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d at 734; see Koubriti v. Convertino, 593 F.3d 459, 462 n.3 (6th
Cir. 2010); Koubriti, 199 F. Supp. 2d at 658 n.1.

“In the deal, Mr. Hmimssa received 46 monthsin prison for 10 unrelated felonies committed in
three states; he could have faced up to 81 years.” Danny Hakim, 2 Arabs Convicted and 2 Cleared
of Terrorist Plot Against the U.S,, N.Y. Times, June 4, 2003, at A1.

567. Criminal Judgment, Koubriti, No. 2:01-cr-80778 (E.D. Mich. Sept. 9, 2005) (sentencing
Hmimssa to 78 months in prison); see Cecil Angel, Ex-Terrorism Trial Witness Gets Maximum
Sentence, Detroit Free Press, Sept. 2, 2005, at 6.

424).

568. See David Ashenfelter, Terrorism Case’s Witness Deported, Detroit Free Press, Nov. 2,
2007, at 2.

569. Interview with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006.

570. E.D. Mich. Koubriti Docket Sheet, supra note 565 (noting voir dire from Mar. 18 to Mar.
26, 2003); Gerald E. Rosen, United States v. Koubriti: Preliminary Voir Dire (Mar. 18, 2003) (text
of speech); Interview with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006.

571. Gerald E. Rosen, United States v. Koubriti: Jury Questionnaire (Mar. 18, 2003); Interview
with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006.

66 National Security Case Management Sudies (11/14/2011)


http://www.bop.gov

neys were able to sort the potential jurors into three groups. (1) apparently suita-
ble, (2) possibly suitable, and (3) not suitable.>”® Jurors were questioned indivi-
dually, beginning with those “apparently suitable,” in random order, and a jury
was sel ected from the approximately 65-80 potential jurorsin that group.>”

On June 3, the jury convicted Koubriti and Elmardoudi of both terrorism and
document-fraud charges, convicted Hannan of document-fraud charges only, and
acquitted Ali-Haimoud.>™

In December 2003, it came to the court’s attention that the lead prosecutor in
the case had withheld from defense counsel a potentially exculpatory or impeach-
ing document.>” The defendant moved for a mistrial, but the government main-
tained that the document was not material .>”® Judge Rosen ordered an investiga-
tion, which showed that the withholding of this document was the tip of a mis-
conduct iceberg.>”’

As thoroughly detailed in the Government’s filing, at critical junctures and on critical is-

sues essentia to afair determination by the jury of the issues tried in this case, the prose-

cution failed in its obligation to turn over to the defense, or to the Court, many documents

and other information, both classified and non-classified, which were clearly and mate-

rially exculpatory of the Defendants as to the charges against them. Further, as the Gov-

ernment’s filing also makes abundantly clear, the prosecution materially misled the

Court, the jury and the defense as to the nature, character and complexion of critical evi-

dence that provided important foundations for the prosecution’s case.>”®
Judge Rosen concluded that “the prosecution early on in the case developed and
became invested in a view of the case and the Defendants’ culpability and role as
to the terrorism charges, and then ssmply ignored or avoided any evidence or in-
formation which contradicted or undermined that view.”"

572. Interview with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006.

573. 1d.

574. United States v. Koubriti, 509 F.3d 746, 748 (6th Cir. 2007); United States v. Koubriti,
305 F. Supp. 2d 723, 736 (E.D. Mich. 2003); see Koubriti v. Convertino, 593 F.3d 459, 463 & n.7
(6th Cir. 2010); United States v. Elmardoudi, 501 F.3d 935, 938 (8th Cir. 2007); see also Hakim,
supra note 566; Robert E. Pierre & R. Jeffrey Smith, Jury Splits Verdict in Terror Trial, Wash.
Post, June 4, 2003, at A10; Prosecutor, supra note 557.

Ali-Haimoud sued the publisher of The Terrorist Recognition Handbook for falsely identifying
him, with a photograph, as a known Al-Qaeda member. Notice of Removal, Ali-Haimoud v.
Nance, No. 2:04-cv-74737 (E.D. Mich. Dec. 3, 2004). The case was remanded to state court on
stipulation that the plaintiff would neither seek nor accept more than $75,000 in damages. Stipula-
tion, id. (Apr. 22, 2005).

575. United States v. Koubriti, 336 F. Supp. 2d 676, 678 (E.D. Mich. 2004); United Koubriti,
297 F. Supp. 2d 955, 958-61 (E.D. Mich. 2004); Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 22; see Koubri-
ti, 593 F.3d at 463; Prosecutor, supra note 557.

576. Interviews with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006, and Apr. 18, 2007.

577. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 23; see Koubriti, 593 F.3d at 463; Prosecutor, supra
note 557.

578. Koubriti, 336 F. Supp. 2d at 680-81; see also id. at 681-82 n.5 (“Having itself reviewed
[additional] classified materials, the Court observes that they provide additional and substantial
support for the conclusions reached in the Government’sfiling.”).

579. Id. at 681; see Hakim, supra note 565 (quoting text).
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As aresult, at the request of both the government and the defense, on Septem-
ber 2, 2004, the court dismissed the terrorism charges against Koubriti and El-
mardoudi and ordered a new tria on the fraudulent-document charges against
Koubriti, Elmardoudi, and Hannan.*® The government elected not to pursue fur-
ther the charges tried.®

The government nevertheless filed a fourth superseding indictment against
Koubriti and Hannan on December 15, charging them with faking an automobile
accident in July 2001 to defraud an insurance company.** Hannan pleaded guilty
on March 22, 2005, agreeing to a prison term of time served and deportation to
Morocco.”® The court released Koubriti on bond on October 12, 2004.%** K oubriti
unsuccessfully moved to dismiss the fourth superseding indictment as double jeo-
pardy and otherwise a violation of due process.®®* On February 9, 2010, Judge
Rosen granted the government’s motion to dismiss Koubriti’s indictment for suc-
cessful completion of pretria diversion.®

The prosecutor and a government witness were acquitted of wrongdoing in a criminal trial.
Docket Sheet, United States v. Convertino, No. 2:06-cr-20173 (E.D. Mich. Mar. 29, 2006) (noting
an QOct. 31, 2007, jury verdict of not guilty); Koubriti, 593 F.3d at 464; Trying Cases, supra note
226, at 23; see Spencer S. Hsu, Ex-Prosecutor, Security Officer Cleared in Terrorism Case, Wash.
Post, Nov. 1, 2007, at A3; Philip Shenon, Ex-Prosecutor Acquitted of Misconduct in 9/11 Case,
N.Y. Times, Nov. 1, 2007, at A17; Prosecutor, supra note 557.

580. United States v. Koubriti, 509 F.3d 746, 748 (6th Cir. 2007); Koubriti, 336 F. Supp. 2d a
682; Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 23; see Koubriti, 593 F.3d at 463-64; United States v. El-
mardoudi, 501 F.3d 935, 938 & n.4 (8th Cir. 2007); see also Hakim, supra note 565; Richard B.
Schmitt, Judge, Citing Misconduct, Tosses Terror Convictions, L.A. Times, Sept. 3, 2004, at 15;
Prosecutor, supra note 557.

581. United States v. Koubriti, 435 F. Supp. 2d 666, 670 & n.5 (E.D. Mich. 2006); Order to
Dismiss Third Superseding Indictment, United States v. Koubriti, No. 2:01-cr-80778 (E.D. Mich.
Jan. 18, 2005); Prosecutor, supra note 557.

582. Koubriti, 509 F.3d at 748; Fourth Superseding Indictment, Koubriti, No. 2:01-cr-80778
(E.D. Mich. Dec. 15, 2004); see Koubriti, 593 F.3d at 464; Koubriti, 435 F. Supp. 2d at 668, 670;
see also Terror Case Is Switched to Fraud Charges, Wash. Post, Dec. 16, 2004, at A10.

When federal agents first searched Koubriti and Hannan’s apartment, they noticed airport-
employee badges, which the agents regarded as alarming evidence. United States v. Koubriti, 199
F. Supp. 2d 656, 660 (E.D. Mich. 2002); United States v. Koubriti, No. 2:01-cr-80778, 2001 WL
1525270, at *1 (E.D. Mich. Oct. 16, 2001); see Johnston, supra note 556; Prosecutor, supra note
557. The residents told them at the time that they used to work for Sky Chefs as dishwashers but
stopped after an automobile accident prevented them from working there. Koubriti, 199 F. Supp.
2d at 661; Koubriti, 2001 WL 1525270, at * 3; see Shenon & Van Natta, supra note 556.

583. Crimina Judgment, Koubriti, No. 2:01-cr-80778 (E.D. Mich. Mar. 22, 2005); Plea
Agreement, id. (Mar. 22, 2005); see also Koubiriti, 435 F. Supp. 2d at 668 n.1 (noting that Hannan
has been deported).

584, Koubriti, 593 F.3d at 464.

585. Koubriti, 509 F.3d 746 (holding that aretrial after amistrial is not double jeopardy), cert.
denied, 552 U.S. 1328 (2008); Koubriti, 435 F. Supp. 2d 666.

586. Order, Koubriti, No. 2:01-cr-80778 (E.D. Mich. Feb. 9, 2010); see David Ashenfelter,
Deal May Lead to Probation for Koubriti, Detroit Free Press, Apr. 15, 2009, at 4A (reporting on
an agreement that would save Koubriti from a criminal record and provide him with a path to citi-
zenship); Paul Egan, Ex-Terror Suspect in Talks to Clear Record, Detroit News, Apr. 15, 2009, at
4A (same).
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Koubriti filed a lawsuit against the Wayne County Jail for improper condi-
tions of confinement, such as excessive security and serving him pork.>®’” The dis-
trict court granted the county summary judgment on claims of insufficient exer-
cise and serving pork, but denied summary judgment on excessive strip
searches,”® and the case settled.®® Koubriti then sued his prosecutors for mali-
cious prosecution,®® but the Sixth Circuit’s court of appeals determined that the
prosecutors had prosecutorial immunity.>* The district court granted summary
judgment to an FBI agent defendant, bringing the case to a close.>*

Elmardoudi was sentenced by the U.S. District Court for the District of Min-
nesota to four years and three months in prison in a separate prosecution for traf-
ficking in fraudulent telephone calling cards,>*® and he was sentenced by the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of lowa to five yearsin prison for fraudu-
lent use of Social Security numbers.**

587. Complaint, Koubriti v. Rojo, No. 2:05-cv-74343 (E.D. Mich. Nov. 14, 2005).
In their first motion for summary judgment, the defendants noted that “[w]hile incarcerated in
the Wayne County Jail Plaintiff was deemed a level 4 security risk by the U.S. Marshals, and as
such, was placed in a ‘super max’ security cell block.” Defendants’ Summary Judgment Motion at
1, id. (July 25, 2006).
Between September 17, 2001 until August of 2003, Plaintiff Koubriti was incarcerated in the
Wayne County Jail, and per level 4 “super max” security protocol, Plaintiff Koubriti was
ensconced in his cell for 23 hours per day, and allowed 1 hour per day of exercise. . . . In Au-
gust of 2003, Plaintiff was released, but was recharged again in November 2003. From No-
vember 2003 until July of 2004, Plaintiff Koubriti was once again incarcerated in the Wayne
County Jail and given alevel 4 max security risk classification.

Id. at 2.

588. Opinion, id. (July 27, 2007), available at 2007 WL 2178331 (granting summary judgment
on exercise claim); Opinion, id. (Jan. 3, 2007), available at 2007 WL 45923 (granting summary
judgment on the pork claim).

589. Stipulated Dismissals, id. (Aug. 9 and 24, 2007).

590. Complaint, Koubriti v. Convertino, No. 2:07-cv-13678 (E.D. Mich. Aug. 30, 2007);
Docket Sheet, id.; see Paul Egan, Ex-Terror Suspect Sues Convertino, Detroit News, Aug. 31,
2007, at 5B; Prosecutor, supra note 557.

591. Koubriti v. Convertino, 593 F.3d 459 (6th Cir.), cert. denied,  U.S. _ ,131S.Ct. 82
(2010); see Ben Schmitt & Robin Erb, Man Can't Sue U.S. Prosecutor in Terror Case, Detroit
Free Press, Feb. 4, 2010, at A8.

592. Order, Koubriti, No. 2:07-cv-13678 (E.D. Mich. May 23, 2011), available at 2011 WL
1982239; see David Ashenfelter, Mike Brookbank, Tammy Stables Battaglia, Elisha Anderson &
Megha Satyanarayana, Dismissal Ends Terror Trial Lawsuit, Detroit Free Press, May 24, 2011, at
A4

593. United States v. Elmardoudi, 501 F.3d 935, 937, 940 (8th Cir. 2007) (describing the crime
as ““shoulder surfing,” that is, surreptitiously memorizing other people’s calling card and credit
card numbers at the Minneapolis-St. Paul airport and then passing the numbers on to other people
who used them to pay for telephone calls.”), cert. denied, 552 U.S. 1120 (2008); Amended Sen-
tencing Judgment, United States v. ElImardoudi, No. 0:06-cr-262 (D. Minn. Oct. 17, 2006).

594. Judgment, United States v. Elmardoudi, No. 1:06-cr-112 (N.D. lowa Mar. 14, 2008); In-
dictment, id. (Aug. 16, 2006); see EImardoudi, 501 F.3d at 937. The court of appeals affirmed.
Opinion, United States v. ElImardoudi, 313 F. App’x 923 (8th Cir.), cert. denied,  U.S.
130 S. Ct. 421 (2009).
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Challenge: Jury Security

To protect jurors’ security, Judge Rosen implemented “soft sequestration.”® Ju-
rors did not come directly to the courthouse in the morning.>*® Instead, they as-
sembled at a secret location and were driven to the courthouse in a van.>®” Some-
one found out about the secret location and called the jury room with a death
threat.>® On the following day, someone called the Detroit News with a death
threat concerning the judge.®® The Marshal changed the jurors’ meeting location,
used a different-color van to transport them, and beefed up security for Judge Ro-
sen’s courtroom.®®

Another measure Judge Rosen implemented to protect jurors’ security was to
empanel an anonymous jury.®* Jury selection was conducted behind closed
doors.%®? Judge Rosen released a redacted transcript of the selection process, but
only after the trial was over.®® Judge Rosen noted that it was very important to
make sure that the jury clerk knew that the names and addresses of the jurors were
confidential

Challenge: Sanctioning a Cabinet Officer

On December 16, 2003, Judge Rosen issued “a public and formal judicial admo-
nishment of the Attorney General .”®® As Judge Rosen recalled,
the Attorney Genera of the United States violated a gag order that was stipulated by the
parties—indeed, drafted by the government—not once, but twice, which occasioned con-
tempt motions by the defense throughout the trial, which | put off until after the trial. |
think 1 was the first federal judge to be required to issue a public admonishment of the
Attorney General of the United States,%®
On October 23, 2001, Judge Rosen issued a stipulated gag order forbidding
public comments about the case that would have a reasonable likelihood of inter-

595. Interview with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006.

596. Id.

597. 1d.

598. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 21; Interview with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006.

599. Interview with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006.

600. Interviews with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006, and Jan. 3, 2007.

601. United States v. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d 723, 728 (E.D. Mich. 2003); United States v.
Koubriti, 252 F. Supp. 2d 424, 426 (E.D. Mich. 2003); United States v. Koubriti, 252 F. Supp. 2d
418 (E.D. Mich. 2002) (denying a motion opposing the empanelling of an anonymous jury); Try-
ing Cases, supra note 226, at 21; see David Eggen & Allan Lengel, In Detroit, First Post-9/11
Terrorism Trial, Wash. Post, Mar. 19, 2003, at A3; David Runk, Judge Says Elmardoudi Terror
Trial to Proceed, St. Paul Pioneer Press, Mar. 25, 2003, at B9.

602. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 21; Interview with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006;
see Eggen & Lengel, supra note 601.

603. Interview with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006.

604. 1d.

605. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d at 726; see id. at 763-65; see also Robert E. Pierre, Judge Re-
bukes Ashcroft for Gag Violation, Wash. Post, Dec. 17, 2003, at A27; Richard B. Schmitt, Ash-
croft Is Rebuked by U.S. Judge, L.A. Times, Dec. 17, 2003, at 20.

606. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 21.
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fering with afair trial .®’ Eight days later, Attorney General John Ashcroft incor-
rectly stated at a press conference that the defendants in the case were “suspected
of having knowledge of the September 11th attacks.”®® In addition, during the
trial, the Attorney General commented favorably at a press conference on the cre-
dibility of the cooperating codefendant’s testimony.®®

On the day before the grand jury handed down the second superseding indict-
ment adding terrorism charges for the first time, Fox News announced the forth-
coming indictment in detail sufficient to suggest the indictment had been impro-
perly leaked.®™® On the following day, MSNBC News presented improperly
leaked evidence against the defendants.®™* The Attorney General’s responsibility
for these leaks remained unclear.®*

The defendants moved for sanctions against the Attorney General on August
28, 2003.%** On the following day, Judge Rosen ordered the Attorney General “to
show cause in writing why he should not be compelled to appear for a hearing to
address Defendants’ motion.”®* In response, the Attorney General stated that he
regretted making the statements and acknowledged that they were mistakes, but
said that they were entirely inadvertent.®™

Because the sanction motion occurred after the trial was over, a civil contempt
sanction could not remedy the wrongdoing; the only type of pertinent contempt
would be criminal contempt as a punitive sanction.®*® Criminal contempt proceed-
ings against a sitting Cabinet officer would require extraordinary procedures and
implicate serious constitutional issues.®*’ Because the record did not suggest will-
ful violation of the court’s order, Judge Rosen decided that confronting these dif-
ficulties would not be necessary.®*® But because the Attorney General did violate

607. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d at 728-29; see id. at 733 (“I didn’t initiate the gag order, but |
intend to keep it in place until further order of the Court, and | intend to enforce it.”); see also
Prosecutor, supra note 557.

608. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d at 725, 729-30; see Shenon & Van Natta, supra note 556 (re-
porting on the Attorney General’s news conference); Prosecutor, supra note 557.

Two days after the news conference, the Justice Department acknowledged that “it did not
know whether three Arab men now in custody in Michigan had advance knowledge of the terror
attacks of Sept. 11.” Don Van Natta, Jr., Justice Dept. Alters Sand on 3 Detained, N.Y. Times,
Nov. 3, 2001, at B5; see Prosecutor, supra note 557. But, more than five years after that, govern-
ment counsel told an appellate panel at oral argument that Elmardoudi was accused of supporting
terrorists connected with the September 11, 2001, attacks. United States v. Elmardoudi, 504 F.3d
935, 938 n.3 (8th Cir. 2007).

609. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d at 725, 735-36.

610. Id. at 731; Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 22; see Prosecutor, supra note 557 (noting
that Judge Rosen learned from the broadcast that he would preside over the case).

611. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d at 732.

612.1d. at 725 n.1.

613. E.D. Mich. Koubriti Docket Sheet, supra note 565.

614. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d at 725; seealsoid. at 737.

615. Id. at 737-38; see Schmitt, supra note 605.

616. Koubriti, 305 F. Supp. 2d at 741.

617.1d. at 726, 742, 752-57.

618. Id. at 726, 748-57.
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the court’s order on two occasions, Judge Rosen decided to formally admonish
him.®*

Challenge: Classified Evidence

In order to investigate claims of prosecutorial misconduct, the court had to review
the prosecution’s entire case file, which included classified documents, as well as
highly sensitive records maintained at CIA headquarters.®® Judge Rosen nego-
tiated with the CIA’s general counsel to establish a protocol for the review and
use of the CIA’s evidence.®” Because records of cable traffic could not be
brought to Detroit, Judge Rosen traveled to McLean, Virginia, to review them.®?

Review of classified evidence in Detroit required the court to (1) establish a
sensitive compartmented information facility (SCIF)®® and (2) engage in the
time-consuming process of obtaining security clearances for both court staff and
defense counsel .***

A SCIF is a secure room in which documents are stored in independently
locked file drawers.®® The room was created by classified information security
officers provided by the Justice Department’s Litigation Security Group,®® and
then the court programmed the codes for access.®?” Only chambers staff with se-
curity clearances may enter this SCIF.%%

If there is any chance that a case will involve classified information, Judge
Rosen advised the following:

The first thing that the judge should do is to have a conference with the lawyers and
attempt to determine whether classified information is going to be a part of the case.
That’s not as easy as it sounds, because sometimes it is unclear whether classified infor-
mation will be a part of the case. The government may have classified information, but
they may not be certain if they are going to use it. So, at the very least, if it looks remote-

ly asif classified information may be implicated in the case, the court should discuss this
with counsel and have a very open discussion.®®®

619. Id. at 725-26, 757-65; see Schmitt, supra note 605; Prosecutor, supra note 557.

620. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 22; Interviews with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006,
and Apr. 18, 2007.

621. Interviews with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006, and Apr. 18, 2007.

622. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 5-6; Interviews with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7,
2006, and Apr. 18, 2007.

623. Interview with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006; see Reagan, supra note 173, at 19
(describing SCIFs).

624. United States v. Koubriti, 336 F. Supp. 2d 676, 678 (E.D. Mich. 2004).

Judge Rosen employs career law clerks, and all of his originaly cleared staff remain on staff.
Interview with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006.

625. Rosen, supra note 565, at 105; Interview with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006; see
also Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 4-5.

626. See Reagan, supra note 173, at 17-18.

627. Interview with Hon. Gerald E. Rosen, Dec. 7, 2006.

628. Id.

629. Trying Cases, supra note 226, at 3.
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Twentieth Hijacker

United Sates v. Moussaoui
(Leonie M. Brinkema, E.D. Va.)*®

On September 11, 2001, four hijacked commercial jumbo jets were crashed in
New York, Virginia, and Pennsylvania, killing nearly 3,000 people, including 19
suspected hijackers.®® Two planes crashed into the two towers of the World
Trade Center in New Y ork City, and one plane crashed into the Pentagon; each of
these planes apparently had five hijackers aboard.®** The fourth plane crashed
near Shanksville, Pennsylvania, apparently after passengers thwarted the hijack-
ers’ plan to strike a strategic target—perhaps the Capitol.**® This plane apparently
had only four hijackers aboard.®* Just a few days later, it was reported that Zaca-
rias Moussaoui may have been intended to be the twentieth hijacker.®®

Moussaoui could not hijack a plane on September 11, because he was in cus-
tody following an arrest in Minnesota on August 16 for an immigration viola-
tion.?*® Three days earlier, he had begun instruction at the Pan Am International

630. Pre-conviction appeals were heard by Fourth Circuit Judges William W. Wilkins, Karen
J. Williams, and Roger L. Gregory; a post-conviction appeal was first heard by Judges Williams
and Gregory and Fourth Circuit Judge William B. Traxler, Jr., and then reheard by Judges Traxler
and Gregory and Fourth Circuit Judge Dennis W. Shedd.

631. The 9/11 Commission Report 1-14, 311 (2004); United States v. Moussaoui, 591 F.3d
263, 266 (4th Cir. 2010); United States v. Moussaoui, 382 F.3d 453, 457 (4th Cir. 2004); United
States v. Moussaoui, 333 F.3d 509, 512 (4th Cir. 2003); see Michael Grunwald, Terrorists Hijack
4 Airliners, Destroy World Trade Center, Hit Pentagon, Wash. Post, Sept. 12, 2001, at A1; Serge
Schmemann, U.S. Attacked, N.Y. Times, Sept. 12, 2001, at A1; see also'http://iegacy.com/Sept1l]
Home.aspx (providing victim profiles).

632. See Grunwald, supra note 631; David Johnston & Philip Shenon, Man Held Since August
Is Charged with a Role in Sept. 11 Terror Plot, N.Y. Times, Dec. 12, 2001, at A1; New Theory on
a 20th Hijacker |Is Offered, N.Y. Times, Nov. 16, 2001, at B10 [hereinafter New Theory]; Schme-
mann, supra note 631.

633. The 9/11 Commission Report 244 (2004); Moussaoui, 591 F.3d at 266; see Grunwald,
supra note 631; Jere Longman, Families Say Tapes Verify Talk of Valor, N.Y. Times, Apr. 19,
2002, at A14; New Theory, supra note 632; Schmemann, supra note 631; see also Terry McDer-
mott, The Mastermind, New Y orker, Sept. 13, 2010, at 38, 49 (“[Khalid Shelkh Mohammed)] al-
lowed Attato overrule Bin Laden’s choice of the White House as one of the targets—Atta thought
it was too difficult—and substituted the Capitol.”); Soufan, supra note 64, at 282 (reporting that
Osama Bin Laden identified the Capitol as the fourth target).

634. See David Johnston & Philip Shenon, F.B.1. Curbed Scrutiny of Man Now a Suspect in
the Attacks, N.Y. Times, Oct. 6, 2001, at A1; Johnston & Shenon, supra note 632; Longman, su-
pra note 633; New Theory, supra note 632.

635. Suzanne Daley, Mysterious Life of a Suspect from France, N.Y. Times, Sept. 21, 2001, at
B1; David Peterson, Mother Says Extremists Brainwashed Her Son, Minneapolis-St. Paul Star
Trib., Sept. 20, 2001, at 9A (reporting that the French newsmagazine L 'Express speculated online
on Sept. 19, 2001, that Moussaoui might be the twentieth hijacker).

636. The 9/11 Commission Report 247 (2004) (reporting that the planners of the attacks might
have canceled them if they had known about Moussaoui’s arrest); Moussaoui, 591 F.3d at 266;
Moussaoui, 382 F.3d at 457; Moussaoui, 333 F.3d at 512; United States v. Moussaoui, 282 F.
Supp. 2d 480, 483 (E.D. Va. 2003); see Katherine C. Donahue, Slave of Allah 3, 15-16 (2007);

National Security Case Management Sudies (11/14/2011) 73


http://legacy.com/Sept11/

Flight Academy.®® It was initially reported that he aroused suspicion when he
expressed an interest in steering a jumbo jet but not in taking off or landing.®®
But the Washington Post reported in November that the director of the FBI told
federal prosecutors at a closed-door meeting that initial reports of Moussaoui’s
not wanting to learn how to take off or land were inaccurate, and Moussaoui no
longer was thought to be intended as the twentieth hijacker; he was thought to
have been intended for a later attack.®*

Moussaoui was born on May 30, 1968, in the Atlantic coast town of St.-Jean-
de-Luz, France, the youngest of four children.®*® He moved to London in 1990,
and then moved back to France in 1997.°* By the time he entered the United
States on a student visa, French authorities already suspected him of terrorist
ties.®” In February 2001, he moved to Norman, Oklahoma, for training at the
Airman Flight School, where his performance was judged poor.®*

Johnston & Shenon, supra note 632; Peterson, supra note 635; Pohlman, supra note 220, at 192;
Soufan, supra note 64, at 277.

637. The 9/11 Commission Report 246-47, 273 (2004); Moussaoui, 591 F.3d at 266, 274; see
Johnston & Shenon, supra note 634.

One of the three instructors who alerted authorities to suspicion concerning Moussaoui re-
celved a $5 million reward in 2008. See Reward in Moussaoui Case, N.Y. Times, Jan. 25, 2008, at
A18; Two Others Seek Reward in Moussaoui Case, N.Y. Times, Jan. 26, 2008, at A10.

638. James V. Grimaldi, FBI Had Warning on Man Now Held in Attacks, Wash. Post, Sept.
23, 2001, at A18; Johnston & Shenon, supra note 634; Susan Schmidt & Lois Romano, Did Su-
dent’s Case Hold Cluesto Terrorist Plot?, Wash. Post, Sept. 22, 2001, at A20.

639. Dan Eggen, Yemeni Fugitive Linked to Hijackers, Wash. Post, Nov. 15, 2001, at A20; see
Bin al-Shibh Deposition Opinion at 3, United States v. Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va
Mar. 10, 2003), available at 2003 WL 21263699 (“he suggests that he was part of another opera-
tion to occur outside the United States after September 11 involving different members of a Qae-
da”); Philip Shenon, F.B.I. Chief Says Failed Sept. 11 Hijackers May Remain at Large, N.Y.
Times, Nov. 17, 2001, at B5.

In 2004, the 9/11 Commission reported that 9/11 conspirator “Khallad believes [Khalid Sheikh
Mohammed] wanted between four and six operators per plane. KSM states that al Qaeda had orig-
inally planned to use 25 or 26 hijackers but ended up with only the 19.” The 9/11 Commission
Report 235 (2004).

640. See Daley, supra note 635; Donahue, supra note 636, at 42, 104; Schmidt & Romano, su-
pra note 638.

641. See Daley, supra note 635.

642. See Donahue, supra note 636, at 16-17, 116-17; Grimaldi, supra note 638 (reporting that
French officials warned the FBI of their suspicions at least ten days before the September 11 at-
tacks); Diana Jean Schemo & Robert Pear, Suspects in Hijackings Exploited Loopholes in Immi-
gration Policy, N.Y. Times, Sept. 27, 2001, at Al

In April 1998, Moussaoui was at the same terrorist training camp in Afghanistan as Ahmed
Ressam, who is sometimes referred to as the Millennium Bomber. See Donahue, supra note 636,
at 121, 165; see also supra, “Millennium Bomber” (concerning the prosecution of Ressam).

643. The 9/11 Commission Report 224-25 (2004) (reporting that Mohamed Atta, the hijacking
pilot of American Airlinesflight 11, visited the flight school several months earlier); United States
v. Moussaoui, 591 F.3d 263, 274 (4th Cir. 2010); see Daley, supra note 635; Donahue, supra note
636, at 13-15, 125; Timothy Dwyer & Jerry Markon, Flight Instructor Recalls Unease with Mous-
saoui, Wash. Post, Mar. 10, 2006, at A2; Johnston & Shenon, supra note 634; Schmidt & Roma-
no, supra note 638; Soufan, supra note 64, at 276-77.
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During this time, he apparently had contact with Ramzi Muhammad Abdullah
Bin a-Shibh,*** a roommate of Mohamed Atta®® in Hamburg, Germany.®*® Atta
is believed to have been the leader of the September 11 attacks and the pilot of the
first plane to hit the World Trade Center.®*’ Bin al-Shibh apparently wired Mous-
saoui $14,000,%* $8,600 of which Moussaoui used for flight school.° Ramzi Bin
al-Shibh was also known as Ramzi Omar,** and he too came to be suspected as
the intended twentieth hijacker,?®* but he was repeatedly denied a visa to enter the
United States.®” He was captured in Karachi, Pakistan, on the eve of the first an-
niversary of September 11, held in Morocco in secret by the CIA, and eventually
trans(faglrred to Guantdnamo Bay.®® He is to be tried there by military commis-
sion.

644. “Bin al-Shibh was an affable layabout who rarely held a job for more than a few weeks
and found university study not worth his effort.” McDermott, supra note 633, at 49.

645. “Atta was a finicky, dour man whose chief attributes were obedience and a capacity for
detail.” Id.

646. The 9/11 Commission Report 162 (2004) (Atta and Bin al-Shibh moved in with hijacker
Marwan a-Shehhi in April 1998); Moussaoui, 591 F.3d at 274; see James Risen, U.S Says Sus-
pect Tied to 9/11 and Qaeda Is Captured in Raid, N.Y. Times, Sept. 14, 2002, at A1; Soufan, su-
pra note 64, at 271-73; John Tagliabue & Raymond Bonner, German Data Led U.S. to Search for
More Suicide Hijacker Teams, N.Y. Times, Sept. 29, 2001, at Al; see also The 9/11 Commission
Report 161 (2004) (profiling Bin a-Shibh).

647. The 9/11 Commission Report 5 (2004) (Atta was “the only terrorist on board trained to
fly ajet”); see Johnston & Shenon, supra note 634; Risen, supra note 646; John Tagliabue, Re-
tracing a Trail to Sept. 11 Plot, N.Y. Times, Nov. 18, 2001, at 1.

648. The 9/11 Commission Report 246, 273 (2004); see Donahue, supra note 636, at 1, 28-29,
76; Johnston & Shenon, supra note 632.

649. See Philip Shenon, The Terrible Missed Chance, Newsweek, Sept. 12, 2011, at 15.

650. See McDermott, supra note 633, at 49; Soufan, supra note 64, at 272.

651. See New Theory, supra note 632; Risen, supra note 646; Shenon, supra note 639; Taglia-
bue, supra note 647.

Another person designated the twentieth hijacker—Mohammed al-Qahtani—is detained at
Guantanamo Bay. See Hafetz, supra note 502, at 38; Charlie Savage, William Glaberson & An-
drew W. Lehren, Classified Files Offer New Insights Into Detainees, N.Y. Times, Apr. 25, 2011,
at Al; Soufan, supra note 64, at 458-59; Wax, supra note 91, at 154.

652. The 9/11 Commission Report 161, 168, 225 (2004) (reporting that Bin al-Shibh could not
persuade immigration officials that he would return home); see McDermott, supra note 633, at 49
(“the American immigration system viewed him as a likely economic migrant”); Michael Moss, A
Traveler with Strong Views on the Right Kind of Islam and No Fear of Sharing Them, N.Y. Times,
Dec. 12, 2001, at B6; Soufan, supra note 64, at 272 (“The United States at the time was suspicious
of Yemeni visa seekers, believing they’d attempt to becomeillegal immigrants.”); id. at 275.

653. See Donahue, supra note 636, at 29; Peter Finn, 9/11 Detainee’s Interrogation in Moroc-
co Was Recorded, Wash. Post, Aug. 18, 2010, at A4; Kamran Khan & Peter Finn, Pakistanis De-
tail Capture of Key 9/11 Suspect, Wash. Post, Sept. 15, 2002, at A1l; Mark Mazzetti, 9/11 Suspect
Was Detained and Taped in Morocco, N.Y. Times, Aug. 18, 2010, at A4; Walter Pincus, Binal-
shibh Said to Provide “Useful Information,” Wash. Post., Oct. 4, 2002, at A17; Risen, supra note
646; Soufan, supra note 64, at 428, 484-88.
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Unlike the hijackers, who trained on aircraft simulators for a year or more,
Moussaoui enrolled in flight school only months before the September 11 at-
tacks.®

The government filed an indictment against Moussaoui on December 11,
2001, in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia.®® Four of the
Six conspiracy counts exposed Moussaoui to the death penalty, and the court im-
mediately appointed three attorneys to represent him.®’ The court assigned the
case to Judge Leonie M. Brinkema.®*®

At his January 2, 2002, arraignment, Moussaoui refused to enter a plea: “In
the name of Allah, I do not have anything to plead. | enter no plea. Thank you
very much.”®® Judge Brinkema, with the consent of Moussaoui’s lawyer, entered
a plea of not guilty.*® Meeting a deadline set by the court, the government an-
nounced on March 28 that it would seek the death penalty.®®*

Moussaoui refused to honor the judge by standing when she entered or |eft the
courtroom, so Judge Brinkema arranged proceedings so that she and he would
enter and |eave the courtroom at the same time.®*

At a hearing on April 22 concerning Moussaoui’s conditions of confinement,
the defendant raised his hand and, when recognized by Judge Brinkema, began a

655. See Johnston & Shenon, supra note 634.

656. Indictment, United States v. Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Dec. 11, 2001); Unit-
ed States v. Moussaoui, 591 F.3d 263, 266 (4th Cir. 2010); United States v. Moussaoui, 483 F.3d
220, 223 n.1 (4th Cir. 2007); see Donahue, supra note 636, at 1-2, 19; Dan Eggen & Brooke A.
Masters, U.S. Indicts Suspect in Sept. 11 Attacks, Wash. Post, Dec. 12, 2001, at Al; Johnston &
Shenon, supra note 632; Pohlman, supra note 220, at 192.

Moussaoui was originaly flown to New York, on September 14, 2001, for possible prosecu-
tion there. See Donahue, supra note 636, at 18-19 (“But the Department of Justice was going to
ask for the death penalty, and the New Y ork court had deadlocked on the death penalty for two of
the East African embassy bombing suspects. A court near the Pentagon would more likely decide
for the death penalty.”). Moussaoui was transported to Alexandria, Virginia, on December 13. See
id. at 19.

657. Complex Case Order at 1, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Dec. 11, 2001) (recog-
nizing four capital counts), available at 2001 WL 1887910; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 1, 19;
Johnston & Shenon, supra note 632; David Johnston & Benjamin Weiser, Government’s Focus in
the First Sept. 11 Trial: Al Qaeda, N.Y. Times, Dec. 13, 2001, at B5.

658. Docket Sheet, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Dec. 11, 2001) [hereinafter E.D. Va.
Docket Sheet]; see Philip Shenon & Neil A. Lewis, Unpredictable Judge for Terrorism Suspect,
N.Y. Times, Dec. 26, 2001, at B6.

Tim Reagan interviewed Judge Brinkema for this report in the judge’s chambers on January 5,
2007, and by telephone on March 26, 2008.

659. See David Johnston, Not-Guilty Plea Is Set for Man in Terror Case, N.Y. Times, Jan. 3,
2002, at A1l; see also Libby Copeland, A Glimpse at a Symbol of a Changed World, Wash. Post,
Jan. 3, 2002, at C1; Donahue, supra note 636, at 8, 20.

660. E.D. Va. Docket Shest, supra note 658; Moussaoui, 591 F.3d at 267; see Copeland, supra
note 659; Donahue, supra note 636, at 20; Johnston, supra note 659.

661. Complex Case Order, supra note 657, at 3 (setting a deadline of Mar. 29, 2002); Death
Penalty Notice, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Mar. 28, 2002); Moussaoui, 483 F.3d at
223-24 n.1; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 23; Philip Shennon & Neil A. Lewis, U.S. to Seek
Death Penalty for Moussaoui in Terror Case, N.Y. Times, Mar. 29, 2002, at A20.

662. See Donahue, supra note 636, at 9, 64.
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50-minute diatribe on Islam and the U.S. government’s conspiracy to kill him.®®
He said that his lawyers did not understand Muslims, so he would like to
represent himself, possibly with the assistance of a Muslim lawyer.®** Judge Brin-
kema said that he could represent himself if he were adjudged competent to do so,
but that she recommended against it and would continue the appointment of his
attorneys as backups.®®

A court-appointed psychiatrist determined that Moussaoui was a fanatic, but
not mentally incompetent to stand trial or waive his right to counsel.*®® On June
13, Judge Brinkema granted Moussaoui’s motion to represent himself, keeping
appointed counsel as standbys.®®’

The government filed a superseding indictment on June 19,°%® and at the ar-
raignment six days later Moussaoui tried to plead no contest.®®® Judge Brinkema
admonished him that such a plea did not mean what he seemed to think it meant
and again entered a plea of not guilty on his behalf.®”

On June 24, in Ring v. Arizona, the Supreme Court determined that aggravat-
ing factors meriting a death sentence must be proved to a jury beyond a reasona-
ble doubt.®™ So the government filed a second superseding indictment on July 16
to accommodate the requirements of Ring.®”? At the July 18 arraignment on the
new indictment, Moussaoui announced, “I, Moussaoui Zacarias, in the interests to
preserve my life, enter with full conscience a plea of guilty, because | have know-

663. See Pohlman, supra note 220, at 193-94 (presenting excerpts from speech); Philip She-
non, Terror Suspect Says He Wants U.S. Destroyed, N.Y. Times, Apr. 23, 2002, at AL

664. Moussaoui, 591 F.3d at 269-70; United States v. Moussaoui, 333 F.3d 509, 512-13 (4th
Cir. 2003); see Motion to Proceed Pro Se, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Apr. 25, 2002)
(handwritten motion dated Apr. 22, 2002); Pohiman, supra note 220, at 192; Donahue, supra note
636, at 23-24, 36, 39-40, 166; Shenon, supra note 663.

665. Mental Health Evaluation Order, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Apr. 22, 2002),
available at 2002 WL 1311722; see Moussaoui, 591 F.3d at 270; Donahue, supra note 636, at 24,
36, 54; Shenon, supra note 663.

666. See Philip Shenon, Court Psychiatrist Concludes Defendant Is Not Mentally 1ll, N.Y.
Times, June 8, 2002, at A11; see also Donahue, supra note 636, at 54.

667. Pro Se Order, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. June 14, 2002), available at 2002
WL 1311738; Moussaoui, 591 F.3d at 274-75, 292-93; Moussaoui, 333 F.3d at 513; see Dona-
hue, supra note 636, at 24, 36, 54; Pohiman, supra note 220, at 192; Philip Shenon, Judge Lets
Man Accused in Sept. 11 Plot Defend Himself, N.Y. Times, June 14, 2002, at A27.

668. Superseding Indictment, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. June 19, 2002).

669. Order Denying No-Contest Plea, id. (July 9, 2002), available at 2002 WL 1587025; see
Neil A. Lewis, Defendant in Sept. 11 Plot Accuses Judge of Trickery, N.Y. Times, June 26, 2002,
at Al8.

670. Order Denying No-Contest Plea, supra note 669; E.D. Va. Docket Sheet, supra note 658;
see Lewis, supra note 669.

671. Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002).

672. Second Superseding Indictment, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. July 16, 2002);
United States v. Moussaoui, 382 F.3d 453, 457 (4th Cir. 2004); see Donahue, supra note 636, at
26; Philip Shenon, Judge Clears Defendant to Meet French Diplomats, N.Y. Times, July 17, 2002,
at Al6.
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ledge and participated in Al Qaeda.”®”® Judge Brinkema decided to give him a
week to reconsider his guilty plea.®™ On July 25, Moussaoui insisted that his sup-
port for Al-Qaeda did not include involvement in the September 11 hijackings,
and, on instructions from Judge Brinkema that this was inconsistent with a guilty
plea, he changed his pleato not guilty.®”

On January 31, 2003, Judge Brinkema secretly ordered the government to al-
low Moussaoui’s standby attorneys to interview Bin a-Shibh, who was under-
going intensive interrogations overseas.®”® Judge Brinkema postponed the trial
indefinitely to permit the government to appeal .®’’ The court of appeals stayed the
appeal briefly and remanded the case so that the government could suggest alter-
natives to the evidence sought.®”® Judge Brinkema ruled that a government sum-
mary of what Bin al-Shibh would say if interviewed would be insufficient “be-
cause of its unreliability, incompleteness and inaccuracy.”®’® After oral argument
on June 3 before U.S. Circuit Judges William W. Wilkins, Karen J. Williams, and
Roger L. Gregory,®® the court of appeals determined on June 26 that it did not

673. United States v. Moussaoui, 591 F.3d 263, 270 (4th Cir. 2010); see Philip Shenon, 9/11
Defendant in Guilty Plea, N.Y. Times, July 19, 2002, at A1; see also Donahue, supra note 636, at
26; Pohlman, supra note 220, at 194.

674. Moussaoui, 591 F.3d at 270; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 26; Shenon, supra note 673.

675. E.D. Va. Docket Sheet, supra note 658; Moussaoui, 591 F.3d at 270-71; see Donahue,
supra note 636, at 27; Pohlman, supra note 220, at 194; Philip Shenon, Terror Suspect Changes
Mind on Guilty Plea, N.Y. Times, July 26, 2001, at A1l.

676. Bin al-Shibh Deposition Opinion, supra note 639, at 16-17 (“The defense has made a
significant showing that [redacted] would be able to provide material, favorable testimony on the
defendant’s behalf—both as to guilt and potential punishment.”); Bin al-Shibh Deposition Order,
Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Jan. 31, 2003); Moussaoui, 382 F.3d at 458; United States
v. Moussaoui, 333 F.3d 509, 513 (4th Cir. 2003); E.D. Va. Docket Sheet, supra note 658; see Do-
nahue, supra note 636, at 28-29; Pohlman, supra note 220, at 194, 196; Susan Schmidt & Dana
Priest, Judge Orders Access to Detainee for Moussaoui 's Lawyers, Wash. Post, Feb. 1, 2003, at
A9; Philip Shenon, Moussaoui Case May Have to Shift from U.S. Court to Tribunal, Administra-
tion Says, N.Y. Times, Feb. 7, 2003 (reporting that the government feared “that if Mr. Bin al-
Shibh is questioned by Mr. Moussaoui’s lawyers, he might divulge information about Al Qaeda
that the government wants to keep secret.”).

677. Order Vacating Trial Date, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Feb. 12, 2003), availa-
ble at 2003 WL 402249; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 29; Jerry Markon, Moussaoui Trial
Postponed for Third Time, Wash. Post, Feb. 13, 2002, at A8; Philip Shenon, Judge Grants the
Government a Delay of Moussaoui ’s Trial, N.Y. Times, Feb. 13, 2003, at A21.

678. United States v. Moussaoui, No. 03-4162, 2003 WL 1889018 (4th Cir. Apr. 14, 2003);
Moussaoui, 382 F.3d at 458; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 29; Jerry Markon, Court Seeks Deal
on Terror Witness Access, Wash. Post, Apr. 16, 2003, at A12; Pohiman, supra note 220, at 194;
Philip Shenon, Prosecution Says Qaeda Member Was to Pilot 5th Sept. 11 Jet, N.Y. Times, Apr.
16, 2003, at B10.

679. Bin a-Shibh Substitution Opinion at 6, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. May 15,
2003), available at 2003 WL 21277161; Moussaoui, 382 F.3d at 458-59; see Donahue, supra note
636, at 29; Jerry Markon, Judge Rejects Bid to Block Access to Sept. 11 Planner, Wash. Post, May
16, 2003, at A3; Philip Shenon, Ruling Leaves Legal Standoff in 9/11 Case, N.Y. Times, May 16,
2003, at A17.

680. Moussaoui, 333 F.3d at 513; Moussaoui, 382 F.3d at 459; see Philip Shenon, Justice
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have appellate jurisdiction over Judge Brinkema’s order, and the merits of the
government’s objection were not so clear as to warrant mandamus.®

On August 29, Judge Brinkema ordered the government to provide Moussaouli
deposition access to Khalid Sheikh Mohammed (KSM)—regarded as the master-
mind of the September 11 attacks—and Mustafa Ahmed a-Hawsawi—regarded
as the paymaster for the September 11 attacks—as well.®* KSM and al-Hawsawi
had been captured in Pakistan on February 27.°% The government refused to
comply with the deposition orders, so Judge Brinkema ruled that the government
could not argue that Moussaoui had anything to do with the September 11 attacks,
and Judge Brinkema ruled that the government could not seek a sentence of
death.®®

The same panel that dismissed the appeal of Judge Brinkema’s deposition or-
der determined that this sanction order was appealable.®®> Although the court of
appeals agreed that the government’s proposed substitutions for detainee deposi-
tions were inadequate, in an opinion by Judge Wilkins, the court ordered Judge
Brinkemato attempt to craft adequate substitutions.®®® Judge Gregory dissented in

681. Moussaoui, 333 F.3d at 512, 514, 517; Moussaoui, 382 F.3d at 459; see Donahue, supra
note 636, at 29; Neil A. Lewis, Bush Officials Lose Round in Prosecuting Terror Suspect, N.Y.
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Wash. Post, June 27, 2003, at A1; Pohiman, supra note 220, at 198.

Over the dissent of five judges, the court decided not to rehear the appeal en banc. United
States v. Moussaoui, 336 F.3d 279 (4th Cir. 2003); see Jerry Markon, Moussaoui Prosecutors De-
fy Judge, Wash. Post, July 15, 2003, at A1; Philip Shenon, U.S. Will Defy Court’s Order in Terror
Case, N.Y. Times, July 15, 2003, at A1.

682. Mohammed and al-Hawsawi Deposition Opinion, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va.
Aug. 29, 2003), available at 2003 WL 22258213; Moussaoui, 382 F.3d at 459; see Donahue, su-
pra note 636, at 29; Eric Lichtblau, New Ruling Favors Suspect in Terror Case, N.Y. Times, Aug.
31, 2003, at 123; Jerry Markon, Moussaoui Granted Access to Witnesses, Wash. Post, Aug. 30,
2003, at A12; Susan Schmidt, 2nd Key Al Qaeda Suspect Identified, Wash. Post, Mar. 5, 2003, at
Al

Ramzi Yousef, a principal in the first World Trade Center bombing, is KSM’s nephew. The
9/11 Commission Report 73, 145 (2004). “According to KSM, he started to think about attacking
the United States after Y ousef returned to Pakistan following the 1993 World Trade Center bomb-
ing.” Id. at 153; see Soufan, supra note 64, at 54 (“KSM had been yearning to get more actively
involved in jihad ever since his nephew had earned notoriety for the World Trade Center bomb-
ing”).
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Up Moussaoui Terror Case, Wash. Post, Oct. 3, 2003, at Al; Pohiman, supra note 220, at 191,
198; Philip Shenon, Judge Rules Out a Death Penalty for 9/11 Suspect, N.Y. Times, Oct. 3, 2003,
at Al

685. Moussaoui, 382 F.3d at 462-63.

686. Id. at 456-57, 479-82; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 122; Hafetz, supra note 502, at
227; Jerry Markon, Court Clears Way for Moussaoui Trial, Wash. Post, Sept. 14, 2004, at A5;
Pohlman, supra note 220, at 191, 224-32.

On March 21, 2005, the Supreme Court denied Moussaoui’s petition for a writ of certiorari.
Moussaoui v. United States, 544 U.S. 931 (2005); see Donahue, supra note 636, at 31; Linda
Greenhouse, After 5 Months’ Absence, Rehnquist Is Back in Court, N.Y. Times, Mar. 22, 2005;
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part on the ground that substitutions for witness depositions would not be suffi-
cient to justify a death sentence.®®’

As part of the government’s interrogation of the three detainees, it had pre-
pared classified detainee reports for military and intelligence use.*® The govern-
ment prepared classified summaries of these detainee reports for the use of
cleared counsel in Moussaoui’s prosecution.®® The court of appeals did not share
Judge Brinkema’s skepticism about the reliability of the detainee reports: the in-
terrogators “have a profound interest in obtaining accurate information from the
witnesses and in reporting that information accurately to those who can use it to
prevent acts of terrorism and to capture other al Qaeda operatives.”*® Noting that
Judge Brinkema judged the summaries accurate reflections of the reports, the
court of appeals ruled that the summaries “provide an adequate basis for the crea-
tion of written statements that may be submitted to the jury in lieu of the wit-
nesses’ deposition testimony.”**

Meanwhile, on November 14, 2003, Judge Brinkema decided that because of
his frequent inappropriate filings Moussaoui could no longer proceed pro se.?®
Seventeen months later, on April 22, 2005, one month after the Supreme Court
denied his petition for awrit of certiorari, Moussaoui pleaded guilty to a conspira-
cy to kill Americans, but denied involvement in the September 11 attacks.**

Judge Brinkema bifurcated Moussaoui’s penalty trial into a first phase on
whether he was €eligible for the death penaty and a possible second phase on
whether he merited the death penalty.®® Jury selection began on February 6,

Jerry Markon, High Court Declines to Hear Terror Case, Wash. Post, Mar. 22, 2005, at A3;
Pohlman, supra note 220, at 191.

687. Moussaoui, 382 F.3d at 483-89 (Gregory, concurring in part and dissenting in part); see
Markon, supra note 686; Pohlman, supra note 220, at 226-27.

688. Moussaoui, 382 F.3d at 458 n.5.

689. Id.

690. Id. at 478.

691. Id. at 479.

692. Order Vacating Pro Se Status at 3, United States v. Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va.
Nov. 14, 2003); United States v. Moussaoui, 591 F.3d 263, 271 (4th Cir. 2010); Moussaoui, 382
F.3d at 460 n.6; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 30-31, 36, 40; Jerry Markon, Lawyers Restored
for Moussaoui, Wash. Post, Nov. 15, 2003, at A2; Pohlman, supra note 220, at 194; Philip She-
non, Judge Bars 9/11 Suspect from Being Own Lawyer, N.Y. Times, Nov. 15, 2003, at A8.

693. Plea Statement, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Apr. 22, 2005); Moussaoui, 591
F.3d at 272; United States v. Moussaoui, 483 F.3d 220, 223-24 n.1 (4th Cir. 2007); see Donahue,
supra note 636, at 31; Neil A. Lewis, Moussaoui Tells Court He’s Guilty of a Terror Plot, N.Y.
Times, Apr. 23, 2005, at A1; Jerry Markon, Moussaoui Pleads Guilty in Terror Plot, Wash. Post,
Apr. 23, 2005, at A1; Pohiman, supra note 220, at 192, 246.

“Mr. Moussaoui’s lawyers urged him not to plead guilty, but they could not tell him why.”
Adam Liptak, The Right to Counsel, in the Right Stuations, N.Y. Times, Feb. 26, 2008, at A11.

694. Moussaoui, 591 F.3d at 275; Leonie M. Brinkema, United States v. Moussaoui: Prelimi-
nary Venire Instructions (Feb. 6, 2006); Leonie M. Brinkema, United States v. Moussaoui: Jury
Instructions for Penalty Phase Part Two (Feb. 6, 2006); see Donahue, supra note 636, at 33-34,
65.
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2006.°%* The court sent summonses to more than 1,000 residents within the dis-
trict’s Alexandria division.®® Judge Brinkema used an anonymous jury, and to
facilitate juror selection she used a jury questionnaire, which more than 500 po-
tential jurors filled out.®’

Opening statements began on March 6.°® The government’s core argument
for Moussaoui’s execution was that the tragedies of September 11, 2001, would
not have occurred had Moussaoui not lied to authorities following his arrest in
August 2001.°® Proceedings were not publicly televised, but they were broadcast
to viewing sites in Manhattan, Central Islip, Boston, Philadelphia, Newark, and
Alexandria for family members of September 11 victims.®

Asthe sentencing trial entered its second week, Judge Brinkema |learned that a
lawyer for the Transportation Security Administration was improperly coaching
witnesses who were aviation officials.””* Judge Brinkema ruled that the coached
witnesses could not testify. "

695. E.D. Va. Docket Sheet, supra note 658; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 34, 59; Jerry
Markon & Timothy Dwyer, Moussaoui Repeatedly Ejected at Trial, Wash. Post, Feb. 7, 2006, at
B1.

696. Interview with Hon. Leonie M. Brinkema, Mar. 26, 2008.

697. Trial Conduct Order 1, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Feb. 2, 2006); Leonie M.
Brinkema, United States v. Moussaoui: Jury Questionnaire (Feb. 6, 2006); Interview with Hon.
Leonie M. Brinkema, Mar. 26, 2008; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 59 (“Beginning on Wednes-
day, February 15, the potential jurors were to arrive in smaller groups for individual questioning,
or voir dire, in order to create a pool of 85 potential jurors.”); id. at 61-62; Jerry Markon, Terror-
ism Jury Faces Sew of Questions, Wash. Post, Nov. 29, 2006, at B1.

698. E.D. Va. Docket Shest, supra note 658; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 59, 65; Neil A.
Lewis, Prosecutor Urges Death for Concealing Sept. 11 Plot, N.Y. Times, Mar. 7, 2006, at A14.

699. See Lewis, supra note 698; Jerry Markon & Timothy Dwyer, Moussaoui’s Lies Led to
9/11, Jury Told, Wash. Post, Mar. 7, 2006, at A1.

700. See Tria Conduct Order 2, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Mar. 1, 2006); Dona-
hue, supra note 636, at 65-66; Timothy Dwyer, 9/11 Families to Watch Moussaoui Face Fate,
Wash. Post, Feb. 6, 2006, at A1, Neil A. Lewis, At Satellite Courthouses, 9/11 Relatives Will
Watch Moussaoui ’s Sentencing, N.Y. Times, Mar. 5, 2006, at 118; see also Trial Conduct Order 3,
Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Mar. 3, 2006).

“During the trial, Judge Brinkema remarked that fewer people were watching from the off-site
courtrooms than anticipated.” Donahue, supra note 636, at 174.

701. See Donahue, supra note 636, at 69-70; Stephen Labaton & Matthew L. Wald, Lawyer
Thrust Into Spotlight After Misstep in Terror Case, N.Y. Times, Mar. 15, 2006, at A1; Neil A.
Lewis, Judge Calls Halt to Penalty Phase of Terror Trial, N.Y. Times, Mar. 14, 2006, at A1; Jerry
Markon & Timothy Dwyer, Judge Halts Terror Trial, Wash. Post, Mar. 14, 2006, at A1.

702. Second Aviation Witness Order, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Mar. 17, 2006);
First Aviation Witness Order, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Mar. 14, 2006); see Dona
hue, supra note 636, at 70; Neil A. Lewis, Judge Gives Prosecutors New Chance in Terror Case,
N.Y. Times, Mar. 18, 2006, at A10; Neil A. Lewis, Judge Penalizes Moussaoui Prosecutors by
Barring Major Witnesses, N.Y. Times, Mar. 15, 2006,at A24; Jerry Markon, Moussaoui Prosecu-
tors Get a Break, Wash. Post, Mar. 18, 2006, at Al; Jerry Markon & Timothy Dwyer, Federal
Witnesses Banned in 9/11 Trial, Wash. Post, Mar. 15, 2006, at A1.
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The tria continued and jurors began to deliberate on Wednesday, March
29.% After a weekend break,”* on Monday, April 3, the jurors unanimously
agreed that Moussaoui lied to federal agents knowing that people would die as a
result.”® On Monday, April 24, the jury began to deliberate on Moussaoui’s pe-
nalty,”® returning a verdict of lifein prison on Wednesday, May 3.”%" After inter-
views with two anonymous jurors, The Washington Post reported that Mous-
saoui’s life was spared by asingle juror’s vote.”®

Surprised that the jury spared his life, and more confident as a result in the
possibility for a fair trial in an American court, Moussaoui moved on May 8 to
withdraw his guilty plea.® Judge Brinkema denied his motion.”*® The court of

703. E.D. Va. Docket Sheet, supra note 658; see Neil A. Lewis, Moussaoui Sentencing Case
Goesto the Jury, N.Y. Times, Mar. 30, 2006, at A18.

704. See Jerry Markon, Moussaoui Jurors Leave for Weekend, Wash. Post, Apr. 1, 2006, at
A7.

705. United States v. Moussaoui, 591 F.3d 263, 277 (4th Cir. 2010); Phase 1 Jury Verdict,
Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. Apr. 3, 2006); see Donahue, supra note 636, at 85; Neil A.
Lewis, Jurors Permit Death Penalty for Moussaoui, N.Y. Times, Apr. 4, 2006, at Al; Jerry Mar-
kon & Timothy Dwyer, Moussaoui Found Eligible for Death, Wash. Post, Apr. 4, 2006, at A1.

706. E.D. Va. Docket Sheet, supra note 658; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 99; Neil A. Lew-
is, Jury in Sentencing Trial Begins Deliberating Moussaoui ’s Fate, N.Y. Times, Apr. 25, 2006, at
A18.

707. Phase 2 Jury Verdict, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. May 3, 2006); Moussaoui,
591 F.3d at 277, 302; United States v. Moussaoui, 483 F.3d 220, 223-24 n.1 (4th Cir. 2007); see
Donahue, supra note 636, at 2, 100; Neil A. Lewis, Moussaoui Given Life Term by Jury Over Link
to 9/11, N.Y. Times, May 4, 2006, at Al; Jerry Markon & Timothy Dwyer, Jurors Reject Death
Penalty for Moussaoui, Wash. Post, May 4, 2006, at Al.

On May 12, 2006, [Moussaoui] was flown by the US Marshals Service on a small jet operat-
ed by the Justice Prisoner and Alien Transportation System, more commonly known as “Con
Air,” to the Administrative Maximum security facility, or “Supermax” prison in Florence,
Colorado. He now spends 23 hours a day alone in a cell, with another hour alone in exercise
space.

Donahue, supra note 636, at 3.

708. Timothy Twyer, One Juror Between Terrorist and Death, Wash. Post, May 12, 2006, at
A1; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 2-3, 102-03.

709. Motion to Withdraw Plea, Moussaoui, No. 1:01-cr-455 (E.D. Va. May 8, 2006); Mous-
saoui, 591 F.3d at 278; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 102, 167; Neil A. Lewis, Moussaoui 's
Move to Recant Guilty Plea Is Denied, N.Y. Times, May 9, 2006, at A18; Jerry Markon, Mous-
saoui Failsin Bid to Withdraw 9/11 Guilty Plea, Wash. Post, May 9, 2006, at A16.

According to Moussaoui’s affidavit,

16. | was extremely surprised when the jury did not return a verdict of death because |
knew that it was the intention of the American justice system to put me to death.

17. 1 had thought that | would be sentenced to death based on the emotions and anger to-
ward me for the deaths on September 11 but after reviewing the jury verdict and reading how
the jurors set aside their emotions and disgust for me and focused on the law and the evidence
that was presented during the trial, | came to understand that the jury process was more com-
plex than | assumed.

18. Because | now seethat it is possible that | can receive afair trial even with Americans
as jurors and that | can have the opportunity to prove that | did not have any knowledge of
and was not a member of the plot to hijack planes and crash them into buildings on Septem-
ber 11, 2001, | wish to withdraw my guilty plea and ask the Court for anew tria to prove my
innocence of the September 11 plot.
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appedls affirmed: “the finality of the guilty plea, entered knowingly, intelligently,
and with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely conse-
quences, stands.”"**

Challenge: Attorney Appointment

Judge Brinkema initially appointed the Federal Public Defender and a private at-
torney to represent him.”? “The relationship between Moussaoui and his ap-
pointed attorneys was strained at best, and Moussaoui almost immediately began
demanding to proceed pro se, but with the assistance of Muslim counsel.”"
Moussaoui identified a Muslim attorney in Texas whom he wanted to consult
with, but this attorney never made an appearance, never sought admission to the
court’s bar, and never consented to the screening required for the security clear-
ance that would be needed to represent Moussaoui in court.”*

Moussaoui’s relations with private appointed counsel were more problematic
than his relations with the Federal Defender’s office, so Judge Brinkema ap-
pointed another private attorney.”™ “Although Moussaoui initially refused to
communicate with any of his appointed counsel, he later testified that he began
communicating with [the second private attorney] because [he] was polite to
[Moussaoui].”"*°

Challenge: Court Security

Security was enhanced at Moussaoui’s arraignment.”*’ Moussaoui arrived before

6:00 am., while it was still dark.”*® Deputy marshals surrounded the courthouse,

Moussaoui Affidavit at 3, Motion to Withdraw Plea, supra; see Donahue, supra note 636, at 167.

710. Order Denyin